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Dear Stockholder

Were pleased to present this report of our results of operations for 2010 our first lull year in business

Our senior management team is focused on building strong and resilient portfolio as we move through

the formative stage
in the life of our Company Our vision for Inland Diversified includes creating the

proper balance in all aspects of the portfolio We have placed and will continue to place high degree of

emphasis on retail assets as we believe they are generally priced ithin our ins estment parameters and

positioied to provide relatively stable returns for the foreseeable future We scour the marketplace for

oppoi ttuiities in all asset classes and pursue any asset that meets our acquisition criteria and complements

our existing portfolio

As of December 31 2010 our property portfolio included the follow ing profile

25 retail properties totaling 2224398 square feet

office properties totaling 208030 square feet

multifamily asset totaling 300 apartment units

Property in 13 states nationwide

Average economic occupancy of 9700

Total assets purchased in the amount of approximately 5314.3 million

Our idea of balance means we take into account number of tangible and intangible qualities of each

property we consider for acquisition In addition to quantitative measures we consider such things as

property location isibility age remaining length of leases quality of tenants appropriate tenant mix

strength and longterm gross th prospects for the market We seek to dis ersify tenant concentrations to

enhance the financial strength of the Company That means we want to acquire properties
with uinaneialls

secure tenants hut we also want broad mix of tenants to help ithstand dow uturn in any one industry

segment Geographic this ersity is also important to us

We base established certain flexible goals for the portfolio concerning the mix of properties we would

like to own We belies that changing demographics pros ide insight into the needs of our society and the

resultant trends in real estate As our society ages demand for products and sen ices that eater to older

Americans will increase demand for the type of real estate that can service those needs We will pursue

properties that we belies fit these criteria In addition with the recent financial probleiiis related to

home oss nership apat tinent occupancy rates are the highest they have been in many ears Certain single

tenant properties ss ith high net worth users are also cry attractive and desers our attention As buyers

ss must balance our desire to own these types of assets 55 ith the ability to buy them at prices we deem

accept able
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All of us believe that the process use to decide which properties to buy is what ultimately cieates

successilil fund Our acquisitions team receies numerous submissions br consideration on regular

basis and makes offers to purchase those propeit ies that fit our acquisition criteria If the acquisition team

is successful in reaching an agreement with seller our due diligence team lakes over from there

rigorous process of review testing and inspection results in what we call an issues memo \% hich

provides an executive level summary of the major facts concerning each property This memo is

distributed to the acquisitions group and senior members ofour property and RIIT level management

team The merits of each property are thoroughly discussed by this group until consensus regarding

property is reached If at the end of this process anyone on the senior management leel is not

comfortable with the acquisition we do not proceed ith it The process is thorough allows all

disciplines to participate and incorporates the tangible and intangible qualities of each property Finally

our board of directors must approve each asset select fur their consideration

Sonic companies in our business prefer not to acquire PloPeities indi\ idually hut on portfolio basis Vv

may occasionally acquire portfolio but in most cases we grind it out on property by-property basis

Our philosophy has been that by thoroughly focusing on the merits of each property we can painstakingly

build portfblio in which the value of the whole is greater than the sum of the parts By this we mean that

value is created by engaging in the hard work of assembling large gronp of desirable properties While

our goal is to produce steady return and pay sustainable dividend value creation is an impoitant part

of our business plan

One of our goals in operating this Company is to he as transparent as possible lopefully by providing

insight into our acquisition process we have taken an additional step in that direction Going forward we

\vill use opportunities such as this letter to communicate with you regarding other aspects of Inland

Diversified We look forward to ibrant year in 2011 and welcome your comments and suggestions on

any aspect of Inland Diversified

Sincerely

INLAND DIVERSIFIED REAL LSTAIL RUS INC

61

Robert Parks Barry Lazarus

Chairman of the Board President and Chief Operating Officer
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PART

Item Business

General

Inland Di\ ersified Real Estate Trust Inc which we refer to herein as the Company we our or us was incorporated in June

2008 as Maryland corporation We were formed to acquire and develop diversified portfolio of commercial real estate located in

the United States and Canada We also may invest in other real estate as0ets such as interests in real estate investment trusts or

REITs or other real estate operating companies that own these assets joint ventures aod commercial mortgage debt Our sponsor

Inland Real Estate Investment Corporation referred to herein as our Sponsor or IREIC is subsidiary of The Inland Group Inc

Various affiliates of our Sponsor are in\ol\ed in our business We are externally managed and advised by Inland Diversified Business

Manager Ad\ isor Inc referred to herein as our Business Manager wholly owned subsidiary of our Sponsor Our Business

Manager is responsible for overseeing and managing our day to-day operations Our properties typically are managed by Inland

Diversified Real Estate Services LLC Inland Diversified Asset Services LLC Inland Diversified Leasing Services LLC and Inland

Diversified Development Services LLC referred to collectively herein as our Real Estate Managers which are indirectly controlled

by the four principals of The Inland Group

On August 24 2009 we commenced our initial public offering referred to herein as the Offering We are offering 500000000
shares of our comijion stock at priLe equal to $10.00

per
share on best efforts basis We also are offeiing up to 50000000 shares

of our common stock at price equal to 59.50 per share to stockholders who elect to participate in our distribution reinvestment plan

or DRP The dealer managei of this Offering is Inland Securities Corporation wholly owned subsidiary of our Sponsor As of

December 2010 we had issued total of 26120871 shares hich includes 480715 shares issued through our DRP We had

raised total of approximately 5259.5 million of gross offering proceeds as of December 31 2010 which includes proceeds from the

sale of shares issued through the DRP

At December 2010 the Company owned 25 etail properties tts office properties and one multifamily property totaling

2432428 square feet and 300 units ith \\ eighted average physical occupancy of 93c and an economic occupancy of 97
Economic occupancy excludes square footage associated with an earnout component At the time of acquisition certain properties had

an earnout component meaning we did not pay poition of the purchase price at closing for certain acant spaces although we own
the entire property We are not obligated to pay this contingent purchase price unless certain space which ts as vacant at the time of

acquisition is latci rented within the time limits and parameters set forth in the acquisition agreement

Segment Data

We currently view our real estate portfolio as one business segment in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the

United States U.S GAAP Accordingly we did not report any other segment disclosures in 2010 As we acquire additional

properties in the future we anticipate adding husiness segments and related disclosures when the segments become more significant

Information related to our business segment for the yeai 2010 is set forth in Note 14 to our consolidated financial statements in Item

af this annual report on Form 10K

Tax Status

We ha\e elected to be taxed as REEl for fedeial income tax purposes under Sections 856 thiough 860 of the Internal Revenue Code

1986 as amended the Internal Revenue Code beginning with the tax year ended December 2009 Because we qualify for

axation as REIT we generally will not be subject to federal income tax on taxable income that is distributed to stockholders If we

ail to qualify as REIT in any taxable year tsithout the benefit of certain relief provisions we will be subject to federal including

my applicable alternative minimum tax and state income tax on our taxable income at regular corporate rates



Even if we qualify for ta\ation as RE IT we may he subject to certain state and local taxes on our income property or net worth

respectively and to federal income and excise taxes on our undistributed income

Competition

We are subject to significant competition in seeking real estate investi1ients and tenants We compete with many third parties engaged

in real estate investment activities including other RUTs specialty finance companies savings and loan associations banks mortgage

bankers insurance companies mutual funds institutional investors investment banking firms lenders hedge funds governmental

bodies and other entities Sonic of these competitors including larger REITs have substantially greater financial resources than we do

and generally enjoy significant competitive advantages that result from among other things lower cost of capital and enhanced

operating efficiencies

Employees

We do not have any employees In addition all of our executive officers are officers of IREIC or one or more of its affiliates and are

compensated by those entities in part for their sen ice rendered to us We do not separately compensate our executive officers for

their service as officers nor do se reimburse either our Business Manager or Real Estate Managers for any compensation paid to

individuals who also serve as our executi officers or the executive officers of our Business Manager or its affiliates or our Real

Estate Managers provided that for these purposes the secretaries of our Company and the Business Manager are not considered

executive officers

Conflicts of Interest Policies

Our governing documents require majority of our directors to he independent

We may not engage in certain transactions ith entities sponsored by or affiliated with IREIC unless majority of our board of

directors including majority of our independent directors finds the transaction to be fair and reasonable and on terms no less

favorable to us than those from an unaffiliated party under the same circumstances Our board has adopted policy prohibiting us

from engaging in die following types of transactions with IREIC-affiliated entities

purchasing real estate assets from or selling real estate assets to any IREIC-affiliated entities this excludes

circumstances where we have entered into an agreement for services with an entity affiliated with IREIC such as Inland

Real Estate Acquisitions Inc IREA who from time to time may enter into purchase agreement to acquire property

and then assigns the purchase agreement to us

making loans to or borrow ing money from any IREIC-affiliated entities this excludes expense advancements under

existing agreements and the deposit of monies in any banking institution affiliated with IREIC and

investing in joint ventures with any IREICaffiliated entities

This policy does not impact agreements or relationships bertt een us and IREIC and its affiliates that relate to the day-to-day

management of our business or our Offering

Environmental Matters

As an owner of real estate we are subject to various environmental laws rules and regulations adopted by various governmental

bodies or agencies Compliance with these laws rules and regulations has not had material adverse effect on our business assets or

results of operations financial condition and ability to pay distributions We do not believe that our existing portfolio as of

December 31 2Q10 will require us to incur material expenditures to comply with these laws and regulations
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Executive Officers

The following sets forth certain information with
regard to our executive officers as of December 31 2010

Robert Parks 67 has been our chairman of the board and director since our formation

Barry Lasarus 64 has been our president and chief operating officer since May 2009

Cathleen Hrtanek 34 has been our secretary since our formation

Stesen Ilippel 39 has been our treasuiei and chief accounting officer since November 2009

Roberta Matlin 66 has been our vice president since out foimation

Access to Company Information

We electronically file our Annual Report on Form 10-K Quarterly Reports on Form 0Q Current Reports on Form and all

amendments to those reports with the Securities and Exchange Commission SEC The public may read and copy any of the reports

that are filed with the SEC at the SECs Public Reference Room at 100 Street NE Washington DC 20549 The public may obtain

information on the operation of the Public Reference Room by calling the SEC at 800-SEC0330 The SEC maintains an Internet site

at wwss .sec.gox that contains reports proxy and information statements and other information regarding issuers that tile

electron teal ly

We make available free of charge by responding to requests addressed to our customer relations group the Annual Report on Form

10K Quarterly Reports on Form 0Q Current Reports on Form 8K and all amendments to those reports on our website

xx xvxx .inlanddiversified.com These reports are available as soon as reasonably practicable aftei such material is electronically filed or

furnished to the SFC

Certifications

We have filed with the SEC the certifications required pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 which ate attached

as Exhibits and 31 .2 to this annual report on Form 10

Item IA Risk Factors

The /iictors described he/on represent our pruicipal risks Other fhctors niav exist that ne do not consider to be .s ignificant based on

inforniation that is current/i available or that ste are not current/v able to aaticipate The occurrence of ant qf the risAs discussed

be/on could have niateria/ adverse effect on our business financial condition re.su/ts of operations and a/u/it to pat distributions

to oia stockholders Potential ivestors and our .stoclcholc/ers may be ref erred 10 as iou or our in tills lteni 1.1 Risi Factors

section

Risks Related to Our Business

We have limited operating history and as company in its early stages of operations we have incurred losses in the past and

may con tin ite to incur losses

We have limited operating history We are subject to all of the business risks and uncertainties associated with
any ness business

ncluding the risk that xx will not aehiexe our investment objectives and that the value ofan investors investment could decline

substantially We xx crc formed in June 2008 and as of December 31 2010 had acquired 25 retail pioperties two office properties and

ne multifamily property and generated limifed income cash flow funds from operations or funds from which to make distributions

.o our stockholders In addition as company in its early stages of operations we have incurred losses since our inception and we

nay continue to incur losses As result we cannot assure you that in the future xx xx ill be profitable or that we will reali7e groxxth

the value of our assets
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There is no public inarltetfór our shares and stockholders ma not be able to sell their shares

here is no established public market br our shares and no assurance that one may develop Our charter does not require our directors

to seek stockholder appro alto liquidate our assets by specified date nor does oui charter require our directors to list our shares for

ti ad ug speci fled date We rIo not expect that our shares ill be listed for trading on national securities exchange in the near

hum it e\ er Our board ss ill determine when and if to apply to ha\ our shares of common stock listed hbr trading on national

securities exchange subject to satisfyine existmg listing requirements Our board does not anticipate evaluating listing on national

securities exchange until at least 2t 14 Lii thei our charter limits any peison or group hum ning more than 9.8 in alue oh oui

outstanding stock or moie than 9.8 in alue or in number of shares whichever is more restrictive of our outstanding common stock

hoot ior appros al of our hoard hese iestrictions may inhibit stockholders ability to sell his or her shares

Our share repurchase tv nut be amended suspended or terminated hr our hoard q/ directors

Our boaid of diiectors in its sole discretion may amend suspend in whole 01 in part or terminate our share repurchase program

Further our hoard reserves the right in its sole discretion to change the repurchase prices or reject any requests for repurchases Any
amendments to or suspension or termination of the share repurchase program ma restrict or eliminate stockholders ability to have

us repurchase his or her shares and otherss ise pit\ ent the stockholder from liquidating his or her investment

The amount and timing o/ distributions may iarj

here are many factors that can aflect the as ailability and timing of cash distributions paid to our stockholders such as our ability to

hu and cain positis yields on real estate assets the yields on seeui ities of other entities in which we invest our operating expense

lesels as well as mans other ariables fhe actual amount and timing of distributions is determined by our board of directois in its

discretion based on its anat sis of oui earnings cash flow anticipated cash flow capital expenditure iiis estnients and geneial

unancial condition i\ctnal cash as ai table for distribution may ai substantially from estimates In addition to the extent we ins est in

des elopment oi redevelopment proiects or in properties requiring signihcant capital requirements our ability to make distributions

ma he negatis el impacted especially while ss are raising capital and acquiring properties Until we generate sufficient cash flo\s

Irom operations determined in accordance \vith U.S generally accepted accounting principles U.S GAAP to hilly fund

distributions some or all of our distributions may be paid from other sources including cash flow generated from ins esting activities

including the net proceeds Irom the sale of our assets Distributions redLice the amount of money as ailable to ins est in properties or

other real estate assets

In addition our credit agreement dated Nos ember 2010 with ICe Bank National Association as administrative agent for itsell and

any other lenders which may become parties to the agreement the Credit Facility limits on our ability to pay distributions More

specitical ithout lender consent ss ma not declare and pa distributions if any default under the agreement then exists or if

beginning with our fiscal quarter ending March 2011 distributions excluding any
distributions reinvested through our distribution

reins estment plan DRP br the thencurrent quarter and beginning ith our fiscal quarter ending March 201 br the past

tour fiscal quarters ould exceed 95 of our funds from operations or l-FO for that period For the fiscal quarter ended

December 31 2010 distributions did not exceed 95 ofoui FF0 sen ifwe are able to obtain lender consent to pay such

distributions any distributions that exceed cash flows from operations or FF0 will likely not be sustainable for significant period of

tinie

There Ls no assurance that our Business 3lanager ui/I continue to charge less that it is entitled to charge in an effort to increase

as aiailahle or distribution or that IREIC iill continue to contribute monies to fund future distributions

From time to time our Business Manager has waived business management fees and IREIC has contributed monies to us to fond our

disti ihntions For U.S CJAAP purposes the latter monies have been treated as capital contributions from IRFIC although IRLIC has

not receis ed and will not receis any additional shaies of our common stock for these contributions There is no assoiance that our

Business Manager will continue to svais its fees or that IRLIC will continue to contribute monies to fund future distributions
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We izzay suffirfivnz delays in selecting acquiring
1111 developing suitable properties

Regardless of the amount of capital sse raise or borro\v we may experience delays in deploying our capital into assets or in reali7ing

return on the capital ss invest he more money we raise in our Offering the more difficult it will be to iiis est the net offering

proceeds promptly We could suffer from delays in locating suitable investments as result of competition in the relevant market

regulatory requirements such as those imposed by the SEC which require us to provide audited financial statements and our reliance

on our Business Manager to locate suitable ins estments for us at times when the management of our Business Manager is

simultaneously seeking to locate suitable investments for odier IRFICsponsored programs Further our investments may not yield

immediate returns For example properties acquired before the start of construction or clut ing the early stages of construction typically

ss ill not generate income for some period of time Likewise we may experience delays as result of negotiating or obtaining the

necessary purchase documentation to close an acquisition

We also has invested and may continue to invest proceeds ss receive froni our OflŁring in shortterm highlyliquid ins estments

These shoi tterm investments although liquid generally generate very little current yield These yields has been and may continue to

be less than the distribution yield paid to stockholders urther we may use the principal amount of these investments and any retui ns

generated on these investments to pay expenses or to acquire real estate assets instead ol fending distributions ss ith these amounts

Financial uzarket.s are recovering from period of disruption and recession and ice are unable to predict if and ivlien the economy

will stabilize or improve

Financial markets are recosering from recession which created volatile market conditions resulted in decrease in availability of

business credit and led to the insols ency closure or acquisition of number of financial institutions Although the economy began

stabiliing in 2010 it remains unclear when it ss ill fully recover to prerecessiori levels Our business is affected by market and

economic challenees experienced by the U.S economy or real estate industry as ss hole and by the local economic conditions in the

markets in which our properties are located Continued economic ss eakness in the U.S economy or new recession cotild affect the

value of our ins estment properties the availability or the terms of financing and our ability to refinance any outstanding debt at

maturity Continued challenging economic conditions also could impact the abilits of certain of our tenants to enter into ness leasing

transactions on terms acceptable to us 01 to satisfy rental payments under existing leases All of these factoi s\ ould also impact our

ability to pay distributions to our stockholders

The fizilure of anj hank in which we deposit Ozmrfuuls could reduce the auto umzt of cash we have available to pat distmibemtioizs alid

invest iii real estate assets

We has deposited our cash and cash equivalents in ses eutl banking institutions in an attempt to minimize
exposure to the lailuie or

takeoser of any one of these entities Hosveser the Federal Insurance Deposit Corporation or FDIC generally only insures limited

amounts per depositor per
insured bank At December 31 2010 we had cash and cash equis alents aiid esti icted cash deposited in

interest bearing transaction accounts at certain financial institutions exceeding these federally insured les els If any of the banking

institutions in which we have deposited funds ultimately fitils sve may lose our deposits over the federally insured les els loss of

our deposits could reduce the amount of cash sve have available to distribute or invest
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If we internalize our management functions our stockholders interests in us could be diluted we could incur other significant

costs associated with being self mmanaged and we may have increased exposure to litigation as result of internalizing our

managenment/unctions

At some point in the Rttuie we may consider becoming self-.managed by internalizing the functions performed for us by our

Business Manager and Real Estate Manageis particularly if we seek to list our shares on an exchange as way of providing our

stockholdeis with liquidity event he method by sshich we could internalize these functions could take many forms We may hire

our own group of executives and other employees or we may acquire our Business Manager and Real Estate Managers or their

respective assets including their existing workforce The method or cost of internalizing cannot be determined or estimated at this

time Fuither il we acquired our Business Manager and Real Estate Managers the amount and form of any consideration that we

would pay in this type of ti ansaction could take many forms For example we could acquire the Business Manager and Real state

Managers through meiger in which issued shares uf our common stock for all of the outstanding common stock or assets of these

entities Issuing shares of our common stock would reduce the percentage of our outstanding shares owned by stockholders prior to

any transaction Further issuing promissory uotes could reduce our net income cash flow from operations and our ability to pay

distributions particularly if internalizing these functions does not produce cost savings Any internalization transaction could result iii

significant payments to the os tiers of our Business Manager and Real Estate Managers The three selfadministered RFITs previously

sponsored by IREIC Inland Real Estate Corporation Inland Retail Real Estate rust Inc and Inland Western Retail Real Estate

Trust Inc Inland Westernt paid in the form of issuance of shares approximately $68 million $197 million and $375 million

respectively to acquire their tespective business managers and real estate managers In addition there is no assurance that

intet nalizing our management functions will prove to be beneficial to us and our stockholders For example we may not realize the

perceived benefits or we may not be able to properly integrate new statf of managers and employees or we may not be able to

elfectively replicate the services provided previously by our Business Manager Real Estate Managers or their affiliates In addition

we may not he able to elfcct an internalization plan that enables us to retain all of the persons performing services for our Business

Manager or Real Istate Managers and theit affiliates ot to maintain relationship with IREIC

Internalization transactions have also in some cases been the subject of litigation For example Inland Western and IRFIC were

defendants to lass suit subsequently settled filed in connection ssith Inland Westerns internalization tiansaction and incurred costs

associated with this litigation Thus even it the claims in lass suit are ss ithout merit sse could be forced to spend significant amounts

of money defending these claims hieh would educe 11w amount of thuds availahle for its to invest in real estate assets or to
pay

disti ibutions

If we are unable to retain the persons performing .serticesfbr our Business Manager and Real Estate Mangers and their affiliates

our ability to comiduct our business may be adversely affected

We rely on persons performing services for our Business Manager and Real Estate Managers to manage our day-to-day operations

Sonic of these persons including Mr Parks Mr Lazarus Ms Gujral and Ms Matlin are employed by IREIC or its affiliates and

may pros ide sen ices to one or mote other investment programs sponsored by IREIC and do not have employment agreements with

our Business Manager or Real Estate Managers If any of the other
progranis sponsored by or affiliated ss ith IRFIC hires the persons

currently performing services for our Business Manager and Real Estate Managers and their affiliates including as result of an

internalization transaction by that other program we would likely not allow these persons to perform services for us In addition if

either Mr La7arus or Mr Parks failed to continue to be active in our management prior to any merger between us and the Business

Manager it could among other things tesult in default under our Credit Facility unless suitable replacement is found default

under our Credit Facility could tesult in an acceleration of the maturity date of advances under the Credit Facility
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Stockholders returns may be reduced we are required to register as at investment company under the In vestment Company Act

The company is not registered and does not intend to register itself or any
of its subsidiaries as an investment

conipany
under the

Investment Company Act If we become obligated to register the company or any of its subsidiaries as an in estment company the

registered entity would ha\e to comply with variety of substantive requirements under the Incstment Company Act imposing

among other things

limitations on capital structure

restrictions on specified investments

prohibitions on transactions with affiliates and

compliance with reporting record keeping voting proxy disclosure and other rules and regulations that would

significantly change our operations

The company intends to continue conducting its operations directly and through wholl or majority-owned subsidiaries so that the

company and each of its subsidiaries are exempt from registration as an investment company under the Investment Company Act

Under Section 3a1XA of the Investment Company Act conipany is not deemed to be an investment company if it neither is

nor holds itself out as being engaged primarily nor proposes to engage primarily in the business of investing reinvesting or trading

in securities Under Section 3a of the Investment Company Act company is not deemed be an ins cstment company if it

neither is engaged nor proposes to engage in the business of investing reinvesting owning holding or trading in securities and does

not or propose to acquire investment securities having value exceeding 4000 of the value of its total assets on an

unconsolidated basis which we refer to as the 40 test

As of the date of this report the company and all of its wholly and majority-owned subsidiaries are not considered investment

companies under either Section 3alA or Section 3alC of the Investment Company Act In the eent that the company or any

of its wholly or majority-owned subsidiaries would ever inadvertently fall within one of the definitions of investment company we
intend to rely on the exception provided by Section 3c5C of the Investment Company Act

Under Section 3c5C the SEC staff generally requires the company to maintain at least 55c of its assets directly in qualifying

assets to qualify for this exception Mortgage-backed securities may or may not constitute such qualifying assets depending on the

characteristics of the mortgage-backed securities including the rights that we ha\ sith respect to the underlying loans The

companys ownership of mortgage-backed securities therefore is limited by provisions of the In\estment Company Act and SEC

staff interpretations

The method we use to classify our assets for purposes of the Investment Company Act is based in large measure upon no-action

positions taken by the SEC staff in the past These no action positions were issued in accordance with factual situations that may be

substantially different from the factual situations we may face and number of these no-action positions were issued more than ten

years ago No assurance can be given that the SEC staff will concur with our classification of our assets In addition the SEC staff

may in the future issue further guidance that may require us to re-classify our assets for purposes of qualifying for exemption from

regulation under the Investment Company Act If we are required to re-classify our assets we may no longer be in compliance with

the exemption from the definition of an investment company provided by Section 3c5C of the Investment Company Act

change in the value of
any

of our assets could cause us to fall within the definition of investment company and negatively affect

our ability to maintain our exemption from regulation under the Investment Company Act To avoid being required to register the

company or any of its subsidiaries as an investment company under the Investment Company Act we may be unable to sell assets we

would otherwise want to sell and may need to sell assets we would otherwise wish to retain In addition we may have to acquire

additional income- or loss-generating assets that we might not otherwise have acquired or may have to forgo opportunities to acquire

interests in companies that we would otherwise want to acquire and would be important to our inestnient strategy
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If we were required to register the company as an investment company but failed to do so we would be prohibited from engaging iii

our business and criminal and civil actions could be brought against us In addition our contracts would be unenforceable unless

court required enforcement and court could appoint receiver to take control of us and liquidate our business

We may be sabject to additional risks if we make investments in Canada

We may purchase real estate assets located in Canada and may make or purchase mortgage bridge mezzanine or other loans or

participations in these loans made by horross er located in or secured property located in Canada To the extent that invest in

real estate assets located in Canada in addition to risks inherent in domestic real estate investments we also will he subject to

fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates and the uncertainty of foreign laws and markets including but not limited to

unexpected changes in regulatory requirements difficulties in managing international operations currency exchange controls

potentially adverse tax consequences additional accounting and control expenses and the administrative burden associated with

complying with ide variety of foreign laws Changes in foreign cui rency exchange rates may athersely impact the fair alues and

earnings streams of our international holdings and therefore the returns on our nondollar denominated investments To the extent that

make real property investments in Canada we will be subject to changes in the value of the Canadian Dollar relative to the value

of the U.S Dollar Although we may hedge our foreign currency risk we may not be able to do so successfully and may incur losses

on these investments as result of exchange rate fluctuations In addition if our RE IT status is not recogni7ed in Canada any income

or gains from Canadian bourees may bc subject to forcign taxation withholding taxes transfcr taxc and xalue added taxcs

Risks Related to Investments in Real Estate

There are inherent risks with real estate investments

Investments in real estate assets are subject to varying degrees of risk For example an in estment in real estate cannot generally be

quickly converted to cash limiting our ability to promptly ary our portfolio in response to changing economic tinaneial and

investment conditions Investments in cal estate assets also are subject to adverse changes in general economic conditions hich for

example reduce the demand for rental space

Among the factors that could impact our real estate assets and the value of an investment in us are

local conditions such as an oversupply of space or reduced demand for i-cal estate assets of the
type that sse seek to acquire

including with respect to any lodging properties may acquire qiiek changes in supply of and demand for rooms that

are rented or leased on day-to-day basis

inability to collect rent from tenants

vacancies or inability to rent space on favorable terms

inflation and other increases in operating costs including insurance premiums utilities and real estate taxes

increases in
energy costs or airline fares or terrorist incidents which impact the propensity of people to travel and therefore

impact revenues from any lodging properties we may acquire especially because operating costs cannot be adjusted as

quickly

adverse changes in the federal state or local laws and regulations applicable to us including those affecting rents zoning

prices of goods fuel and energy consumption water and environmental restrictions

the relative illiquidity of real estate investments

changing market demographics
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an inability to acquire and finance properties on favorable terms if at all

acts of God such as earthquakes floods or other uninsured losses and

changes or increases in interest rates and availability of financing

addition periods of economic slowdown or recession or declining demand for real estate or the public perception that any of these

events may occur could result in general decline in rents or increased defaults under existing leases

We depend on tenants for the majority of our revenue from real property investments and lease terminations or the exercise of any

0-tenancy rights could have an adverse effect

Jefaults on lease payment obligations by our tenants would cause us to lose the revenue associated with the relevant lease If these

lefaults become significant we will be forced to use other funds to make payments on the mortgage indebtedness secured by the

mpacted property to prevent foreclosure action If tenant defaults we may experience delays in enforcing our rights as landlord

md may incur substantial costs in protecting our investment In addition if tenant at one of our singleuser facilities properties

lesigned or built primarily for particular tenant or specific type of use fails to renew its lease or defaults on its lease obligations

may not be able to readily market single-user facility to nem tenant if at all without niaking substantial capital improvements

incurring other significant re-leasing costs

urther with respect to our retail properties we may enter into leases containing co-tenancy provisions Co-tenancy provisions may
Wow tenant to exercise certain rights if among other things another tenant fails to open for business delays its opening or ceases to

perate or if percentage of the propertys gross leasable space or particular portion of the property is not leased or subsequently

wcomes vacant tenant exercising co-tenancy rights may be able to abate minimum rent reduce its share or the amount of its

ayments of common area operating expenses and property taxes or cancel its lease

ontinued vacancy rates for certain classes of real estate assets resulting front the recent economic downturn and disruption in the

inancial markets could adversely affect the value of assets we acquire

The IS econnmy is emerging from severe recessinnaiy contraction which resulted in increased
acancy rates for certain classes of

ommercial
property including office retail and industrial properties due to increased tenant delinquencies and defaults under leases

enera1ly lower deniand for rentable space as well as potential oversupply of rentable space Business failures and downsizings have

ed to reduced demand for office and industrial space and reduced consumer demand for retail products and services which has led to

educed demand for retail space In addition declines in corporate travel budgets and consumer demand due to adverse general

conomic conditions such as declines in U.S GDP risks affecting or reducing travel patterns lower consumer confidence or adverse

iolitical conditions lowered the revenues and profitability of hotel properties and therefore the net operating profits of the lessees

economic conditions do not fully recover to pre-recession levels or result in further downturn we may be required to increase

oncessions tenant improvement expenditures or reduce rental rates to maintain occupancies beyond those anticipated at the time we

.cquired the properties and the value of our real estate assets could decrease below the amounts we paid for them In addition

evenues from properties could decrease due to lower occupancy rates reduced rental rates and potential increases in uncollectible

ent Additionally we will incur expenses such as for maintenance costs insurances costs and property taxes even though property

vacant The longer the period of significant vacancies for property the greater the potential negative impact on our revenues and

esults of operations
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We may suffer adverse consequences due to the financial difficulties bankruptcy or insolvency ofour tenants

Recent economic conditions may cause our tenants to experience financial difficulties including bankruptcy insolvency or general

doss nturn in theii business The ietail sector in paiticular has been and could continue to be adversely affected by weakness in the

national regional and local economies the level of consumer spending and consunier confidence the adverse financial condition of

some large retailing companies the ongoing consolidation in the retail sector the excess amount of retail space in number of

markets and increasing competition from discount retailers outlet malls internet retailers and other online businesses We cannot

provide assurance that any tenant that files for bankruptcy protection will continue to pay us rent bankruptcy filing by or relating

to one of our tenants or lease guarantor would bar efforts by us to collect pre-bankruptcy debts from that tenant or lease guarantor

or its property unless we receive an order permitting us to do so from the bankruptcy court In addition we cannot evict tenant

solely because of bankruptcy The bankruptcy of tenant or lease guarantor could delay our efforts to collect past due balances under

the relevant leases and could ultimately preclude collection of these sums If lease is assumed by the tenant in bankruptcy all pre

bankruptcy balances due under the lease must be paid to us in full If however lease is rejected by tenant in bankruptcy we would

have only general unsecured claim for damages An unsecured claim would only be paid to the extent that funds are available and

only in the same percentage as is paid to all other holders of general unsecured claims Restrictions under the bankruptcy laws further

limit the amount of any other claims that we can make if lease is rejected As result it is likely that we would recover substantially

less than the full value of the remaining rent during the term

ction.s of our joint venture partners could negative/i impact our pemformance

As of December 2010 we had entered into one joint venture with third party and may enter into additional joint ventures in the

future We are not and generally do not expect to be in position to exercise sole decision-making authority regarding the property

partnership joint venture or other entity in such joint venture investments Consequently our joint venture investments may involve

risks not otherwise present ss ith other methods of investment in real estate For example our co-member co-venturer or partner may
have economic or business interests or goals which are or which become inconsistent with our business interests or goals and we and

our venture partner may not agree on all proposed actions to certain aspects of the venture We also face the risk that our venture

partners may become bankrupt which ssould mean that we and any other remaining venture partners mas remain liable for the joint

ventures liabilities and the risk that that our partners may thil to fund their share of any required capital contributions which could

result in us having to contribute that capital In addition relationships with venture partners are contractual in nature These

agreements may restrict our ability to sell our interest hen we desire or on advantageous terms and on the other hand may be

terminated or dissolsed under the temis of the agreements and in each eent we may not continue to own or operate the interests or

assets underlying the relationship or may need to purchase these interests or assets at an above-market price to continue ownership

Recent economic trends may increase the likelihood of coin inercial developer defaulting on its obligations with respect to

development project or becoming bankrupt or insolvent

We may enter into projects that are in arious stages of pre-development and development Recent economic trends have increased th

risk that development projects will fail The developers of the projects in svhich we may invest may be exposed to risks not only with

respect to our projects but also other projects in which they may be in\olved Default by developer in respect of one of our

development project investments or the bankruptcy insolvency or other failure of developer of one of these projects may require

to assume the senior loan fund beyond what we are contractually obligated to fund take over development of the project find anothe

developer for the project or sell our interest in the project Attempts to limit our capital obligations may be unsuccessful Developer

failures could delay efforts to complete or sell the development project and could ultimately preclude us from realizing return on oui

investment These events could cause decrease in the value of our development assets and compel us to seek additional sources of

liquidity which may or ma not be available in order to hold and complete the development project We cannot provide assurance

that we would be able to complete the development on terms as favorable as when sve first entered into the project



Two of our tenants generated segizificant portion of our revenue and rental payment defaults by these signi/icant tenants could

IdverseIj afjŁct our results of operations

As of December 31 2010 approximately 1300 and of our consolidated annualized base rental revenue was generated by Kohls

Department Stoics Inc Kohls and Publix Super Markets Inc Publix respectisely As result of the concentration of revenue

eneiated Ii oni Kohls and Publix if either of these tenants was to cease paying rent or fulfilling its other monetary obligations we

could has significantly reduced rental tevenues or higher expenses until the defaults were cured or the properties that it leases were

eased to new tcnant 01 tcnanits In addition tltcie is no assniattec that the piopeities could be released on sinnlat or better tetins

Geographic concentration ofour portfolio may make us partiealarlj susceptible to adverse economic developments in the real

ss tate markets of those areas

As of December 31 201 approxiniately 450 and 12 of our consolidated annualized base rental revenue of our consolidated

Oi folio was genetated by pi operties located in the States of Florida and Louisiana respectively Accordingly our rental revenues

mcI pioperty opetating tesults aie likely to he impacted by economic changes affecting these states This geographic concentration

ilso
exposes us to risks of ovet supply and competition in these real estate markets

tUe ina be esti icted/ivm releasing space at our etail properties

ii the case of leases with tetail tenants the majority of the leases contain provisions giving the particular tenant the exclusive right to

sell particular types of merchandise or provide specific types of seivices within the particular retail center These provisions may limit

he number and types of pi ospeetive tenants intet ested in leasing space in particular etail property

cquiring or attempting to acquire multiple propertie.s in single transactwn may adversely affect our operations

rom time to tinie we acquire multiple properties in single transaction Portfolio acquisitions typically are more complex and

xpensive than single pioperty acquisitions and the risk that multiplept operty acquisition does not close may be greater than in

inglepiopetty acqtnsition Portfolio acquisitions may also result in us owning investments in geographically dispersed niarkets

lacing additional demands on our Business Manager and Real Estate Managers in managing the properties in the portfolio In

iddition seller may tequite that
gioup of properties be pntchased as package even though we may not want to purchase one or

nore properties in the pot tfolio In these situations if we are unable to identify another person or entity to acquire the unwanted

noperties sse may be tequired to operate or attempt to dispose of these properties We also may be required to accumulate large

mount of cash to fund such acquisitions We would expect the returns that we earn on such cash to be less than the returns on real

tt opet ty hereibre acquit ing multiple ptoperties in single transaction may reduce the overall yield on our portfolio

we acquire lodging or healthcarerelated properties we will depend on thirdparties to manage those facilities

order to maintain our RD qualification we will not be able to operate any lodging or healthcare-related properties thatwe acquire

pat ticipate in the decisions affecting the daily operations of these properties We will lease any lodging and healthcare-related

nopet ties we acquire to taxable REIT subsidiary or TRS in which we may own up to 10000 interest Our TRS will enter into

nanagement agreements with eligible independent contractors that are not our subsidiaries or otherwise controlled by us to manage

hese pt opet ties hus independent operators under management agreements with our KS will control the daily operations of our

dgi ng and healthcare related properties
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We will depend on these independent management companies to operate our lodgiiìg and healthcarerelated properties We will not

ha\ the authority to reqnii these properties to he operated in particular manner or to govern aiiy particular aspect of the daily

operations such as establishing room iates at our lodging properties Thus even ifss believe our lodging or healthcarerelated

proper ties are being operated inefficiently or in nianner that does not result in satisfactory results we ma not be able to for cc the

management company to change its method of opem ation of these properties We can only seek redress if management company

rolates the ternis of the applicable management agreement with the TRS and then only to the extent of the remedies provided for

under the tenmms of the nmanageinent agi cement In the event that ss need to replace any management company ss may be equim ccl by

the terms of tIme nanagenient agreement to pay substantial termination fees and may experience signi meant disruptions at the affected

POP1 ties

Franchise agreements Fray limit orrrfle.vilnliti

Any lodging piopei ties that we acquim will be operated pursuant to franchise oi license agreements with nationally recogniLed hotel

brands fhese Ii anchise agreements rnas contain specific standards for and estrictions and linmitations on the operation and

maintenance of our
pi opei ties We do not knoss 55 lmether those limitations may conflict ss ith ocmr ability to create specific busmess

plans tailom ccl to each pope ty and to each niarket

he standards nma change over time in sonic cases at the direction of the franchisor and may restrict our RSs ability as franchisee

to make impr ovenrents or modifications to propei ty without the consent of the franchisor In addition compliance with the standards

cocrld require us or our IRS as flanchisee to incur significant expenses or capital expenditcires Action or inaction on our part or by

our lRS cocrlcl escmlt in breach ofthose standards or other terms and conditions of the franchise agreements and cocmlcl rescrlt iii the

loss or cancellation of lianclnse license

In connection with tem minating or changing the franchise afliliation of lodging proper ty ss may be equired to incur significant

expenses oi capital expenditui es Moreover the loss of franchise license could have material adverse effect upon the operations or

the nuclei lyine alue of the property covered by the franchise because of the loss of associated name ecognition mai keting support

and centi al iecl esei vation systems lii
ov iclecl by the franchisor

The lodging industry is seasonal

he lodging iirclustiy is seasonal ni nature Generally occupancy ates and hotel ics enues ai greater in the second and thir cI qciai ters

than in the fir st and fourth quai ters As iesult of the seasonality of the lodging industry there will likely be qciai terls lluctuatrons in

results of opem ations ol airy lodging pm opei ties that we rmiay oss Qcrai terly financial rescmlts may be adversely affected factors

outside our conti ol

lire lodging narAet is lrighli competitive and generally subject to greater volatility than other inaiket .segrrrents in which ne may
in vest

lie loclgmg business is highly competitis and influenced by factoi such as location room ates and quality sci vice les els

epcrtation and csei vatiomm systems amuommg many other fimetors lmei are many cunnpetitoi in tIns mai kct and these conipetitors amy
have substantially gr

catci immai kctimmg aimcl financial esoui ces than those available to us his conipetition aloirg with othei fhctors

scrch as os ci hui Id inc in the lodging inclcmsti and cci taimm cleteri cuts to travel inc umay mci ease tIme number uf rooms available and may
deem ease tIme as en age occupancy and 00111 rates ot our locluimig pm open ties The clennancl fUr rooms at

any loclgnag pm oper
ties that we

may aedluim ss ill clnanrgc mmmcli more rapidly than the dcmarmd Ibm spmc at cntlncr
pi opcm tics that we

acdlcnir
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The healthcore industry is lzeuvilj rcgulated and existing and new laws or regulations changes to existing Fujis or regulations loss

of licensure or allure to ohtaiu licensure could result in the inability o/tenants at our healthcarerelated/àcilities to maLe lease

pajuiueuits to us

We intend to invest iii medical office bnildings and healthearereiated facilities he healthcare industry is highly egulated by federal

state and local lass and is dii cctly affected federal conditions of participation state licensing tequirenients facility inspections

state and federal cinibin scniciit policies regulations concci ning capital and other expenditures certification requirements and other

laws cgulations and ucs In addition hcalthcarc flicilitieb arc subject to regulatory approvals not required foi othci types of cal

estate Sanctions for failure to comply svitii these regulations and laws include but are not limited to loss of ot inabilif to obtain

licensuic lines and loss of or inability to obtam certification to participate in the Medicare and Medicaid programs as ss eli as

potential en ni inal penalties he failure of any tenant to comply with these laws requirenicnts and regulations could feet its ahilify

to establish or continue its opeiation of the fhcility or facilities and could adversely affect the tenants ability to make lease paynients

to us hi addition icstrictions and delays in ti ansferring the operations of healthcare facilities in obtaining new thirdpai ty payor

contracts including Medicare and Medicaid pros ider agreements and in receiving heensure and certification approval froni

diopriafe state and federal agencies by ness tenants may affect our ability to terminate lease agreements reniove tenants that violate

case tei ins and icplace existing tenants with ness tenants at these facilities Furthermore these matters may affect new tenants ability

to obtain ieinibui scmcnt Im services iendeicd which could adversely affect their ability to pay rent to us and to pay prii1ciai and

interest on their loans from us

Reduction.s in reintburseuzentfiom thirdpart papors including Viedicare and Medicaid could adverselj aj/Łct the profitability of

fenants at any health carerelated/àcilities that ne ma acquire and hinder their ability to make rent payments to us

Somces of revenue for tenants and opeiafois at any healthcarerelated fIicihties that we may acquii may include the federal Medicare

ograin state Medicaid
pi ow anis pi

ivate insurance carriers and health maintenance organizations among of hers Efforts by these

ayors to reduce healthcaie costs svill likely continue svhich may result in reductions or slosver growth in reimbursement fm certain

services piovided bs some ofthese tenants in addition the fiulure of any ofour tenants to comply with arious laws and regulations

could jcopaidize their ability to continue pai ticipating in Medicare Medicaid and other government sponsored payment programs

fhc healthcai industry continues to face various challenges including increased government aiid private payor pressure on healthcare

iov iders to contiol or ieduce costs We belies that tenants at healthcaic ielatcd facilities will continue to experience shift in payor

nix assay
fi Om feeforsm vice payors resulting in an increase in the peicentage of revenues atfributable to managed care payors

os ernnient payors and general industi ti ends that include piessuics to control healtheare costs Pressures to control hcalthcare costs

mc shift assay from traditional health insurance reimbursement have resulted in an increase in the number of patients \Vliose

iealthcare coverage is provided undei managed care plans such as health maintenance organizations and prefbrred provider

ii ganizations In addition due to the aging of the population and the expansion of governmental payor programs sse anticipate that

hci ss ill be mai ked mci ease in the number of patients ci iant on healthcare coverage pi ovided by governmental payos hcse

changes could has matci ial adverse effect on the financial conchtion of tenants at our healthcarereiateci facilities

ienauts q/aiuy medical 01/ice buildings and healthcarerelatedfàcilities that we nitty tic quire may be subject to significant legal

sction that could subject them to increased operating costs and substantial uninsured lit bilities which may affect their ability to

iay tlmeim rent paynzemmts to its

ertain
ts pes of tenants of medical office buildings and healthcarerelateci facilities may nften become subject to claims that their

ers ices has icsulted in patient injui or other adverse ef fects The insurance coverage maintained by these fenants may neither cover

ill claims made against them nor continue to be available at reasonable cost if at all in some states insurance coverage for the risk

if
piiiiitis damages arising fiom professional liability and general liability claims iir litigation may not in certain cases be available

Inc to state lasv
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Tenants in these states may be liable br punitive damage awards that at either not coveted or that exceed their insurance policy

limits We also believe that there has been and will continue to be an increase iii governmental investigations of certain healthcare

providers particularly in the area of Medicate Medicaid false claims as vs eli as an nicr ease in enforcement actions esulting from

these investigations Instu ance is not typically available to cover these losses Any adverse determination in legal proceeding or

governmental investrgation vs hetlrer cut rently asserted or arising in the futur could have material adverse effect ott tenants

financial condition lfa tenant is unable to obtaii or maintain inswance coverage iljudgments exceed tlieit insurance coverage if

tenant is requited to pay uninsured punitive damages or if tenant is subject to air uninsmable govetnurent etibot cenient actioti the

tenant could be exposed to substantial additional liabilities which nra affect the tenants ability to pay tent

Delays in collecting accounts receivable by tenants at any Ii ealthcarerelated facilities that ne tna acquire could adrer.seh affect

their cash flows andfinancial condition 171 their ability to meet their obligations to its

l3illing and collection olaceoLrttts receivable by or.rr tenants at healthcarerelated facilities ate subject to the eonrplex regulations that

gos em Medicare and Medicaid reimbursement and rules imposed by nongovernment payors If these tenants fail to bill arid collect on

timely basis in accordance with these regulations and rules they could be subject to payment delays that could negatively impact

their cash tTovs arid ultimately their financial condition and their ability to meet their ohligatiotrs to us

Shorttern leases map expose as to the eff cts of declining market rent

Certain types of the properties we may oss rr such as multi fhmily properties typically have short ternr leases with terrants here is rio

assurance that we will be able to eriess these leases as they expire or attract eplaeeruent tenants ott comparable terrrrs if at all

We map be exposed to the annual lea cing cycle of student housing propeities changing itiiineJ.Sit almission 1111 Ito using jmolicies

and other risks inhereuut in the student housing industry

Student housing properties rrrust be alrirost entirely released each year lius ifwe acquire this type ob property we vs ill be exposed

to increased leasing risk These facilities are highly dependent on the effectiveness obtheir nrarketing and Ieasirrg efforts and personnel

during the late sumriier arid early frill releasing season Changes in university admission policies can also adversely affect stLnderrt

housing properties such as requirements that freshmnan or other classes of studerrts live itt universityowned facility restrltirrg
in

iovver occupancy rates tor other facilities Additionally marty colleges arrd universities ow and operate their ow rr competing urn

campus housing offering better proximity to the earirpus arid ottcampus tir.eihities Colleges and univ er sities cart gerrerahly avoid real

estate taxes and but row firnds at lower interest rates than us thereby enabling threnr to offer lower errtal rates tharr eonripetinrg fuieihities

and negatively impacting our property occupancy or rental rates Federal arid state requirennents to publish reports of cr inne or other

negative publicity regarding tire safety of the students esidirrg urn or near our student housing pr oper ties rrray has an adverse effect

on tire operations of these types of properties

We may be subject to additional risks mfwe invest in public infrastructure assets

Air investment in us may be subject to additional risks ifvve invest in public infrastrueture assets Public irihiastruefure assets are

subject to differ emnt operating risks tinarn inure traditional investments in cal properties hrese risks irrelude but are riot limited to

operational prubienris or supply disruption at facility

disn uptionrs caused by significant catastrophic events such as rnrajur plant breakdovvnns pipeline or electricity litre ruptures

or other disasters

the irnpusitiurr of special tariffs arrd changes in tax laws regulatory puhcies arid aceuuntirrg standards

change in tire mrumber of users who use tire assets winch could tregatis ely inrrpaet urrr profitability arrd

genei 211 changes in mar ket sentiment towards infrastructure assets
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Moreover acquiring inirastructure assets often involves an ongoing commitment to govci nmcntal agency he nature of these

commitments exposes the owners of infrastructure assets to higher level of regulatory control and risk than typically imposed on

other businesses or real estate assets Cash flows from these assets may be disrupted or altered by an adverse change in regulation by

various government authorities including regulation of rates charged to customers

In addition specific infrastructure assets may face completely unique risks For example in the ease of private toll roads there are

risks relating to improper grading improper lane design and improper access States and the federal government generally do not face

suits relating to these factors because of the doctrine of sovereign immunity which would not apply to private toll road operator

Thus absent specific protective legislation any person injured on private toll road may sue the toll road owner As another example

correctional facilities entail heightened risks associated with fire safety due to prisoner incarceration and the inability to quickly exit

burning facility design prison population control issues and non-inmate safety and potentially high construction costs associated

with security features Additionally government agencies are the only likely lessees thus reducing the competitive pressures for high

lease rates Also potentially affecting lease rates would be demand for cells which could decline dramatically because ot variety of

factors most particularly the crime rate but also factors such as prison sentence guidelines and parole policies

We will not own or control the land in iiiground lease properties that we may acquire

We may acquire property on land owned by governmental entity or other third party while sve uvn leasehold permit oi similar

interest This means that \vhile we have right to use the property we do not retain fee ownership in the underlying land

Accordingly we will have no economic interest in the land or building at the expiration of the ground lease or permit As result we
will not share in

any
increase in value of the land associated with the underlying property Further because vse do not euntrol the

underlying land the lessor could take certain actions to disrupt our rights in the property or our tenants operation of the properties or

the case of governmental entity take the property in an eminent domain proceeding

We may be unable to sell assets if or when we decide to do so

Maintaining our REIT qualification and continuing to avoid registration under the Investment Company Act as vell as many other

factors such as general economic conditions the availability of financing interest iates and the supply and deniand for the particular

asset type may limit our ability to sell real estate assets These factors are beyond our contiol We cannot piediet vvhether vve \vill be

ible to sell any real estate asset on favorable terms and conditions if at all or the length of time needed io sell an asset

If we sell properties byproiidingfinancing to purchasers we will bear the risk of default by the purchaser

We may from time to time sell property or other asset by providing financing to the purchaser There are no limits or restrictions on

ur ability to accept purchase money obligations secured by mortgage as payment for the purchase price The terms of payment to us

will be affected by custom in the area where the property being sold is located and then-prevailing economic conditions Ifvve receive

Dromissory notes or other property in lieu of cash from property sales the distribution of the proceeds of sales to our stockholders or

einvestment in other properties will be delayed until the promissory notes or other property are actually paid sold refinanced or

therwise disposed In some eases we may receive initial down payments in cash and other property in the year of sale in an amount

ess than the selling price and subsequent payments will be spread over number of years We vs ill bear the risk of default by the

Durchaser and may incur significant litigation costs in enforcing our rights against the purchaser

-15-



Sale leaseback transactions may be recharacterized in manner unfavorable to us

We may from time to time enter into sale leaseback transaction where purchase property and then lease the property to the

seller The transaction may howe\ er he characterized as financing instead of sale in the case of the sellers bankruptcy In this

case we would not he treated as the owner of the property but rather as creditor with no interest in the property itself The seller may
have the ability in bankruptcy proceeding to restructure the financing by imposing new terms and conditions The transaction also

may be recharacterized as joint venture In this case we would be treated as joint venturer with liability under some

circumstances for debts incurred by the seller relating to the property

An increase in real estate taxes may decrease our income fromproperties

From time to time the amount we pay for property taxes will increase as either property values increase or assessment rates are

adjusted Increases in propertys value or in the assessment rate will result in an increase in the real estate taxes due on that property

If we are unable to pass
the increase in taxes through to our tenants our net operating income for the property will decrease

CCRs mat restrict our ability to operate property

We niay acquire properties that are contiguous to other parcels of real property comprising part of the same commercial center These

properties may be subject to significant covenants conditions and restrictions known as CCRs that restrict our operation of these

properties and any impro\ ements on these properties and our ability to grant easements on such properties Moreover the operation

and management of contiguous properties may impact those properties Compliance with CCRs may ad\elsely affect our operating

costs

Uninsured losses or premiunzsfbr insurance coverage may adversely affect stockholder returns

The nature of the activities at certain properties we may acquire will
expose us and our tenants or operators to potential liability for

personal injuries and in certain instances property damage claims In addition there are types of losses generally catastrophic in

nature such as losses due to wars acts of terrorism earthquakes floods hurricanes pollution or environmental matters that ai

uninsurable or not economically insurable or may be insured subject to limitations such as large dcductibles or co-payments

Insurance risks assnciated ith pntential terrnrist acts cnuld sharply increase the premiums we pay fnr cn erage against property and

casualty claims Mortgage lenders generally require property owners to purchase specific coverage insuring against terrorism as

condition for providing mortgage bridge or mezzanine loans These policies may or may not be available at reasonable cost if at all

\vhich could inhibit our ability to finance or refinance our properties In such instances we may be required to provide other financial

support either through financial assurances or self-insurance to cover potential losses We cannot provide any assurance that we will

have adequate coverage for these losses In the event that any of our properties incurs casualty loss that is not fully covered by

insurance the value of the particular asset will likely be reduced by the uninsured loss In addition we cannot provide assurance that

ill be able to fund any uninsured losses

Our operating results may be negatively affected by potential development and construction delays and the resulting increase in

costs and risks

Investing in properties under development including lodging properties which typically must be renovated or otherwise improved on

regular basis subjects us to uncertainties such as the ability to achieve desired zoning for development environmental concerns of

gdvernmental entities or community groups ability to control construction costs or to build in conformity with plans specifications

and timetables We may have to institute legal action to compel performance or rescind purchase contract or construction contract if

builder fails to perform Construction delays could give tenants the right to terminate preconstruction leases We may incur

additional risks when we make periodic progress payments or advance other costs to third parties prior to completing construction

These and other factors can increase the costs of project or cause us to lose our investment In addition we will be subject to normal

lease-up risks relating to newly constructed or renovated projects Furthermore we must rely upon projections of rental income and

expenses and estimates of fair market value upon completing construction when agreeing upon purchase price If our projections are

inaccurate we may pay too much for property
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We nza acquire properties in regions that are particularly susceptible to natural disasters

Ye have acquired properties located in geographical areas including Florida Louisiana and Texas that are regularly impacted by

evere storms hurricanes and flooding In addition according to some experts global climate change could result in heightened

urricane activity thus further impacting these geographical areas Natural disasters in these areas may cause damage to our properties

eyond the scope of our insurance coverage thus requiring us to make substantial expenditures to repair these properties and resulting

loss of revenues from these properties Any properties located near the coast will be exposed to more severe weather than

roperties located inland Elements such as salt water and humidity in these areas can increase or accelerate wear on the properties

veatherproofing and mechanical electrical and other systems and cause mold issues over time As result we may incur additional

perating costs and expenditures for capital improvements at properties that we acquire in these areas

7ze costs of complying with environmental laws and other governmental laws and regulations may adversely affect us

tll real property and the operations conducted on real property are subject to federal state and local laws and regulations relating to

ironmental protection and human health and safety These laws and regulations generally govern wastewater discharges air

missions the operation and removal of underground and above-ground storage tanks the use storage treatment transportation and

isposal of solid and hazardous materials and the remediation of contamination associated with disposals We also are required to

omply with various local state and federal fire health life-safety and similar regulations Some of these laws and regulations may

iipose joint and several liability on tenants owners or operators for the costs of investigating or remediating contaminated properties

hese laws and regulations often inipose liability whether or not the owner or operator knew of or was responsible for the
presence

the hazardous or toxic substances The cost of removing or remediating could be substantial In addition the prcsence of these

Libstanecs or the failure to properly remediate these substances may adversely affect our ability to sell or rent property or to use the

ropcity as collateral for borro\ving

rn ironmcntal la\\ and regulations also may impose restrictions on the manner in which property may be used or businesses may be

perated and these restrictions may require substantial expenditures by us Environmental laws and regulations provide for sanctions

the em of noncompliance and may be enforced by governmental agencies or in certain circumstances by private parties Third

arties may seek recovery from owners or operators of real properties for personal injury or property damage associated with exposure

released hazardous substances Compliance ith new or more stringent laws or regulations or stricter interpretations of existing

is may require material expenditures by us For example various federal regional and state laws and regulations have been

nplemented or are under consideration to mitigate the effects of climate change caused by greenhouse gas emissions Among other

nngs green building codes may seek to reduce emissions through the imposition of standards for design construction materials

ater and energy usage and efficiency and waste management These requirements could increase the costs of maintaining or

nproving our existing properties or developing new properties

1ur properties may contain or develop harmful mold which could lead to liability for adverse health effects and costs of

mnediating the problemmi

he
presence

of mold at any of our properties could require us to undertake costly program to remediate contain or remove the

iold Mold growth may occur when moisture accumulates in buildings or on building materials Some molds may produce airborne

xins or irritants Concern about indoor exposure to mold has been increasing because exposure to mold may cause variety of

Iverse health effects and symptoms including allergic or other reactions The presence of mold could
expose us to liability from our

nants their employees and others if property damage or health concerns arise
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We nay incur significant costs to comply wit/i the Americans Wit/i Disabilities Act or similar laws

Our properties generally are subject to the Americans With Disabilities Act of 1990 as amended which we refer to as the Disabilities

Act Under the Disabilities Act all places of public accommodation are required to comply with federal requirements related to access

and use by disabled
persons

The Disabilities Act has separate compliance requirements for public accommodations and

commercial facilities that generally require that buildings and services be made accessible and available to people with disabilities

In addition with respect to any apartment properties we also must comply with the Fair Housing Amendment Act of 1988 or FHAA
thich requires that apartment communities first occupied after March 13 1991 be accessible to handicapped residents and visitors

The requirements of the Disabilities Act or FHAA could require removal of access barriers and could result in the imposition of

injunctive relief monetary penalties in some cases an award of damages We attempt to acquire properties that comply with the

Disabilities Act and the FHAA or place the burden on the seller or other third party such as tenant to ensure compliance with these

laws However we cannot provide assurance that we will be able to acquire properties or allocate responsibilities in this nianner We

may incur significant costs to comply with these laws

proposed change in U.S accounting standards for leases could reduce the overall demand to lease our properties

The existing accounting standards for leases require lessees to classify their leases as either capital or operating leases Under capita

lease both thc leased asset which reprcsents the tenants right to use the property and the contractual lease obligation are recorded 01

the tenants balance sheet if one of the following criteria are met the lease transfers ovnership of the property to the lessee by the

end of the lease term ii the lease contains bargain purchase option iii the non-cancellable lease term is more than 75c of the

useful life of the asset ot iv if the present value of the minimum lease payments equals 90c or more of the leased propertys fbir

value If the terms of the lease do not meet these criteria the lease is considered an operating lease and no leased asset or contractual

lease obligation is recorded by the tenant

in order to address concerns raised by the SEC regarding the transparency of contractual lease obligations under the existing

accounting standards for operating leases the U.S Financial Accounting Standards Board the FASB and the international

Accounting Standards Board the IASB initiated joint project to develop new guidelines to lease accounting The FASB and

iASB collectively the Boards issued an Exposure Draft on August 17 2010 the Exposure Draft which proposes substantial

changes to the current lease accounting standards primarily by eliminating the concept of operating lease accounting As result

lease asset and obligation would be recorded on the tenants balance sheet for all lease arrangements if the standard is finalized as

currently proposed In addition the Exposure Draft ould impact the method in which contractual lease payments will he recorded

order to niitigate the effect of the proposed lease accounting tenants may seek to negotiate certain terms within new lease

arrangements or modify terms in existing lease arrangements such as shorter lease terms or fewer extension options which would

generally have less impact on tenant balance sheets Also tenants may reassess their lease-versus-buy strategies This could result in

greater renewal risk delay in investing our Offering proceeds or shorter lease terms all of which may negatively impact otw

operations and ability to pay distributions

The Exposure Draft does not include proposed effective date however the Boards currently plan to issue final standard regarding

lease accounting in 2011
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rerrorist attachs and oilier acts 0/ violence or war maj a/fret the markets in which we operate our operations 1171 OT
rofitahilitp

Ye may acquire real estate assets located in areas that are susceptible to attack In addition any kind of terrorist activity including

crrorist acts against public institutions or buildings or modes of public transportation including airlines trains or buses could lessen

avel by the public shich could ha\e negati\e effect on any of our lodging operations These attacks may directly impact the value

four assets through damage destruction loss or increased security costs Although we may obtain terrorism insurance we may not

able to obtain sufficient coverage to fund any losses se may incur Risks associated with potential acts of terrorism could sharply

icrease the premiums pay for coverage against property and casualty claims Further certain losses resulting from these types of

ents are uninsurable 01 not insurable at reasonable costs

4ore generally any terrorist attack other act of violence or war including armed conflicts could result in increased volatility in or

amage to the United States and worlths ide financial markets and economy Any terrorist incident may for example deter people

om tra cling which could affect the ability of our lodging properties to generate operating income and therefore our ability to pay

istributions Additionally increased economic volatility could adversely affect our tenants ability to pay rent on their leases or our

hility to borrow money or issue capital stock at acceptable prices

Ve may have increased exposure to liabilities as result 0/ any participation by us in Section 1031 Exchange Transactions

fe may enter into transactions that qualify for likekind exchange treatment under Section 1031 of the Internal Revenue Code
ferred to herein as 1031 Fxchange Transactions Real estate acquired through 1031 Exchange Transaction is commonly

ructured as the acquisition of real estate owned in co-tenancy arrangements as tenants in-common with persons referred to as 1031

articipants generally held in tax pass-through entities including single-member limited liability companies or similarentities

hanges in tax laws may adversely affect 103 Exchange Transactions Owning co tenancy interests involves risks generally not

Lherwise present v4 ith an in estment in real estate such as

the risk that co-tenant may at any time have economic or business interests or goals that are or that become inconsistent

with our business interests or goals

the risk that co tenant may be in position to take action contrary to our instructions or requests or contrary to our

policies or objectises or

the possibility that cotenant might become insols ent or bankrupt which may be an event of default under mortgage

loan financing documents or allos bankruptcy court to reject the tenants in common agreement or management

agreement entered into by the co tenants owning interests in the property

ctions by cotenant nmight have the result of subjecting the property to liabilities in excess of those contemplated and may have

effect of reducing stoch holder returns

our inteiests become adverse to those of the other co-tenants in 1031 Exchange Transaction we may not have the contractual right

purchase the co-tenancy interests from the other co-tenants Even if we are given the opportunity to purchase the co tenancy

terests we cannot guarantee that we will have sufficient funds available to complete purchase

addition we may desire to sell our co-tenancy interests in given property at time when the other co-tenants do not desire to sell

eir interests Therefore we may not be able to sell our interest in property at the time we would like to sell We also expect it to be

ore difficult to find willing buyer for our co-tenancy interests in property than it would be to find buyer for property we
ned outright Further agreements that contain obligations to acquire unsold co tenancy interests in properties may be viewed by

stitutional lenders as contingent liability against our cash or other assets limiting ow ability to borros funds in the future
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Risks Related to Investments in Other Real Estate Assets

1/trough owizing equity interests ii REITs or other real estate operating companies that invest in real estate or real estaterelated

assets ne are subject to the ricks inzpacting each entitys assets

We have ins ested and may continue to invest in real estaterelated securities Fquity securities are always unsecured and

subordinated to other obligations of the issuei Investments in real estaterelated equity securities are subject to numerous isks

including limited liquidity in the secondary tiading market in the ease of unlisted or thinly traded securities substantial market

puce olatilit resulting front among other things changes in prevailing interest rates in the overall market or related to specific

issuer as well as changing investor perceptions of the market as whole REIT or real estate seeorities in particular or the specific

issuer in question subordination to the liabilities of the issuer the operation of mandatory sinking fund or call redemption

pros isions luring periods ot declining interest rates that could cause the issuei to redeem the securities and the possibility that

earnings of the issuer may be insufficient to meet its debt service and distribution obligations In addition investments in real estate

related securities insoh special iisks relating to the particular issuer of the securities including the financial condition and business

outlook of the issuer issuers of real estaterelated securities generally invest in real estate or real estate related assets and are subject

to the inherent risks associated ss ith ieai estaterelated investments discussed herein

Recent nzarket conditions and the risk ofcontinaed market deterioration may red lice the value of any real estate related secnrities

in which we may in vest

Mortgage loans experienced delinquency foreclosure and loss during the recent dislocations in the U.S credit markets hese and

othei related events significantly impacted the capital markets associated not only with mortgagebacked securities assethacked

securities and collateiaiized debt obligations but also with the U.S credit and financial markets as whole

Our investments in real estate related securities including commercial mortgagebacked securities sometimes referred to herein as

CMBS expose us to the volatility of the credit markets Any continued volatility in the credit market may continue to have

material ads erse effect on the saiue of our securities porttolio

Because theie may he significant uncertainty in the valuation of or in the stability of the alue of securities holdings the fiur values

of these investments might not reflect the prices that we would obtain if we sold these investments urthermore these investments ar

subject to rapid changes in value caused by sudden developments that could have material ads erse atibct on the alue of these

ins estments

11 the e\tent that these volatile market conditions persist or deteriorate they may negatively impact our ability to both acquire and

potentially sell our real estate related securities holdings at price and terms acceptable to us and sve may be required to reeogniz

impairment charges or uni ealized losses

Oar investments in mortgage nzezzamzimze bridge and other loans as well as out investnzents in C1IBS and other debt may he

qffected by nnfimvorable real estate marl et conditions which could decrease the wmhzie of those assets

if ss make or ins est in mortgage mezzanine or other real estaterelated loans we will be at risk of defaults by the borrowers on

those loans hese defaults may be caused by many coilditions beyond our control including interest rate les els and ioeai and other

economic conditions affecting real estate values We will not know whether the value of the properties ultimately securing our loans

svili remain at tile level existing the late of origination If the value ofthe underiying properties decreases our risk will increase

because of the loss er value of the security associated ss ith such loans Our investments in CMBS and other real estaterelated debt svii

he similarly affected by real estate market conditions
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7we ma/ce or invest in mortgage mezzanine bridge or other real estatere/cited loans our loans will he subject to interest rate

7nctuations that wi/I a//ed our returns its conzpared to uzar/cet interest rates accordingly the value of an iii vestnzent in our

onzpanj would be subject tofluctuatioizs iii interest rates

we make or ins est in fixed rate long term loans and inteiest rates rise the loans could yield return that is lower than then current

narket rates If inteiest rates decrease we will be adversely affected to the extent that loans are prepaid because we may not he able to

nake new loans at the higher interest iate lfwe invest in variablerate loans and interest rates decrease our revenues will also

lecrease hor these reasons isv invest in mortgage mezzanine bridge or other real estaterelated loans our returns on those loans

nd the value olan investment in us vs ill be subject to fluctuations in interest rates

rile CMBS in which ice invest are subject to ct/I oft/ic risks oft/ce underlying mortgage loans and the risIs oft/ic securitizatiomz

rocess

MBS are securities that evidence interests in or are secured by single commercial mortgage loan or pool of commercial

loitgage loans Accordingly these securities are subject to all of the risks of the underlying mortgage loans

rising interest rate environment the alue of CMBS ma be adversely affected when payments on underlying mortgages IC not

ceur as anticipated resulting in the extension of the securitys effective maturity and the related increase in interest rate sensitis
ity

ot

longci term instiumcnt The valuc ofCMBS
nay also change dLie to shifts in tlic mm kcts peiccption ot issucis and icgulatoiy 01 tUA

hanges ads ersely affecting the moi tgage securities market as whole In addition CMBS are subject to the credit isk associated with

pci formance of the underlying mortgage properties In certain instances thirdparty guarantees or other forms of ci edit support

esigned to reduce credit risk may not be effective due for example to defaults by third party guarantors

MBS are also subject to ses eral risks created through the securiti7ation process Generally CMBS are issued in classes or tranchcs

imilar to mortgage loans fo the extent that we invest in subordinate class or tranche vs will be paid interest onl to the extent that

iere are fluids as ailable after paying the senior class To the extent the collateral pool includes delinquent loans subordinate classes

ill likely not be tuill paid Subordinate CMBS are also subject to greater credit risk than those MBS that are more highly rated

urther the ratings assigned to any particular class ofCMBS may pros to be inaccurate Thus any particular class oICMt3S may be

skier and more olatilc than the rating may suggest all of which ma cause the returns on any CMBS investment to be less than

aticipated

ni mortgage /ocuzs tlzcit we originate or purchase iwll he subject to the rishcs of delinquency and breclosure

/c may originate and purchase mortgage loans Mortgage loans are subject to risks of delinquency and foreclosure and risks of loss

pically we vs ill not have recourse to the personal assets of our borrowers The ability ofa borrower to repay loan secured by an

icomeproducing property generally depends upon the successful operation of the property rather than upon the existence of

idependent income or assets ot the borrow er If the net operating income of the property is reduced the borrowei ability to repay

ic loan may be impaired propert net operating income can bc affected by among other things

increased costs including with respect to all lodging properties added costs imposed franchisors for improvements

or operating changes required from time to time under the franchise agreements

oo real estate management decisions

property location and condition

competition from comparable types of pioperties

changes iii specific industry segments

declines in regional or local real estate values or occupancy rates and

increases intcicst rates real estate tax rates and other operating expenses
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We will bear the risks of loss of principal to the extent of any deficiency between the value of the collateral and the principal and

accrued interest of the mortgage loan In the event of the bankruptcy of mortgage loan borro cr the mortgage loan to that borrow er

ill be deemed to he collatcraliicd only to the extent of the value of the underlying collateral at the time of bankruptcy as determiner

by the bankruptcy court and the lien securing the mortgage loan will be subject to the avoidance powers of the bankruptcy trustee or

debtor-in possession to the extent the lien is unenforceable under state law Foreclosure of mortgage loan can be an expensive and

lengthy process that could have substantial negative effect on our anticipated return on the foreclosed mortgage loan We may also

be forced to foreclose on certain properties be unable to sell these properties and be forced to incur substantial expenses to operate or

impro the property

The nzezzaniize loans in which we may invest would in volve greater risks of loss than senior loans secured by incomeproducing

real properties

We may invest in meizanine loans that take the form of subordinated loans secured by second mortgages on the underlying real

property or loans secured by pledge of the ownership interests of either the entity owning the real property or the entity that owns th

entity o\\ ning the real property These types of investments involve higher degree of isk than if ins est in the senior mortgage

secured by income producing real property because if borrower defaults on our mezLanine loan or debt senior to our loan or in the

event of borros er bankruptcy our mez7anine loan will be satisfied only after the senior debt is satisfied As result may not

recover sonic or all of our investment

The B_ATotes in which we may invest may be subject to additional risks relating to the privately negotiated structure and terms of

the transaction which may result in losses to us

We may invest in BNotes which are typically secured by first mortgage on singlc large commercial property or group of

related properties and subordinated to an A-Note secured by the same first mortgage on the same collateral As result if

borrower defaults there may not be sufficient funds remaining for B-Note holders after payment to the A-Note holders Since each

transaction is privately negotiated B-Notes can vary in their structural characteristics and risks For example the rights of holders of

B-Notes to control the process following borrower default may be limited in certain incstments We cannot predict the terms of

each Note investment Further B-Notes typically are secured by single property and so reflect the increased risks associated itl

single property compared to pool of properties

Bridge loans ma involve greater risk of loss than con ventional mortgage loans

We may provide bridge loans secured by first lien mortgages on properties to borrowers who are typically seeking short-term capital

to be used in an acquisition development or refinancing of real estate The borrower may have identified an undervalued asset that h2

been undermanaged or is located in recovering market The market in which the asset is located may not recover according to the

borrowers projections or if the borrower fails to improve the quality of the assets management or the value of the asset the bonow

may not receive sufficient return on the asset to satisfy the bridge loan and we may not rcco\er sonic or all of our investment

In addition ovncrs usually borrow funds under conventional mortgage loan to repay bridge loan In these cases we may be

exposed to borrowers ability to obtain permanent financing to repay our bridge loan which could depend on market conditions am

other factors Bridge loans are also subject to risks of borrower defaults bankruptcies fraud losses and special hazard losses that are

not covered by standard haiard insuiance In the event of any default under bridge loans held by us we bear the risk of loss of

principal and nonpayment of interest and fees to the extent of any deficiency between the value of the mortgage collateral and the

principal amount of the bridge loan To the extent we suffer such losses with respect to our investments in bridge loans the value of

our company and of our common stock may be ad\ ersely affected
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nvestment in nonconforming and noninvestment grade loans nay involve increased risk of loss

Mans se may acquire or originate may not conform to conventional loan criteria applied by traditional lenders and may not be rated

may he rated as non-investment grade Non investment grade ratings for these loans typically result from the overall le\ erage of

ie loans the lack of strong operating history for the properties underlying the loans the borrowers credit histoiy the properties

nderlying cash flow or other factors As result loans acquire or originate may have higher risk of default and loss than

onventional loans Any loss we incur may reduce distributions to stockholders and adversely affect the value of oui common stock

Ve may he required to repurchase loan.s that ice have sold

fmy of the loans we originate or acquire and sell do not comply with representations and warranties that we make about certain

haracteristics of the loans the borrowers and the underlying properties we niay be reqturecl to iepurchase those loans or replace them

ith substitute loans In addition in the case of loans that we have sold instead of retained may be required to indemnify persons

losses or expenses incurred as result of breach of representation or warranty Repurchased loans typically require significant

Ilocation of working capital to be carried on our books and our ability to borrow against such assets may be limited Any significant

purchases or indemnification payments could materially and adversely affect our financial condition and operating results

isks Associated with Debt Financing

orrowings may reduce the funds aiailable for distribution and increase the rtck of loss since defaults nzai cause us to lose the

roperties securing the loans

/e typically borrow money to finance portion of the purchase price of assets that acquire We may also borrow money for other

urposes to among other things satisfy the requirement that se distribute at least 90% of our annual taxable income subject to

rtain adjustments to our stockholders or as is otherwise
necessary or ad\ isable to assure that continue to qualify as RFIT for

deral income tax purposes Over the long term however payments required on any amounts we borrow reduce the funds available

if among other things acquisitions capital expenditures for existing properties or distributions to our stockholders because cash

herwise available for these purposes is used to pay principal and interest associated with amounts we borrow

efaults on loans secured by property we own may result in us losing the property or properties securing the loan that is in default as

result of foreclosure actions initiated by lender For tax purposes foreclosure would be treated as sale of the property for

ircbase price equal to the outstanding balance of the debt secured by the property If the outstanding balance of the debt exceeds our

basis in the property we would recognize taxable gain on the foreclosure but would not receive any cash proceeds We also may
Ily or partially guarantee any monies that subsidiaries borrow to purchase or operate real estate assets In these cases will be

sponsible to the lender for repaying the loans if the subsidiary is unable to do so If any mortgage contains cross-collateralization or

oss-default provisions more than one property may be affected by default

nders may restrict certain aspects of our operations which could among other things limit our ability to make dLtributions

ie tems and conditions contained in any of our loan documents may require us to maintain cash reserves limit the aggregate amount

may borrow on secured and unsecured basis require us to satisfy restrictive financial covenants prevent us from entering into

rtain business transactions such as merger sale of assets or other business combination restrict our leasing operations or require

to obtain consent from the lender to complete transactions or make investments that are ordinarily approved only by our board of

rectors In addition secured lenders may restrict our ability to discontinue insurance coverage on mortgaged propeity en though

may believe that the insurance premiums paid to insure against certain losses such as losses due to wars acts of terrorism

rthquakes floods hurricanes pollution or environmental matters are greater than the potential risk of loss
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Our Credit Facility in particular contains certain financial and operating covenants including among other things leverage ratios

coverage ratios as well as limitations on our ability to incur secured indebtedness The Credit Facility also contains customary defaull

provisions including the failure to timely pay debt service issued thereunder and the failure to comply with the financial and operating

covenants These covenants could limit our ability to obtain additional funds needed to address liquidity needs or pursue future

acquisitions In addition the failure to comply with any of these covenants could cause default and accelerate payment of advances

under the Credit Facility Violating the covenants would likely result in us incurring higher financing costs and fees or an acceleration

of the maturity date of advances under the Credit Facility all of which would have niaterial adverse effect on our results of

operations and financial condition

Interest-only indebtedness may increase our risk of default and ultimately may reduce our funds available for distribution to our

stockholders

We have obtained and may continue to enter into mortgage indebtedness that requires no principal amortization for all or portion

the life of the debt instrument During the period when no principal payments are required the amount of each scheduled payment is

less than that of traditional amortizing mortgage loan The principal balance of the mortgage loan is not reduced except in the case

of prepayments because there are no scheduled monthly payments of principal required during this period After the interest-only

period we may be required either to make scheduled payments of principal and interest or to make lump-sum or balloon payment

at or prior to maturity These required principal or balloon payments will increase the amount of our scheduled payments and may
increase our risk of default under the related mortgage loan and will reduce the funds available for among other things distribution

our stockholders

Increases in interest rates could increase the amount of our debt payments and adversely affect our ability to make distributions tt

our stockholders

We have bolTowed money including under our Credit Facility which bears interest at variable rates and therefore are exposed to

increases in costs in rising interest rate environment Increases in interest rates will increase our interest expense on any variable rat

debt as well as any debt that must be refinanced at higher interest rates at the time of maturity Our future earnings and cash flo

could be adversely affected due to the increased requirement to service our debt and could reduce the amount aie ablc to distrihut

to our stockholders

We may acquire or finance properties with lock-out provisions which may prohibit us front selling property or may require us

maintain specified debt levels for period ofyears on sonic properties

The terms of any loan that we may enter into may preclude us from pre-paying the principal amount of the loan or could restrict us

from selling or otherwise disposing of or refinancing properties For example lock-out provisions may prohibit us from reducing the

outstanding indebtedness secured by any of our properties refinancing this indebtedness on non-recourse basis at maturity or

increasing the amount of indebtedness secured by our properties Lock-out provisions could impair our ability to take other actions

during the lockout period In particular lock-out provisions could preclude us from participating in major transactions that could

result in disposition of our assets or change in control even though that disposition or change in control might be in the best

interests of our stockholders

To hedge against interest rate fluctuations we may use derivative financial instruments that may he costly and ine/jictivc

We have and may continue to employ various hedging strategies to limit the effects of changes in intcrest rates including engaging ii

interest rate swaps interest rate cap or floor contracts futures or forward contracts options or repurchase agreements Our actual

hedging decisions will be determined in light of the facts and circumstances existing at the tinie of the hedge and in accordance with

our investmentpolicies Hedging transactions involve certain additional risks such as credit risk market risk and legal enforceability

risks In this context credit risk is the failure of the counterparty to perform under the terms of the derivative contract Market risk is

the adverse effect on the value of the financial instrument that results from changes in interest rates
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Finally legal enforceability risks encompass general contractual risks including the risk that the counterparty will breach the terms of

or fail to perform its obligations under the derivative contract counterparty could fail shut down file for bankruptcy or be unable

pay out contracts The business failure of hedging counterparty with whom we enter into hedging transaction will most likely

esult in default Default by party with whom we enter into hedging transaction may result in the loss of unrealized profits and

Force us to cover our resale commitments if any at the then current market price Although generally we will seek to reserve the right

.0 terminate our hedging positions it may not always be possible to dispose of or close out hedging position without the consent of

.he hedging counterparty and we may not be able to enter into an offsetting contract to cover our risk We cannot provide assurance

hat liquid secondary market will exist for hedging instruments purchased or sold and we may be required to maintain position

intil exercise or expiration which could result in losses

urther the RET provisions of the Code may limit our ability to hedge the risks inherent to our operations We may be unable to

anage these risks effectively

We may be contractually obligated to purchase property even 4/ we are unable to secure financing for the acquisition

We typically finance portion of the purchase price for each property that we acquire However to ensure that our offers are as

ompetitive as possible we generally do not enter into contracts to purchase property that include financing contingencies Thus we

nay be contractually obligated to purchase property even if we are unable to secure financing for the acquisition In this event we

nay choose to close on the property by using cash on hand which would result in less cash available for among other things

perating or capital needs or to pay distributions to our stockholders Alternatively we may choose not to close on the acquisition of

he property and default on the purchase contract If we default on any purchase contract we could lose our eaniest money and

ecome subject to liquidated or other contractual damages and remedies

rIte total amount we ma borrow is limited by our charter

ur charter generally limits the total amount we may borrow to 300o of our net assets equivalent to 75 loan-to-asset value ratio

Hess our board of directors determines that higher level is appropriate and the excess in borrowing is disclosed to stockholders in

ur next quarterly rcport along with the justification for the excess This limit could adversely affect our business including

limiting our ability to purchase real estate assets

causing us to lose our REIT status ifse cannot boriow to fund the monies needed to satisfy the REIT distribution

requirements

causing operational problems if there are cash flow shortfalls for working capital purposes and

causing the loss of property if for example financing is necessary to cure default on mortgage

islcs Related to Conflicts of Interest

REIC inayfhce conflict of interest in allocating personnel and resources between its affiliates 0111 Business Manager and our

seal Estate 1Ianagers

ge do not have any employees and rely on persons performing services for our Business Manager and Real Estate Managers and their

flihiates to manage our day-to-day operations Some of these persons including Mr Parks Mr Lazarus Ms Gujral and Ms Matlin

re employed by IREIC or its affiliates and may provide services to one or niore investment programs previously sponsored by

EIC These indis iduals face competing demands for their time and service and may ha conflicts in allocating their time between

ur business and assets and the business and assets of IREIC its affiliates and the other entities formed and organized by IREIC

-25-



In addition ifanother investment program sponsored by IREIC including specifically Inland American Real Estate Trust Inc

Inland American which is an externally advised REIT decides to internalize its management functions in the future it may do so

by hiring and retaining certain of the peisons currently performing services for our Business Manager and Real Estate Managers aod

if it did so would likely not allow these persons to perform services for us

do not have arm slength agreements- nit/i our Business Manager our Real Estate Managers or an other affiliates of IREJc

None of the agreements and arrangements \sith our Business Managei our Real Estate Managers or any other affiliates of IREIC were

negotiated at arms length These agreements may contain terms and conchtions that are not in our best interest and would not

otherwise be applicable iNs entered into arms length agreements ss ith third parties

Oar Busines.s Manager oar Real Estate Managers and other affiliates oflREJ receive conzinissioizs tees and other

compensation based ujoii 0111 invested assets

Our Business Manager receives fees based on the aggregate book value including acquired intangibles of our invested assets Further

our Real Estate Managers receive fees based on the gross income from properties under management or for overseeing management

our properties Other parties related to or affiliated with our Business Manager or Real Estate Managers also receive fees or cost

reimbuisements from us These compensation arrangements may cause these entities to take oi not take certain actions For example

these arrangements may provide an incentive for our Business Manager to borrow more money than prudent to increase the

amount we can invesU retain instead of sell assets even if our stockholders may he better sen-ed by sale or disposition of the

assets or avoid reducing the carrying value of assets that may otherwise he viewed as impaired The interests of these parties in

receiving fees may conflict with the mterest of our stockholders in earning income on their investment in our common stock

We compete with other REITs previously sponsored by JREICJor certain propertie.s and other real estaterelated investments

IRE IC has sponsored four REITs with investment objectives similar to ours One of these entities Inland American relies on an

affiliate of our Business Manager to serve as its business manager Inland American seeks to invest in the same broad range of asset

types as us We are seeking to buy properties and other real estate assets at the same time as Inland American We along with Inland

American rely to some degree on IREA to identify and assist in acquiring real estate assets IREA is an indirect wholly owned

indirect subsidiary of The Inland Group Mr Parks is director of The Inland Group and Mr Parks Ms Gujral and Ms Matlin are

directors of IREIC and serve as the chainiian and director president and director and vice president respectively of Inland American

We have relied and inaj continue to rely in part on entities affiliated with IREIC to identify real estate assets

In addition to relying on our Business Managers own acquisition group we have utilized and may continue to utilize the services of

entities affiliated with IREIC such as IREA and Inland Institutional Capital Partners Corporation to identify real estate assets Other

entities formed and organized IREIC likewise utilize these entities to identify and acquire real estate assets including the type of

assets that we seek to acquire IREA is an indirect holly owned subsidiary of The Inland Group and Inland Institutional Capital

Partners Corporation is wholly owned subsidiary of IREIC We have limited pre-emptive rights such as right of first refusal or firs

offer to any of the properties that IREA identifies
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In addition iii the event that sse acquire real estate assets identified by affiliates of IREIC although the purchase price sse pay may not

axceed the appraised alne ofthe real estate at the time of its acquisition it is possible that we would have negotiated better price if

had negotiated direct ss ith the seller

From tune 11 time we ntis purchase real estate asset front persons n/to have prior business relatioiis/iips wit/i affiliates of JREJC

9ar interests in these transactions ma be different fionz the interests of affiliates in these transactions

rom time to time \s may purchase teal estate assets trom third parties ss ho base e\isting or prey ions business relationships sy ith

ntities affiliated with IRIIU The officers directors or employees of our Business Manager IRFA our Real Estate Managers 01

nland Institutional Capital Partners vs ho also perform seivices tor IREIC or these other affiliates may have conflict in representing

mr interests in these tiansaetinns on the one hand and the interests of IREIC and its affiliates in presers ing or furthering their

espeetis relationships on the other hand We may therefumre end
tip paying higher price to acquire the asset or sell the asset for

ower price than ss ould if these other relationships did not exist

fe pa significant fees to oar Business Manager Real Estate Managers and other affihates of IREIC and cannot predict the

into ant of fee.s to he paid

We pay sieni ficant fees to our Business Manager Real state Managers and other affiliates oil RFIC tor services provided to us

3eeause these fees generally are based on the amount of our invested assets the pnrchase price for these assets ot the revenues

enerated by our pioperties and not the quality of sers ices provided ive cannot predict tbe amounts that we will ultimately pay to

hese entities Fees paid to our Business Manager Real Estate Managers and other affiliates of IRFIC reduce funds available for other

nrposes such as distributions payable to our stoekholdeis

Us As Related to Our Corporate Structure

ur rights and the rights of our stocA holders to recover c/antis against our officers directors and Bu.sine.s.s Manager are limited

Jndei our charter niay generally indemnify our directors our Business Manager the Real Estate Managers and their respectise

ffiliates for any losses or liabilities suffered by any ofthem and hold these persons or entities harmless for any loss or liability

nffered by is as long these persnns or entities base determined in good Ruth that the course of condi ct that caused the loss or

ability was in our best interest these persons or entities were acting on our behalf or performing services for us the loss or

ability ss as not the result ofthe negligence or misconduct of the directors gross negligence or willful misconduct of the independent

irectors Business Manager the Real Estate Managers or their respective affiliates or the indemnity or agreement to hold

armless is recoverable only ont of our net assets and not from our stockholders As result we and our stockholders may have more

mited rights against our ditectors officers employees and agents our Business Manager the Real Lstate Managers and their

ffuliates than might otherss ise exist tinder common law In addition we may he obligated to fund the defense costs inenrued by mar

ireetors officers employ ees and agents or our Business Manager the Real Estate Managers and their affiliates in some cases

tur hoard of directors map in the future adopt certain measures under Macp/and law wit/tout stockholder approval that map have

te effect of mahting it less li/ic/p that stochi holder would receive contra/premium for his or her shares

orporations ougnnied nndeu Mary land lass ss ith class of registered securities and at least three independent directors are permitted

protect themsels es fiom unsolicited proposals or offers to acquire the company by electing to be subject by charter or bylaw

ovision or board ot directors resolution and nota ithstandine any eontrau charter or bylaw pros ision to any or all of five

Os isions

staggering the board of directors into three classes

requiriug two thirds ote of stockholders to remus direetou

providing that only lie hoau can Ii the sue of the boai

pros iding that all acancies on the board regardless of how the vacancy ss as created may lie filled only by the at firmative

vote ola majority of the remaining directors in office and for the remainder ofthe lull term of the class of directors in

hieb the vacancy occuried and

eqoirune that special stockholders nieetnigs lie called only by holders of shares entitled to cast majority of the votes

entitled to lie cast at the meeting
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hese provisions may discourage an extraordinary transaction such as merger tender offer or sale of all or substantially all of our

assets all of hich might provide premium price for stockholders shares

urther under the Mat yland Business Combination Act may not engage in any met-get or other business combination ith an

interested stockholdei or any al Ii iate of that interested stockholder for period of five years
after the most recent date ott hich lie

interested stockholder became an interested stockholder Alter the fiveyear period ends any merger or other business combination

tb the interested stockholder must he recommended by oor board of directors and appro ed by the affirmatis sole of at least

80 of all votes entitled to he east by holcleis ofoutstanding shares of our oting stock-and

t\\ thirds of all of the otes entitled to be east by holders of outstanding shares of our oting stock other than those share

owned or held by the interested stockholder unless among other things our stockholders receive minimum payment for

their common stock equal to the highest price liaid by die interested stockholder for its common stock

Our directors have adopted iesolution exempting any business combination in oh ing us and The Inland Group or any affiliate of

The Inland Group including our Business Manager and Real Estate Managers fiom the provisions of this las\

Our charter places limits on the anwunt of common stock that an person map own without the prior approval of our hoard of

directors

To niaintain our qualification as REIT no more than 50 of the outstanding shares of our common stock niay be beneficially

owned directly or indirectly by five or fes er individuals at any time during the last half of each taxable year oilier than the first

taxable
year

for which an election to lie REIT has been made Our ehaiter prohibits any perso or groups from O\5 ning niore than

9.8 in aloe of our outstanding stock or more than 9.8 in aloe or in number of shares hiehes er is more resti ictive of our

outstanding eoninion stock \vithout the prior appros
al otoor board of diteetors These pros isions may has the efThet of delaying

cleferring or preventing change in control of us including an extiaordinary transaction such as merger tender offer or sale of all oi

substantially all of our assets that might involve premiuni price for holders of our common stock lurther any person or group

attempting to purchase shares exceeding these limits could be compelled to sell the additional shares and as result to forfeit the

benefits of oss ning the additional shai es

Our cli arter peruzits our hoard of directors to issue pzefŁrred stock on terms that nza subordinate tIme rights o/the holders ofoui

current common stock or discourage third partjJiom acquiring us

Our board of directors is permitted subject to certain rest rietions set forth in our charter to issue
Ofi

to forty million shares of

preferred stock ss ithout stockholder approval Further our hoard niay classify or reclassify any unissued common or preferred stock

and establish the preferences conversions or other rights voting poss ers restrictions limitations as to dividends and other

distributions qualifications and ternis or conditions of redemption of the stock and may increase or decrease the aggregate number

shares or the ntmiber of shares of
any class or series that \ve have authority to issue without stockholder

appros al Thus our board of

diieetois could authorie us to issue shares of preferred stock with terms and conditions that could subordinate the rights of the holde

of our common stock or have the effeel of delaying deferring or preventing change in control of us including an extraordinary

transaction such as merger tender offer or sale of all or substantially all ofour assets that niight provide premium price for hofde

of our common stock
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Maryland law limits in sonic cases the alnlity of tlurd party to vote shares acquired in control share acquisition

IJndei the Mary land Contiol Shaic Acquisition Act peisons or entities owning control shares ofa Maryland corporation acquired iii

control share acquisition have no voting rights with respect to those shares except to the extent approved by vote of t\vo thirds of

the corporations disintercstcd stockholdei Shares of stock owned by the acquirer or by officers or by employees who are directors of

the corporation are not considcied disinterested for these purposes Control shares are shares of stock that taken together with all

other shares of stock the acquirer previously acquiied would entitle the acquirer to exercise voting poser in electing directors except

solely by sirtue ofa res ocable proxy ssithin one ofthe follow ing ranges of voting poser

onetenth or more but less than onethird of all voting power

one thu or more but less than majority of all voting power or

majority or more of all voting power

Control shares do not include shares of stock the acquiring person is entitled to vote as result of having previously obtained

stockholder approval control share acquisition means the acquisition of control shares subject to certain exceptions The Control

Share Acquisition Act does not apply to shares acquired in merger consolidation or share exchange ifthe corpoiation is party

the transaction or acquisitions approved or exempted by our charter or bylaws Our bylaws exempt acquisitions of our stock by

my person from the limits imposed by the Control Share Acquisition Act This statute could have the effect of discoui aging offers

froi third parties to acquire us and increase the difficulty of successfully completing this type of offer by anyone other than The

nland Group and its affiliates

Federal Income Tax Risks

twe fail to maintain our qualification as REIT our operations and distributions to stoc/clzolder.s will he adversely afftcted

We have elected to be taxed as RFIT under the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 as amended commencing with the year ended

eccmher 31 2009 Qualification as RFIT involves the application of highly technical and complex rules related to among other

hings the composition of our assets the income generated by those assets and distributions paid to our stockholders There are

imited judicial or administrative interpretations regarding these rules The determination of various factual matters and circumstances

ot entirely ss ithin our conti ol may affect our ability to continue to qualify as REIT In addition new legislation regulations

idministrative interpretations or court decisions could significantly change the tax laws with respect to qualification as REIT or the

ederal income tax consequences
of such qualification

we were to fail to qualify as 1111 without the benefit of certain relief provisions in any taxable year

we would not be alloss ed to deduct distributions paid to stockholders when computing our taxable income

we would be subject to federal including any applicable alternative minimum tax and state income tax on our taxable

income at regular corporate rates

we ss ould be disqualified from being taxed as REIT for the four taxable years following the year during hich ss failed

to qualify unless entitled to reliefundei certain statLitory po isions

we would has less cash to pay distributions to stockholders and

we may he required to borrow additional funds or sell some of our assets in order to pay corporate tax obligations we may
incur as result of being disqualified
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In addition if we ss crc to fail to qualify as Ritif xs ss ould not bc equirecl to pay
distributions to stockholdci and all disti ibutions

to stockholders that \\ did pay would be subject to tax as regular corporate dis idends to the extent of our current and accumulated

earnings and profits This means tbat under current lass hich is subject to change our U.S stockholders who are taxed as

individuals would be taxed on our di\ idends at long term capital gains rates through 2012 and that our corporate stockholdci

generally ss ould be entitled to the dividends received deduction with respect to such di idends subject in each case to applicable

limitations under the Internal Res enue Code

To maintain our REIT status we maj hefórced to borrow hinds during unfavorable niarket conditions to mizake distributions to

our stockholders whit/i could in crease our operating co.sts

To qualify as IT we must disti ibute to our stockholders each year 90c of our annual taxable income subject to certain

adjustments At times ss may not have sufficient funds to satisfy these disti ihution requii ements and may need to borro\v funds to

make these distributions and maintain our REIT status and avoid the payment of income and excise taxes These borrowing needs

could result from differences in timing between the actual receipt of cash and inclusion of income for federal income tax

purposes the effect of nondeductible capital expenditures the creation of reserves or required debt amortization

payments We may need to borrow funds at times when market conditions arc unfas orable Further if we are tmable to horro\s funds

\vhen needed foi this purpose ss ould have to find alternative soui ces of funding or risk losing our status as REIT

Certain of our business activities are potentialij subject to time prohibited tran.saction tax

Our ability to dispose of property during the first tsvo years folloa ing acquisition is restricted to substantial extent as result of our

REIT status Under applicable provisions of the Internal Revenue Code regarding prohibited transactions by REITs \vc \vill be subjec

to I000 tax on any gain realized on the sale or other disposition of any property other than foreclosure property we oss directly

or through any subsidiary entity excluding our taxable RE1T subsidiaries that is deemed to be inventory or property held primai ily

foi sale to customers in the ordinary couise of trade or business Determining whether propeity
is in entory or other\s ise held

primarily for sale to customers in the oidinary course of trade or business depends on the paiticular facts and cicumstances

surrounding each
property

We cannot provide assurance that
any particular property \ve oss directly or through any subsidiary

entity excluding our taxable REIT subsidiaries ss ill not he treated as ins entory or propeity held primarily for sale to customers in the

ordinary course of trade or business

Certain fees paid to us may af/Łct our REIT status

Income received in the nature of rental subsidies orient guarantees in some cases may not qualify as rental income tiom real estate

and could be characterized by the Internal Revenue Service as nonqualifying income for purposes of satisfy ing the 75c and 950

gross income tests required for REIT qualification If the aggregate of non qualifying income under the 95c gross income test in any

taxable yeai ever exceeded 50 of our gross rexenues for the taxable year or non-qualifying income under the 75 gross income test

any taxable year ever exceeded 25 of our gross res enues for the taxable year we could lose our REIT status for that taxable year an

the four taxable years folloss ing the year of losing our RFIT status

Coniplying wit the REIT requirements mnaj force its to liquidate otherwise attractiie in vestnzents

To qualify as REIT sve niust ensure that at the end of each calendar quartci at least 75o of the aluc of our assets consists of cash

cash items gos ernment securities and qualified RFIT real estate assets including shares of stock in other RFITs certain moitgage

loans and moi tgage backed securities The remainder of our ins estment in secui ities other than gos ernmental securities qualified ea

estate assets and taxable RE IT subsidiaries generally cannot include more than l0 of the outstanding oting securities of
any one

issuer or moie than l0of the total alue of the outstanding securities of any one issuei
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addition in general no more than Sc of the value of our assets other than go\ernment securities qualified real estate assets and

axable REIT subsidiai ies can consist of the securities of any one issuer and no more than 25 ot the alue of our total securities can

represented by securities of one or more taxable REIT subsidiaries lfwe fail to comply with these requirements at the end of any

alendar quarter we must correct the failure within thirty days after the end of the calendar quarter to avoid losing our REIT status and

uffering adverse tax consequences As result we may he required to liquidate otherwise attractive investments which iii the case of

oreign stockholders may impose withholding tax obligation on us

he taxable nwrtgage pool rules ma increase the taxes that ne ot our stochholders incur and map limit the manner in which we

on duct securitizations

Ve may make in estments in entities that os or are deemed to be taxable mortgage pools Similarly ifwe secui iti7e mortgages

ertain of our securitizations could be considered to result in the crcation of taxable mortgage pools for federal income tax purposes

RFJT provided that we own 100c of the equity interests in taxable mortgage pool we generally would not he adversely

ffected by the characterization of the securitization as taxable mortgage pool Certain categories of stockholders boss ever such as

areign stockholders eligible for treaty or other benefits stockholders with net operating losses and certain tax-exempt stockholders

iat are subject to unrelated business income tax could be subject to increased taxes on portion of their dividend income from us that

attributable to the taxable mortgage pool which in the case of foreign stockholders may be imposed as withholding tax

bligation on us In addition to the extent that our stock is ow ned tax exempt disqualified organizations such as certain

overnment-related entities and charitable remainder trusts that are not subject to tax on unrelated business income we will incur

orporate-level tax on portion of our income from the taxable mortgage pool In that case sse are authori7ed to reduce and intend to

duce the amount of our distributions to any disqualified organi/ation whose stock ownership gave rise to the tax Moreover we

ould be precluded from selling equity interests in these securitizations to outside investors or selling any debt securities issued in

onnection with these securitizations that might he considered to he equity interests for federal income tax purposes These limitations

iay prevent us from using certain techniques to maximize our returns from securitization transactions

tockholders ma have tax liability on distributions that the elect to reinvest in our common stock

tockholders who participate in our distribution reins estment plan ss ill he deemed to have received and for income tax purposes ss ill

taxed on the fair market value of the share of our common stock that they receive in lieu of cash distributions As result unless

te stockholder is tax exempt entity he or she will have to use funds from other sources to pay his or her tax liability

certain circumstances we may be subject to federal state and local income taxes as REIT which would reduce our cash

iailable to pay distributions

yen ifwe maintain our status as REIT we may become subject to federal state and local income taxes For example

We will be subject to tax on any undistributed income We will be subject to nondeductible excise tax on the

amount if any by which distributions we pay in any calendar year plus amounts retained for which federal income tax

was paid are less than the suni of 85o of our ordinary income 9500 of our capital gain net income and 10000 of our

undistributed income from prior years

If we have net income from the sale of foreclosure property that we hold primarily for sale to customers in the ordinary

course of business or other non qualifying income from foreclosure property we must pay tax on that income at the

highest corporate income tax rate

Ifwe sell property other than foreclosure
property that we hold primatily for sale to customers in the ordinary course of

business our gain would be subject to the l00 prohibited transaction tax

We will be subject to l00 penalty tax on certain amounts if the economic arrangements of our tenants our taxable

REIT subsidiaries and us are not comparable to similar arrangements among unrelated parties
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Certain equity participation in mortgage loans may result in taxable income and gains from these properties which could

adverse impact our REIT stat its

If we participate under mortgage loan in any appreciation of the properties securing the mortgage loan or its cash flow and the

Internal Revenue Service characterizes this participation as equity we might have to recognize income gains and other items from

the property This could affect our ability to maintain our status as REIT

Complying wit/i REIT requirements may limit our ability to hedge effectively

The REIT provisions of the Internal Revenue Code niay limit our ability to hedge the risks inherent to our operations Under current

law any income that we generate from derivatives or other transactions intended to hedge our interest rate risk generally will not

constitute gross income for purposes of the 75 and 95 income requirements applicable to REITs In addition any income from

other hedging transactions would generally not constitute
gross income for purposes of both the 75 and 95 income tests However

we may have to limit the use of hedging techniques that might otherwise be advantageous which could result in greater risks

associated with interest rate or other changes than we would otherwise incur

Legislative or regulatory action could adversely affect investors

Changes to the tax laws are likely to occur and these changcs may adversely affect the taxation of stockholder Any such changes

could have an adverse effect on an ins estment in our shares or on the market value or the resale potential of our assets You are urged

to consult with your own tax advisor with respect to the status of legislative rcgulatory or administrative developments and proposals

and their potential effect on an investment in our sharcs

The maximum tax rate on qualified dividends paid by corporations to individuals is 15c through 2012 REIT dividends however

generally do not constitute qualified dividcnds and consequently arc not eligible for the cui rent reduced tax rates Therefore our

stockholders ss ill

pay
fcderal income tax on our dis idends at the applicable ordinary income rate the maximum of which is 3500

through 2012

Hosveser as REIT we generally would not be subject to federal or state corporate
income taxes on that portion of our ordinaiy

income or capital gain that we distribute currently to our stockholders and we thus expect to avoid the double taxation to which

other corporations are typically subject

Future legislation might result in Rb IT having fess er tax ads antaget and it could become moi advantageous for company that

invests in real estate to elect to be taxed for federal income tax purposes as corporation As result our charter provides our board

of directors ss ith the posser tinder certain circumstances to revoke or otherss ise terminate our REIT election and cause us to be taxed

as corporation ss ithout the ote of our stockholders Our board of directors has fiduciary duties to us and our stockholders and coul

only cause changes in our tax treatment if it determines ui good thith that such changes are in the best interest of our stockholders

Item lB Unresolved Staff Comments

one
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Item Properties

We Own interests in retail office and multi-family properties As of December 31 2010 we through our wholly-owned subsidiaries

own fee simple interests in all of the properties listed below except for the Temple Terrace property in which we have controlling

interest in the joint venture Certain properties are encumbered by mortgages totaling 3184364.628

Economic

Ph cical flecupanes

Occupanc as of as of

Square December 31 December 31

Propert Location Footage/Units 2010 2010

Retail

Merrimack Village Center Merrimack NH 82292 97o 9700

Pleasant Hill Commons Kissimmee FL 70642 9500 95o

Regal Court Shreveport LA 363174 98c 98o

Draper Crossing Draper UT 166895 95o 98o

Tradition Village Center Port St Lucie FL 112421 94o 94o

The Landing at Tradition Port St Lucie FL 359775 92o 92a

Temple Terrace Temple TelTace FL 67226 l00o lOOo

Kohls at Calvine Pointe Elk Grove CA 89887 l00 lOOa

Lake City Commons Lake City FL 66510 1000o 10000

Publix Shopping Center St Cloud FL 78820 l00o l00a

Kohls Bend River Promenade Bend OR 69000 1000o l00o

Whispering Ridge Omaha NE 69676 0000 10000

Bell Oaks Shopping Center Nesburgh IN 94811 l00o l00o

Thlonial Square To\vn Center Fort Myers FL 272.1 84 69 1000o

Shops at Village Walk Fort Mers EL 78533 85o l00o

ima Marketplace Fort Wayne IN 99.734 94o l00
Dollar General Anton Anton AL 9.014 l00 l00o

nllar Genet al Collins Collins GA QO 14 l100o 10000

Dollar General Decatur Decatur AL 9014 1000o 10000

Dollar General- Dublin Dublin GA 10.640 l00 l000o

Dollar General- Duncan\ ille Duncanville AL 9.026 1000o l00
Dollar General- Excel Frisco City AL 8982 lOOo l00
Dollar General- LaGrange LaGrange GA 9014 l00o l00
Dollar General Milledgeville Milledgeville GA 9.014 l00 1000o

Dollar General- Uriah Uriah AL 9100 1000o l000o

Dftice

Building Buffalo Grove IL 105106 1000o 10000

lime Warner Cable Division HQ East Syracuse NY 102924 1000o 10000

Iulti-FarniIy

Crossings at Hillcroft Houston TX 300 units 90c 90
ortfolio Totals 2432428 sq ft

and 300 units 930 9700

Economic occupancy excludes square footage associated with an earnout component At the time of acquisition certain

properties have an earnout component associated with the purchase price meaning we did not pay portion of the purchase

price at closing although we own the entire property We are not obligated to pay the contingent portion of the purchase price

unless
space \\ hich was vacant at the time of acquisition is later rented within the time limits and parameters set forth in the

acquisition agreement
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The following table sets forth summary as of December 31 2010 of lease expirations scheduled to occur during each of the

calendar years
from 2011 to 2015 and thereafter assuming no exercise of renewal options or early termination rights The follosing

table is based on leascs commenced as of December 31 2010 and does not include multi-family leases

Percent orlotal

oss easabie Pci cent of fotal Total Annual iced Ann ui wed

umbet of ea of spit ut ii oss Leasable Base Rent of Base Rent of nnuai eed Base

Lease .pn atron spn inn eases Atea of \pirin eases Fspirinu Rent
per

Leased

Year Leases Square Iootaee Leases Leases Square Foot

2011b 20 51198 2.30n 1.087008 3.3nn $21.33

2012 14 66962 2.9na 1243.510 3.8na 18.44

2013 53 155431 6.8no 3072062 9.4o 19.76

2014 30 75.334 33no 1441305 44n 19.13

2015 11 30760 1.4 526334 l.6a 17.11

Thereafter 99 1893084 83.3c 25384168 77.5c 13.41

Leased Total 227 2.272769 100.000 32754387 100.0n $14.41

Represents the base rent in place at the time of lease expiration

Includes month-to-month leases

Item Legal Proceedings

We are not party to and none of our properties is subject to any material pending legal proceedings

Item Reserved
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PART 11

Item Market for Registrants Common Equity Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

\larket information

We are currently offering shares of our common stock pursuant to an eftŁctis registration statement at an ot ten ig price ot 10.00 per

in our best efforts offering There is no established public trading niarket for our shares of common stock We do not expect

hat our shares ss ill be listed for trading on national securities exchange in the near liiture if ever Our hoard will determine when

1nd if to apply to have our shares of common stock listed for trading on national securities exchange subject to satisfying existing

isting requirements Our board does not anticipate evaluating listing on national securities e\change until at least 2014

Stockholders

\s of March 25 2011 sse had 8.622 stockholders of record

istributions

We currently pay distributions based on daily record dates payable monthly in arrears The distributions that we currently pay are

qual to daily amount equal to 50.00164384 which ifpaid each day for 365-day period stould equal 6.000 annualiied rate based

purchase price of $10.00 per
share During the years ended December 31 2010 and 2009 we paid cash distributions which were

aid monthly in arrears to stockholders totaling 5703111 and $96035 respectis ely These distributions were funded entirely during

t009 and in part during 2010 from capital contributions from our Sponsor For federal income tax purposes for the years ended

ecember 2010 and 2009 190o and 100 of the distributions constituted non-dividend disti ibution respectively

Repurchase Program

lVe adopted share repurchase program effectis August 24 2009 On April 14 2010 our board appros ed certain amendments to

ur share repurchase program which became effective as of May 20 2010 Under the amended program we may make ordinary

epurchases which are defined as all repurchases other than upon the death of stockholder at prices ranging from 92.5 of the

share price as defined in the program for stockholders who have oss ned their shares continuously for at least one year but less than

ss years to 10000 of the share price for stockholders ss ho has oss ned their shares continuously for at least four years In the case

fexceptional repurchases which are defined as repurchases upon the death of stockholder we may repurchase shares at

epurchase price equal to 000o of the share price

Vith respect to ordinai repurchases we may make repurchases only if we ha\ sufficient funds available to complete the repurchase

any given calendar month ss are authoriLed to use onls the proceeds generated from our distribution reinvestment plan during that

nonth to fund ordinai repuichases under the program provided that if we have excess funds during any particular month we may
ut are not obligated to carry those excess funds to the subsequent calendar month for the purpose of making ordinary iepurchases

object to funds being available in the case of ordinary repurchases we further will limit the number of shares repuichased dtning

ny calendar year to of the number of shares of common stock outstanding on December 1st of the previous calendar year With

espect to exceptional repurchases we are authoriLed to use all as ailable funds to repurchase shares In addition the oneyear holding

eriod and 500 limit described herein will not apply to exceptional repurchases

he share iepurchase program will immediately terminate if our shares are listed on any national securities exchange In addition our

oard of directors in its sole discretion may amend suspend in whole or in part or In the event that \ve amend suspend or

rminate the share repurchase program hoss es er ss will send stockholders notice of the change at least thirty days prior to the

hange and we will disclose the change in report filed ss ith the Securities and Fxchange Commission on either Form 8K Porm

or Form 10K as appropi iate Fuither our board ieserves the right in its sole discretion at any time and fiom time to time to reject

ny requests for repurchases
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The table below outlines the shares of commoa stock we repurchased pursuant to our share repurchase program during the quarter

ended Decembet 2010

axioium Number or
Total urn hei of Approximate Do lIai

Shares Repurehased as Value of Shares 01

otal Nombei As eiage Pai tot Publicly Uuita that May Yet

of Shams Pt ice Paid Auuouuccd Plaits or Be Put chased liuder

Repurchased per
Share Proiams the Plaus or Piourams

October2010

November 2010 17095 $9.56 17095

Decembet 201 6892 $9.24 6892

Total 23987 23987

description ol the maximum number of shares that may be purchased under our repurchase program is included in the

narrative preceding this table

Securities Authorized for Issuance under Equity Compensation Plans

Nunc

Use of Proceeds from Registered Securities

On August 24 2009 out Registration Statement on Form S-I Registration No 333-153356 covering public offering ofup to

550000000 shares of common stock was declared effective by the SEC The Offering commenced on August 24 2009 and is

ongoing

We are offering 500000000 shares of our common stock at price equal to $10.00 per share on best efforts basis We also are

offering up to 50000000 shares of our common stock at price equal to $9.50 per share to stockholders who elect to participate in

our distribution reinvestment plan The dealer manager of this Offering is Inland Securities Corporation wholly owned subsidiary

our Sponsor

As of December 31 2010 we had sold the following securities in our Offering for the following aggregate offering prices

25650543 shares equal fo $254995942 in aggregate gross offering proceeds in our best efforts offering and

480715 shares equal to $4566789 in aggregate gross offering proceeds pursuant to the DRP

As of December 2010 we have incurred the following costs in connection with the Offering

pe
of Costs Amount

Offering costs to related parties $25361709

Offering costs paid to non-related parties 5272199

Total offering costs $30633908

Offering costs to telated parties includes selling commissions marketing contributions and due diligence expense

reimbursements paid to Inland Securities Corporation which reallowed all or portion of these amounts to soliciting dealers
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rom the effective date of the Offering through December 31 2010 the net offering proceeds to us from the Offering including the

Jistribution reinvestment plan after deducting the total expenses incurred described above were $228928823 As of December 31

010 we had used $168225629 ofthese net proceeds to purchase interests in real estate and $5716275 to invest in marketable

The remaining net proceeds were held as cash at December 31 2010 and were subsequently used to purchase interests in

cal estate

ecent Shares of Unregistered Securities

July 24 2008 we issued 20000 shares of our common stock for $10.00 per share or an aggregate purchase price of $200000 to

REIC in connection with our formation No sales commission or other consideration was paid in connection with the sale The sale

was consummated without registration under the Securities Act of 1933 as amended the Securities Act in reliance upon the

txemption froni registration set forth in Section 42 of the Securities Act as transactions not involving any public offering

tern Selected Financial Data

following table shows oor selected financial data relating to our consolidated historical financial condition and results of

perations This selected data should be read in conjunction with Item Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial

ondition and Results of Operations and the consolidated financial statements and related notes appearing elsewhere in this teport

December31 2010 December 2009 December 31 7008

Fotal assets 450114435 $26439298 $1298961

vlortgages credit facility and securities margins payable 192871495

otal income

1ct loss attributable to common stockholders

Jet loss attributable to common stockholders
per common share

basic and diluted

istributions declared to common stockholders

istributions per weighted average common

share

runds From Operations ab
ash flows provided by used in operating activities

ash flows used io investing activities

ash flows provided by financing activities

Veighted average number of common shares outstanding basic and

diluted

For the year ended

December 31 2010

18198452

1742989

For the
year

ended

December II 2009

96243

296933

Period rom one 30

2008 inception throoeh

Deeenihei 2008

69574

0.13

8203372

0.81
212.414

3.48

0.60

3910770

2657924

5346755583
369262054

0.15

268314

341922
59691004
$25369336

69574
34.429

434227

13671936 367888 20.000

The net loss attributable to common stockholders per
share basic and diluted is based upon the weighted average number of

common shames outstanding for the years ended December 31 2010 and 2009 and the period June 30 2008 through

December 31 2008 respectively The distributions per common share are based upon the weighted average number of common
shares outstanding for the year

ended or period See Footnote below for information regarding our calculation of FF0
One of our objectives is to provide cash distributions to our stockholders from cash generated by our operations and other

nieasures determined under U.S GAAP Cash generated from operations is not equivalent to our net income from continuing

operations also as deterniined under U.S GAAP One non-U.S GAAP measure that we consider due to the certain unique

operating characteristics of real estate companies is known as Funds from Operations or FF0

-37-



The National Association of Real state Investment Trusts or NAREIT an industry trade group promulgates this measure

which it believes more accurately reflects the operating performance of REIT such as us As defined by NAREIT FF0 means

net income computed in accordance with U.S GAAP excluding gains or losses from sales of property plus depreciation and

amorti/ation on real property and after adjustments for unconsolidated partnerships and joint ventures in which the Company

holds an interest fhe calculation of FF0 may vary from entity to entity since capitali7ation and expense policies tend to vary

from entity to entity Items that are capitalized do not impact FF0 whereas items that are expensed reduce FF0 Consequently

our presentation of FF0 may not be coniparable to other similarly titled measures piesented by othei REITs FF0 docs not

represent cash flows from operations as defined by U.S JAAP it is not indicative of cash available to fund all cash flow needs

and liquidity including our ability to pay distributions and should not be considered as an alternative to net income as

determined in accordance ith U.S GAAP for
purposes

of evaluating our operating performance Management uses the

calculation of FF0 for several reasons We use FF0 to compare our performance to that of other REITs Additionally we

compute FF0 as part
of our acquisition process to determine whether proposed investment will satisfy our investment

objecti\ es FF0 is calculated as follows

Pci iod 11cm

June 30 2008

Year ended Yeai ended droneS

Deeenibei 31 Deeemhei 31 Oeeember 31

2010 2009 2008

Net loss attributable to common stockholders 51742989 5296933 569574

Add Depreciation and amorti7ation related to investment properties 5669357 28.619

Less Noneontrolling inteiests share of depreciation and amortization related to

investment pi opei ties 15.598
____________ __________

Funds from operations 3910770 2683 14 569.574

Funds from operations attributable to common stockholders
per common share

basic and diluted 0.29 0.73 3.48

Weighted average number of common shares outstanding basic and diluted 13671936 367888 20000

Funds front Operations

For the years ended December 312010 and 2009 and the period from June 30 2008 through December 31 2008 our funds from

operations were 53910770 52683 14 and $69574 respectively The increase in 2010 compared to 2009 and 2008 was mainly

due to the groMh of our portfolio and related property operations in 2010
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Item Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Certain statements in this Management Discuss ion and Analysis of Financial .onditions and Res u/is of Operations and elsewhere in

this Annual Report on Form 10 constitute forwardlooking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act

and Section 21E oJ the Securities Ercliange Act of 1934 as amended i/ic Evchange Act Words sac/i as mciv anticipates

expects intends plans believes seeks estimates would could should and variations of these words and

similar expressions are intended to ident ffy forward-looking statements

These forward-looking statements are not historical jdcts but reflect the intent belief or cut-rent expectations our management based

on their knowledge and understanding of the bus/ness and indus try the economy and other future conditions These statements are not

guarantees offuture performance and we caution stockholders not to place undue reliance on forward looking statements Actual

results may dWdr materially from those expressed or jbrecas ted in the forward-looking statements due to variety of risks

uncertainties and other factors including but not limited to the factors lis ted and described under Risk Factors in this Annual

Report on Form 10-K and the factors described below

we have limited operating history and are subject to all of the business risks and uncertainties associated with any new

business

our investment policies and strategies are very broad and permit us to invest in numerous types of commercial real estate

the number and type of real estate assets we acquire will depend on the proceeds raised in our public offering

the amount and timing of distributions may vary and there is no assurance that we will be able to continue paying

distributions in any particular amount if at all

no public market currently exists and one may never exist for our shares and we are not required to liquidate

we may borrow up to 3000o of our net assets and principal and interest payments will reduce the funds available for

distribution

we do not have employees and rely on our business manager and real estate managers to manage our business and assets

employees of our business manager two of our directors and two of our officers are also employed by our sponsor or its

affiliates and face competing demands for their time and service and may ha\ conflicts in allocating their time to our

business and assets

we do not have arms length agreements with our business manager real estate manageis or any other affiliates of our

sponsor

we pay significant fees to our business manager real estate managers and other affiliates of our sponsor

our business manager could recommend investments in an attempt to increase its fees which are generally based on

percentage of our invested assets and in certain cases the purchase price for the assets and

we may fail to continue to qualify as RET

5orward-looking statements in this Annual Report on Form 10-K reflect our management view only as of the date of this Report

ind may ultimately prove to be incorrect orfiilse We undertake no obhgation to update or revise forward-looking statements to

eflect changed ass umptions the occurrence of unanticipated events or changes to future operating results We intend for these

Orvvard looking statements to be covered by the applicable safe harbor provisions createclbv Section 27A of the Securities Act and

Section 21E of the Exchange Act
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The fo1los ing discussion and analysis relates to the
years

ended December 31 2010 and 2009 and the period from June 30 2008

inception through December 31 2008 and as of December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 You should read the following discussion and

analysis along with our consolidated financial statements and the related notes included in this report

Overview

We are Maryland corporation sponsored by IREIC and formed to acquire and develop commercial real estate located in the United

States and Canada We also may invest in other real estate assets such as interests in real estate investment trusts or REITs or other

real estate operating companies that own these assets joint ventures and commercial mortgage debt We may originate or invest in

real estate-related loans made to third parties or to related parties of or entities sponsored by IREIC Our primary investment

objectives are to balance investing in real estate assets that produce attractive current ield and long-term risk-adjusted returns to our

stockholders with our desire to preserve
stockholders capital and to pay sustainable and predictable distributions to our stockholders

At December 31 2010 the Company owned 25 retail properties two office properties totaling 2432428 square feet and one multi

family property totaling 300 units with seighted average physical and economic occupancy of93o and 97o respectively

On August 24 2009 we commenced an Offering of 500.000000 shares of our common stock at price of 10.00 per share on best

efforts basis through Inland Securities Corporation We also are offering up to 50000000 shares of our common stock at price of

59 50
per

share to stockholders who elect tn participale in onr DRP We elected to he taxed as RFIT commencing with Ihe lax year

ended December 31 2009 and intend to continue to qualify as REIT for federal income tax purposes

2010 Company Highlighti

In 2010 we completed our first full year of operations and continued to increasc our portfolio through the acquisition of well leased

high quality real estate Specific 2010 achievements include

Acquiring 27 properties totaling 2337136 square feet for approximately S356.4 million in real estate investment

Financing 16 properties through borrowing or assuming approximately $205.4 million in secured first mortgages

Closing on $25.0 million line of credit designed to give us short-term financing flexibility to timely close properties in

our acquisition pipeline

Declaring monthly distributions totaling $0.60
per share on an annualized basis

Generating gross proceeds excluding DRP proceeds totaling approximately $225.8 million from our Offering

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Our principal demands for funds are to acquire real estate assets to pay our operating expenses including property operating expenses

to pay principal and interest on our outstanding indebtedness to fund repurchases of previously issued common stock and to pay

distributions to our stockholders We generally seek to fund our cash needs for items other than asset acquisitions from operations

Our cash needs for acquisitions have been and will continue to be funded primarily from the sale of our shares including through our

distribution reinvestment plan as well as financing that is obtained concurrent with or subsequent to an acquisition Our Business

Manager its acquisition group Inland Diversified Real Estate Acquisitions Inc and IREA evaluate all of our potential acquisitions

and negotiate with sellers and lenders on our behalf Pending investment in real estate assets we temporarily invest proceeds from the

Offering in investments that yield lower retums than those earned on real estate assets
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otential future sources of liquidity include proceeds from secured or unsecured financings from banks or other lenders proceeds

iom lines of credit from banks or other lenders and undistributed cash floss from operations

ts of December 31 2010 the Offering had gencrated proceeds net of issuer costs and commissions the marketing contribution due

liligence expense reimbursements and other offering related costs the majority of which are reallowed to third party soliciting

totaling $228839297

ur current liquidity needs have primarily been to purchase investment properties and to pay distributions general and administrative

xpenses
and offering costs The Company funded the purchase of its investment properties through combination of proceeds from

ie Offering and financing secured by the properties portion of our distributions have been funded from monies provided by our

For U.S GAAP purposes these nionies have been treated as capital contributions from our Sponsor although our Sponsor

as not received and will not receive any additional shares for our common stock for making any of these contributions The

2maining portion of our distributions was funded from cash flows from operations

Jntil we generate sufficient cash flow ft om operations determined in accordance ss ith U.S GAAP to fully fund distributions some

all of our distributions niay be paid from advances or contributions from our Business Manager or IREIC or from the cash retained

us in the case that our Business Manager defers accrues or waives all or portion of its business management fee or waives its

ight to be reimbursed for certain expenses deferral accrual or ssaiver of any fee or reimbursement owed to out Business Manager

as the effect of increasing cash flow from operations for the reles ant period because we do not have to use cash to pay any fee or

dimbursement which was deferred accrued or waived during the relevant period We will however use cash at some point in the

.tture to pay any fee or reimbursement that was deferred or accrued here is no assurance that these other sources will be available to

md distributions in the future

L5 of December 31 2010 and 2009 the Company owed 54.13881 and 32460161 respectively to our Sponsor and its affiliates

dated to advances from these parties used to pay administrative and offering costs and certain accrued expenses which are included

due to related parties on the accompanying consolidated balance sheets These amounts represent non-interest bearing advances by

ie Sponsor and its affiliates sshich the Company generally intends to repay

asl Flow Analysis

June 30 2008

For the sear ended For the
year

ended inception through

neeemhei 31 2010 neceiiber 31 2009 necember 2008

let cash flows provided by used in operating activities 2657924 341922 34429
let cash flows used in investing activities 5346755583 5969 1004
let cash flows provided by financing activities 369262054 525369336 $434227

et cash provided by used in operating activities were 52.657924 $341922 and S34429 for the years ended December 31
010 and 2009 and the period June 30 2008 inception through December 31 2008 respectively These funds were generated

rimarily from property operations from our real estate portfolio and interest and dividends earned on our marketable securities and

ank accounts The increase from 2008 to 2010 is due to the growth of our real estate portfolio and related property operations in

010

et cash flows used in investing activities were $346755583 S9691004 and SO for the years
ended December 31 2010 and 2009

3d the period June 30 2008 inception through December 31 2008 respectively We used $330530362 and $9611879 during the

aars ended December 31 2010 and 2009 respectively to purchase properties S5713744 to purchase marketable securities in 2010
3d in 2010 $8852540 to fund restricted escrows required by our lenders related to certain property financing and potential eamout

ayments Generally these escrows are to be used for future capital expenditures such as tenant improvements and leasing

mmissions earnout payments or as additional collateral for our mortgages
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Our lenders control the timing of thc release of these escrows which may impact the availability of the funds for future use The

increase in nct cash flows used in investing activities from 2008 to 2010 is dLie to the growth of our real estate portfolio and

acquisition activity in 2010

Net cash flows pro ided by financing activities were S369.262.054 S25.369336 and $434227 for the years ended December 31

2010 and 2009 and the period June 30 2008 inception through December 31 2008 respectively Of these amounts net cash flows

from financing activities of $230367968 $29194763 and $200000 respectively resulted from the sale of our stock and our DRP
We generated $195058758 in 2010 from loan proceeds from borrowings secured by properties in our portfolio our line of credit

facility and margin on our securities portfolio We used $24304807 $5155077 and $796880 respectively to pay offering costs

We also used $24309317 in 2010 to pay principal payments of mortgage debt pay
down our line ofcredit and margin liabilities on

our securities portfolio We used $3025875 $20000 and $0 respectively to pay loan fee fees and deposits related to financing

related to our closed and potential acquisitions The increase from 2008 to 2010 is mainly due to full year of our Offering and

securing borrowings related to our investment properties in 2010

During the years ended December 31 2010 and 2009 we paid distributions in the amount of$7031l 18 and $96035 respectively ol

which $2889277 and $96035 respectively were funded from monies contributed by our Sponsor The remaining portion of our

2010 distributions was funded from cash flows from operations and advances by our Sponsor which were forgiven and treated as

capital contribution in 2011 see table below For U.S GAAP purposes the monies contributed by our Sponsor have been treated as

capital contributions from our Sponsor although our Sponsor has not received and will not receive any additional shares of our

common stock for making any of these contributions Our Sponsor previously inested $200000 at the time of our formation We did

not use any of this initial S200.000 contribution to fund these distributions There is no assurance that our Sponsor will continue to

contribute monies to fund future distributions if cash fiovs from operations or borrowings are not sufficient to cover them The

amount and timing of distributions may vary and there is no assurance that we will continue to pay distributions at the existing rate if

at all

summary of the distributions declared distributions paid and cash flows used in operations for the year ended December 31 2010

and 2009 follows

Distributions Paid

Distributions Cash Flosss

sear Ended listributions Declared Per Reinsested From Contributions

December 31 Declared Share ti Cash sia DRP Total Operations by IREIC

2010 8203372 0.60 2.530.117 4501001 7031118 2657924 2889.277.

2009 212414 0.15 30.249 65787 96035 341922 96035

Assumes share was issued and outstanding each day during the year

Foutth quarter 2009 was the first quarter in vhich distributions were declared and paid

During 2010 IREIC contributed $2889277 to fund payment ofdistributions Subsequently on March 10 2011 IREIC forgavi

$1.5 million in liabilities related to non interest bearing advances that were previously funded to the Company For IJ.S GAAP

purposes this forgiveness of debt will be treated as capital contribution from our Sponsor although our Sponsor has not

received and will not receive any
additional shares of our common stock for making this contribution
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Results of Operations

folloss ing discussion is based primarily on our consolidated financial statements for the years ended December 31 2010 and 2009

and the period Fr orn Jtnre 30 2008 inception through December 31 2008

Comparison o/the years ended December 31 2010 and 2009

For the years ended December 20l0 and 200 our net loss attributable to common stockholders vas 1742989 and $296933

espectis ely and irrcl ucled the following components

Gross reenue tot the years ended December31 2010 and 2009 totaled 518.198.452 and $96243 respectively The increase in 2010

is clue to the 27 property acquisitions coriipared to one in 2009

Property operating expenses and real estate taxes for the
years ended Deceriiber 2010 and 2009 totaled $5583053 and $34173

espectis ely and primarily consisted of costs of owning and maintaining investnierit property real estate taxes insurance property

iiarrageriient lees arid other niairitenarice costs he increase in 2010 is due to the 27 property acquisitions coriipared to one in 2009

General arid adriiinistrative expenses during the years ended Deceniber 2010 and 2009 totaled $1872417 arid $223090

-espectively hese costs pr inrar ily consisted of legal audit arid other professional fees insurance board of director fees as well as

ertain salary infor riiatiori technology arid other adrninistrative cost reiriiburseriients paid to our Business Manager arid affiliates

Ihese results rrrcreased
corirpar

ed to year ended December 31 2009 due to the growth of the operations of the Coriipany and related

tier ease in operating costs

kcquisitiorr related costs during the years
ended Deceriiber 31 2010 arid 2009 totaled $1953181 arid $50288 respectively arid relate

acquisition dead deal and transaction related costs to both closed arid potential transactions These costs riiairily include thirdparty

Jue diligerrce costs such as appraisals environriiental studies legal fees as ssell as time arid travel expense reiriibursernerits to

rffiliates We do rrot pay aeqtrisition fees to our Busirress Manager or its affiliates The irier ease coniparecl to the year ended

eceriiher 31 2009 relates to irier eased aeqtrisitiori activity in 2010

rgariizationial costs for the year ended Deceriiher 31 2009 totaled 560042 arid related to formation costs for the Conipany No

irgarii7ational costs ssere incurred in 201

epreeiatiori and amorti/atiori expenses for the years ended December 31 2010 and 2009 totaled $5669357 arid $28619

espectively and consisted of depreciation on our irivestriient properties arid amortization expense resulting frorii the aniortization of

required lease intangible assets he increase in 2010 is due to the 27 property acquisitions conipared to one in 2009

riterest arid dividend irrcorrre for the years ended December 31 2010 arid 2009 totaled $358243 and $3036 respectively This

riter est and div idnd income sas carried frorii the short terni irivestriient of our cash arid interest and dividends earned on our

narketable securities portfolio The increase was mainly due to an increase in average cash balances and the purchase of marketable

ecuritics in 2010 There were rio such purchases in 2009

nterest expense fiji the years ended Deeerriber 31 2010 urrd 2009 totaled $4522070 arid $0 respectively and was primarily related to

nortgage borrowings secured by the properties in our portfolio We incurred no interest expense
in the year ended December 31 2009

rs we had rio borrowings outstanding as of December 2009 As of Deeeniber 2010 our weighted average stated interest rate

vas 5.16 per aririurii

4oricontrollirig interest represents the interests ofa third party in the Feriiple Terrace consolidated joint enture which was forrned in

lie thiir cI qLrarter of 2010
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Comparison of the jear endet/ December 31 2009 and the period tronz Inne 30 2008 inception throng/i December 31 2008

Although oor results of operations include income and expenses incurred for the year ended December 31 2009 we did not purchase

our first property until December II 2009 Our net loss attributable to common stockholders was $296933 and $69574 for 2009 and

2008 rcspectivcl and included the following components for the applicable periods

Gross C\ cnue fbr year ended December 2009 totaled $96243 which consisted of $64175 in tenant rental income and $32068 in

property operating expense
recoveries from tenants Property operating expenses

and ical estate taxes for 2009 totaled $34 1/3 and

primarily consisted of costs of owning and maintaining investment property real estate taxes insurance and oilier maintenance costs

Organiiational expenses
for year ended December 2009 and the period from June 30 2008 through December 31 2008 totaled

$60042 and 22988 respectively and primarily consisted of legal and other costs to form the Company

General and administrative expenses for year ended December 2009 and the period from June 30 2008 through Decembei 31
2008 totaled $223090 and $46586 respectively and primarily consisted of legal audit and other professional fees insurance board

of director fees as well as certain salary infoimation technology and other administrative cost reimbursements paid to our Business

Manager and affiliates

Acquisition related costs for year ended December 2009 totaled $50288 and relate to acquisition dead deal and transaction

related costs to both closed and potential transactions These costs mainly include thirdparty due diligence costs such as appraisals

environmental studies legal fees as well as time and travel expense reimbursements to affiliates We do not pay acquisition fees to our

business manager or its affiliates

Depreciation and amortiiation expenses for year ended December 2009 totaled $28619 and are result of depreciation on our

investment propci ty in the amount of $16714 and amortization expense resulting from the amorti ation of acquired lease intangible

assets totaling $1 1905

Inteicst income for year ended December 2009 totaled $3036 and was earned from the shoit term investment ofoui cash

In vestment in Unconsolidated Entities

In 2009 we became member ofa limited liability company formed as an insurance association captive the Insurance Captive
which is owned in equal proportions by us and three other RIElTs sponsored by the Companys Sponsor and serviced by an affiliate of

our Business Manager We entered into the Insurance Captive to stabilize insurance costs manage our exposures and iecoup expenses

through the functions of the captive program

Critical Accounting Policies

critical accounting policy is one that we believe would materially affect our operating iesults or financial condition and requires

management to make estimates or judgments in certain circumstances We believe that our most critical accounting policies relate to

the aluation and allocation of investment properties recognition of rental income our cost capitali7ation and depreciation policies

and consolidation and equity accounting policies These judgments often result from the need to make estimates about the effect of

matters that are inherently tmcertain U.S GAAI requires information in financial statements about accounting principles methods

used and disclosures pertaining to significant estimates The following disclosure discusses judgments kno\s to management

pertaining to trends events or uncei tainties that were taken into coiisideration upon the application of critical accounting policies and

the likelihood that materially different amounts would be reported upon taking into consideration different conditions and

assu mpt ions
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onsolidation

lie accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company as well as all wholly owned subsidiaries

nd entities iii hich the Conipany has controlling financial interest Interests of third parties in these consolidated entities arc

fleeted as noneontrolling intcrests in the acconipanying consol idatcd financial statements Wholly-owned subsidiaries gencrally

onsist of limitcd liability conipanics LLC5 All intercompany balances and transactions have becn eliminated in consolidation

ach piopety is owned by separate legal entity which maintains its own books and financial records

ffering and Orgaiational Costs

osts associated with the Offering will be deferred and charged against the
gross proceeds of the Offering upon the sale of shares

orniation and organi7ational costs will be expensed as incurred

ash and Cash Equivalents

Ve consider all demand deposits and money market accounts and all short-term investnients with maturity of three nionths or less at

date of purchase to he cash equivalents We maintain our cash and cash equivalents at financial institutions The combined

ocount balances at one or niore institutions periodically exceed the Federal Depository Insurance Corporation FDIC insurance

average and as result there will be concentration of credit risk related to aniounts on deposit in excess of FDIC insurance

average We believe that the risk is not significant as we do not anticipate the financial institutions non-performance

estricted Cash and Escrows

estricted cash and the offsetting liability which is recorded in accounts payable and accrued expenses
in the accompanying

ansolidated balance sheets consist of funds received from investors relating to shares of the Company to be purchased by such

ivestors Restricted eserows primarily consist of cash held in escrow based on lender requirements for collateral or funds to be used

the payment of insurance real estate taxes tenant improvements leasing commissions and acquisition related earnouts

evenue Recognition

Ic commence revenue recognition on our leases based on number of factors In most eases revenue recognition under lease

gins when the lessee takes possession of or controls the physical use of the leased asset Generally this occurs on the lease

mmeneement date The determination of who is the owner for accounting purposes of the tenant improvenients determines the

iture of the leased asset and when revenue recognition under lease begins If we are the owner for accounting purposes of the

nant improvements then the leased asset is the finished space and revenue recognition begins when the lessee takes possession of

finished space typically when the improvements are substantially complete

we conclude we are not the owner for accounting purposes of the tenant improvements the lessee is the owner then the leased

set will be the uniniproved space and any tenant improvement allowances funded under the lease are treated as lease incentives

hich reduces revenue recognized over the term of the lease In these circumstances we begin revenue recognition when the lessee

kes possession of the uniniproved space for the lessee to construct their own improvenients We consider number of different

etors to evaluate whether it or the lessee is the owner of the tenant improvements for accounting purposes The determination of who

wns the tenant improvements foi accounting purposes is subject to significant judgment

te reeogni7e rental income on straight-line basis over the term of each lease The difference between rental income earned on

raight-line basis and the cash rent due under the provisions of the lease agreements is recorded as deferred rent receivable and is

eluded as component of accounts and rents receivable in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets
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Due to the impact of the straight line basis rental income generally will be greater than the cash collected in the caily yeats and

decrease in the later years of lease We periodically rcview the collectability of outstanding receivables Allowances are taken for

those balances that se deem to be uncollectible including any amounts telating to straight-line rent teceivables

Reimbursements from tenants for recoverable real estate tax and operating expenses are accrued as revenue in the
pci

md the

applicable expenses are incurred We make certain assumptions and judgments in estimating the reimbursements at the end of each

reporting pet
md We do tint expect

the aetnal results to materially differ front the estimated reimhiusement

We recognize lease termination income if there is signed termination letter agreement all of the conditions ot the agi cement have

been met the tenant is no longer occupying the property and amounts due are considered collectible Upon early lease termination

provide for losses related to unrecovered intangibles and other assets As lessor we defer the recognition of contingent rental

income such as percentage rent until the specified target that triggered the contingent rental income is achieved

Capitalization and Depreciation

Real estate acquisitions are recorded at cost less accumulated depreciation Improvement and betterment costs are capitalized and

ordinary repairs and maintenance are expensed as incurred

Costs in connection with the acquisition of real estate properties and businesses are expensed as incurred

Depreciation expense is computed using the straight line method Building and improvements are depreciated based upon estimated

useful lives of 30 years for building and improvements and 5-15 years for furniture fixtures and equipment and site improvements

Tenant improvements are aniortized on straight line basis over the life of the related lease as component ofdcptcciation and

amortization expense

Leasing fees are amortized on straight-line basis over the life of the related lease as component of depreciation and amottization

Loan fees are amortized on straight-line basis which approximates the effective interest method over the life of the iclatcd loans as

component of interest expense

The portion of the purchase price allocated to acquired above market lease costs and acquited below market lease costs ate amortized

on straight-line basis over the life of the related lease as an adjustment to net rental income Acquired in-place lease costs and other

leasing costs are amortized on straight-line basis over the weighted average remaining lease term as component of amortization

expense

Cost capitalization and the estimate of useful lives require judgment and include significant estimates that can and do change

Fair Value Measurements

We estimate fair value using available market information and valuation methodologies we believe to be apptopriate for these

purposes Considerable judgment and high degree of subjectivity are involved in developing these estimates and aecoiditigly they

are not necessarily indicative of amounts that would be realized upon disposition
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We define fair value based on the price that would be received upon sale of an asset or the e\it pnce that oulcl be paid to transter

iability in an orderly transaction between market paiticipants at the measurement date We establish tair value hieraichy that

rioritizes observ able and unobservable inputs used to measure fair value The fair value hierai ch Lonsists of three broad levels

Nhich arc described below

Level Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the
eiitity

has the ability to access

Level Observable inputs other than quoted prices included in Level such as quoted prices for similar assets and

liabilities in active markets quoted prices for identical or siniilar assets and liabilities in markets that are not active or

other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by observable market data

Level Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activ it and that are significant to the fur value

of the assets and liabilities This includes certain pricing models discounted cash flow methodologies and similar

techniques that use significant unobservable inputs

gquisition of Investment Properties

lVe are required to determine the total purchase price of each acquired investment property vvhich includes estimating an contingent

onsideration to be paid or receiv ed in future periods We are required to allocate the purchase pi ice of each acquired investment

uroperty between land building and improv ements acquired abov niarket and below market leases m-placc Icase value and any

tssumed financing that is determined to be above or below market terms In addition we are required to allocate portion of the

iurchase price to the value of customer relationships if any he allocation of the purchase price is an area that requires judgment and

ignificant estimates We use the inforniation contained in the independent appraisal obtained at acquisition or other market sources as

he basis for the allocation to land and building and improvements

le aggregate value of intangibles is measured based on the difference between the stated puce and the pioperty value calculation as

vacant We determine whether any financing assumed is above or below market based upon comparison to similai financing teims

br similar investment properties We also allocate portion of the purchase price to the estimated acquired in-place lease costs based

estimated lease execotion costs for similar leases as vv dl as lost ient payments during assumed lease up pci iod lien calculating as

vacant fair values We also evaluate each acquired lease based upon cuirent maiket rates at the acquisition date and we consider

arious factors including geographical location size and location of leased space within the investment propert tenant profile and the

redit risk of the tenant in determining whether the acquired lease is ahoy or below market lease costs

sfter an acquired lease is determined to be above or belovv market lease costs we allocate portion of the purchase price to such

bove or below acquired lease costs based upon the present value of the difference between the contractual lease rate and the

stimated market rate The determination of the discount rate used in the present value calculation is based upon the risk free rate

his discount rate is significant factor in determining the market valuation which requires ourjudgment of subjective factors such as

iarket knowledge economics demographics location visibility age and physical condition of the property

mpairment of Investment Property

Ve assess the carrying values of our respective long lived assets whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the

arrying amounts of these assets may not be fully recoverable Recoverability of the assets is measured by comparison of the carrying

mount of the asset to the estimated future undiscounted cash flows In order to review our assets for recoverability we consider

urrent market conditions as vvell as our intent vvith respect to holding or disposing of the asset I-air value is determined through

arious valuation techniques including discounted cash flovv models quoted market values and third party appraisals where

onsidered
necessary Level inputs
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If our analysis indicates that the carrying value of the long-lived asset is not recoverable on an undiscounted cash flow basis we

recognize an impairment charge for the amount by which the carrying value exceeds the current estimated fair value of the real estate

property

We estimate thc future undiscounted cash flows based on our intent as follows for real estate properties that we intend to hold

long term including land held for development properties currently under development and operating buildings recoverability is

assessed based on the estimated future net rental income from operating the property and termination value and ii for real estate

properties that we intend to sell including land parcels properties currently under development and operating buildings recoverabilit

is assessed bascd on estimated proceeds from disposition that are estimated based on future net rental income of the property and

expected market capitalization rates

The use of projected future cash flows is based on assumptions that are consistent with our estimates of future expectations and the

strategic plan we use to manage our underlying business However assumptions and estimates about future cash flows including

comparable sales values discount rates capitalization rates revenue and expense growth rates and lease-up assumptions which impac

the discounted cash flo approach to determine value are complex and subjective Changes in economic and operating conditions anc

our ultimate investment intent that occur subsequent to the impairment analyses could impact these assumptions and result iii future

impairment charges of the real estate properties

In addition we evaluate our equity method investments for impairment indicators The valuation analysis considers the investment

positions in relation to the underlying business and activities of our investments

Impairment of Marketable Securities

We assess our investments in marketable securities for changes in the market value of the investments decline in the market value

of any availablefor-sale or held-to maturity security below cost that is deemed to be other-thantemporary will result in an

impairment to reduce the carrying amount to fair value The impairment will be charged to earnings and new cost basis for the

security will be established To determine whether an impairment is other-than-temporary we consider whether we have the ability

and intent to hold the investment until market price recovery and consider whether evidence indicating the cost of the investment is

reco erable outweighs evidence to the contrary Evidence considered in this assessment includes the reasons for the impairment the

severity and duration of the impairment changes in value subsequent to year-end forecasted performance of the investee and the

general market condition in the geographic area or industry the investee operates in We consider the following factors in evaluating

our securities for impairments that are other than temporary

declines in REIT stocks and the stock market relative to our marketable security positions

the estimated net asset value NAV of the companies we invest in relative to their current market prices

future growth prospects and outlook for companies using analyst reports and company guidance including dividend

coverage NAV estimates and growth in funds from operations or FF0 and

duration of the decline in the value of the securities

Partially-Owned Entities

We consolidate the operations of joint venture if we determine that we are either the primary beneficiary of variable interest entity

VIE or have substantial influence and control of the entity The primary beneficiary is the party that has the ability to direct the

activities that most significantly impact the entitys economic performance and the obligation to absorb losses and right to receive the

returns from the VIE that would be significant to the VIE There are significant judgments and estimates involved in determining the

primary beneficiary of variable interest entity or the determination of who has control and influence of the entity When we
consolidate an entity the assets liabilities and results of operations will be included in our consolidated financial statements
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instances where we are not the primary beneficiary of variable interest entity or we do not control the joint venture we use the

uity method of accounting Under the equity method the operations of ajoint venture are not consolidated with our operations but

istead our share of operations would be reflected as equity in earnings loss on unconsolidated joint ventures on our consolidated

atements of operations and other comprehensive income Additionally our net investment in the joint vcnture is reflected as

vestment in and advances to joint venture as an asset on the consolidated balance sheets

EIT Status

te have qualified and have elected to be taxed as REIT beginning with the tax year ended December 31 2009 In order to qualify as

REIT we are required to distribute at least 900o of our annual taxable income subject to certain adjustments to our stockholders

Te must also meet certain asset and income tests as well as other requirements We ill monitor the business and transactions that

ay potentially impact our REIT status If we fail to qualify as REIT in any taxable year without the benefit of certain relief

ovisions we will be subject to federal including any applicable altemative minimum tax and state income tax on our taxable

come at regular corporate rates

ontractual Obligations

ie table below presents on consolidated basis our obligations and commitments to make future payments under debt obligations

icluding interest as of December 31 2010

Pa\ mooN due pm ed

2016 and

Total 2011 20122013 20142015 Thereafter

incipal payments on long-term debt $184193320 14.707112 427719 85902590 83.155899

terest payments on long-term debt 56160969 9310.882 17129.415 14945677 14744995

-edit facility 7000000 7000000

curities margin payable 1506867 1506867
_____________ ______________ _____________

tal $248861156 $25524861 S24557l34 S100.848267 97.900894

The long-term debt obligations excludes mortgage premiums associated ith debt assumed at acquisition of hich premium of

$171308 net ofaccumulated amortization is outstanding as ofDecember 31 2010

On January 2011 the outstanding principal balance of $7000000 was repaid to the lender

of December 31 2010 we had outstanding commitments to fund approximately $8955000 into the Temple Terrace joint venture

redevelopment project We intend to fund these outstanding commitments with proceeds from our Offering

provided partial guarantee on two loans of our subsidiaries making these loans recourse for 5000 of the unpaid principal from

ne to time and 100o of unpaid interest As of December 31 2010 the outstanding principal balance on these two loans totaled

0500000

om time to time we acquire properties subject to the obligation to pay the seller additional monies depending on the future leasing

occupancy of the property These eamout payments are based on predetermined formula Each eamout agreement has time

nit and other parameters regarding the obligation to pay any additional monies If at the end of the time period certain space has not

en leased and occupied we will not have any further obligation As of December 31 2010 we had liability ofSl2904371
3orded on the consolidated balance sheet in relation to the eamouts
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Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We currently have no off-balance sheet arrangements that are reasonably likely to have material current or future effect on our

financial condition changes in financial condition revenues or expenses results of operations liquidity capital expenditures or

capital resources

Subsequent Events

Wc have evaluated ents and transactions that have occurred subsequent to December 31 2010 br potential recognition and

disclosure in the consolidated financial statements in this Annual Report

Our board of directors declared distributions payable to stockholders of record each day beginning on the close of business on

January 1.2011 through the close of business on March 31 2011 Distributions were declared in daily amount equal to $0.0016438

per share which if paid each day for 365-year period would equate to 6.Oo annualized rate based on purchase price ofSlO.00

per share Distributions were and will continue to be paid monthly in arrears as follows

In January 2011 total distributions declared for the month of December 2010 were paid in the amount equal to

1.288.633 of which S478.335 was paid in cash and $810298 was reinvested through the Companys DRP resulting in

the issuance of an additional 85295 shares of common stock

In February 2011 total distributions declared for the month of January 2011 were paid in the amount equal to S139991

ofhich $5 17.788 was paid in cash and $882125 was reinvested through the Companys DRP resulting in the issuance

of an additional 92855 shares of common stock

In March 2011 total distributions declared for the month of February 2011 were paid in the amount equal to $1385503

of which 55 5521 was paid in cash and $869982 was reinvested through the Companys DRP resulting in the issuance

of an additional 91577 shares of common stock

On February 25 2011 our wholly owned subsidiary formed for this purpose acquired fee simple interest in 97011 square
foot

center known as Waxahachie Crossing located in Waxahachie Texas We purchased this property from an unaffiliated third party fo

$15.5 million Concurrent with closing we entered into $7.75 million loan secured by first mortgage on the property This loan

bears interest at fixed rate equal to 5.5500 per annum and matures on March 2u21

On March 10 2011 IREIC forga\e $1500000 in liabilities related to non interest bearing advances that were previously funded to

the Company For U.S GAAP purposes this forgiveness of debt will be treated as capital contribution from our Sponsor although

Sponsor has not received and will not receive any additional shares of our common stock for making this contribution

On March 42011 our wholly owned subsidiary entered into $8.38 million loan secured by first mortgage on the Lima

Marketplace property located in Fort Wayne Indiana which was acquired in December 2010 This loan bears interest at fixed rate

equal to 5.800o per annum and matures on April 1.2021

On March 92011 our wholly owned subsidiary acquired fee simple interest in 180758 square foot retail property known as

Village at Bay Park located in Ashwaubenon Wisconsin for purchase price equal to approximately $16.7 million

On March 11 2011 two wholly owned subsidiaries acquired fee simple interests in two retail centers 168814 square foot center

known as Prattville Town Center located in Prattville Alabama and 133674 square
foot center kno\vn as Northcrest Shopping

Center located in Charlotte North Carolina together referred to as the Collett Portfolio We purchased these properties for

approximately $54.0 million However spaces totaling 20294 square feet at Prattville Tovn Center and spaces totaling 1.625 squa

feet at Noithcrest Shopping Center are subject to earnout closings aggregating $2.7 million and $8.9 million respectively We will

be required to pay the earnouts on these spaces unless the spaces are leased or the tenants are paying full rent as the case may be

pursuant to the parameters set forth in the purchase agreement within thirty-six months of closing
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Dii March II 2011 our whOlly-O\vned subsidiary entered into $9.35 million interest rate swap associated with the variable rate debt

the Kohls Bend River Promenade prope1ty We will be making the fixed-rate payment over the life of the agreement and the

ounterparty will be paying us the variable rate payment This swap bears interest at fixed rate equal to 5.0lo
per annum and

iatures on November 2015

March 15 2011 we entered into an amendment to the Credit Facility to increase the borrowing capacity from $25.0 million to

50.0 million We will continue to ha\e the right provided no default has occurred and is continuing to increase the aggregate

apacity to $150.0 million All other material teniis under the Credit Facility remain unchanged

March 25 2011 our wholly-osned subsidiary acquired fee simple interest in 409747 square foot retail center known as

andstown Commons Shopping Center located in Virginia Beach Virginia We purchased this property froni an unaffiliated third

arty for $91.2 million Concurrent with closing we entered into $68.4 million loan secured by first mortgage on the property

his loan hears interest at variable tate currently equal to 3.26c
per annum and has one-year term and one-year extension

ption

of March 25 2010 sse have iaised total equity net of commissions marketing contribution and due diligence expense

imbursements of approximately $305.0 million and have issued approximately 33.8 million shares of common stock

em 7A Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

te niay be exposed to interest rate changes primarily as result of long-term debt used to purchase properties or other real estate

sets niaintain liquidity and Rind capital expenditures or operations We currently have limited
exposure to financial market risks In

idition as all long-term debt as of December 31 2010 except one mortgage payable and the Credit Facility is ata fixed rate the

ompanys exposure to interest rate changes is limited As of December 31 2010 we had outstanding mortgage debt totaling

184193.320 secured by mortgages on 16 of our properties at weighted average interest rate equal to 5.16 per annum and

eighted average maturity of 5.8 years

niay use derivative financial instruments to hedge exposures to changes in interest rates on loans secured by our assets and

vestments in commercial mortgage-backed securities Derivative instrunients may include interest rate swap contracts interest rate

or floor contracts futures or forward contracts options or repurchase agreements Our actual hedging decisions will be determined

light of the facts and circumstances existing at the tinie of the hedge and may differ from our currently anticipated hedging strategy

we use derivative financial instruments to hedge against interest rate fluctuations we will be exposed to both credit risk and market

Credit risk is the failure of the counterparty to perforni under the terms of the derivative contract If the fair value of derivative

ntract is positive the counterparty ill owe us which creates credit risk for us because the counterparty may not perform Market

is the adverse effect on the value of financial instrument that results from change in interest rates We will seek to nianage the

arket risk associated with interest-rate contracts by establishing and monitoring parameters that limit the types and degree of market

that niay be undertaken There is no assurance we will be successful

or board has established policies and procedures regarding our use of derivative financial instruments for

irposes of fixing or capping floating interest rate debt if it qualifies as an effective hedge pursuant to U.S GAAP for principal

riounts up to $50000000 per transaction
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Securities Price RLc/c

Securities price risk is risk that we will incur economic losses due to adverse changes in equity and debt security prices Our exposure

to changes in equity and debt security prices is result of our investment in these types of securities Market prices are subject to

fluctuation and therefore the amount realized in the subsequent sale of an investment may significantly differ from the reported

market value Fluctuation in the market prices of security may result from any number of factors including perceived changes in the

underlying fundamental characteristics of the issuer the relative price of alternative investments interest rates default rates and

general market conditions Additionally amounts realized in the sale of particular security may be affected by the relative quantity

of the security being sold We do not currently engage in derivative or other hedging transactions to manage our security pricing risk

While it is difficult to project what factors may affect the prices of equity and debt sectors and how much the effect might be the tablt

below illustrates the impact of ten percent increase and ten percent decrease in the price of the equities and debt held by us would

have on the value of the total assets and our book value of as of December 31 2010

iypoiheteal boo iypotheiical
1000

Oeerease is increase in

cost Fair value Market value Mat ket value

Lquity securities $3641275 $3822500 $3440250 $4204750
Debt securities 2004958 1987874 1789087 2186662

Marketable securities $5646233 5810374 $5229337 $6391412
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders

Inland Diversified Real Estate Trust Inc

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Inland Di ersilied Real Estate Trust Inc and subsidiaries as of

December 31 2010 and 2009 and the related consolidated statements of operations and other comprehensive income equity and cas

flows for the years ended December 31 2010 and 2009 and the period from June 30 2008 inception through Decembet 2008 Ii

connection with our audits of the consolidated financial statements we have also audited the financial statenient schedule III These

consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the management of Inland Div ersified Real Estate Trust Inc Our

responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements and financial statement schedule III based on our

audits

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board United States Thos

standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements arc free ol

material misstatement An audit includes examining on test basis evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial

statements An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management as well

evaluating the uverall financial statement presentation We believe that uur audits pruvidc reasonable basis for uur opinion

In our opinion the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly in all material respects the financial position of

Inland Diversified Real Estate Trust Inc and subsidiaries as of December 31 2010 and 2009 and the results oftheir operations and

their cash flows for the
years

ended December 31 2010 and 2009 and the period from June 30 2008 inception through

December 31 2008 in conformity with U.S generally accepted accounting principles Also in our opinion the related financial

statement schedule III when considered in relation to the basic consolidated financial statements taken as whole presents fairly in

all material respects the information set forth therein

Is KPMG LLP

Chicago Illinois

March 30 2011
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INLAND DIVERSIFIED REAL ESTATE TRUST iNC

Consojidated Balance Sheets

DeLember 20 IX cerriber II 2009

Assets

ssets

estnient properties note

Land 86662482 2500000

Building and impiovements 227681.929 5654068
Construction in progress 2394327

____________

Total 316738.738 8154.068

Less accumulated depreciation 3328937 16714

Net investment properties 313409801 8137354
ish and cash equivalents 40900603 15736208
stricted cash and escros note 9597.135 79.404

vestment in marketable securities note 5810374

vestment in unconsolidated entities notes and 189.861 188500

counts and rents receivable net ofallowance of S258938 and 50 2307.605 17.211

quired lease intangibles net note 73.778189 2041780
aferred costs net 2861863 20000
her assets 1259004 218841

tal assets 5450114435 s26439298

Liabilities and Equity

abilities

ortgages credit facility and securities margins payable note 192871 495

trued offering expenses 234629 26036
counts payable and accrued expenses 1290000 201848

stributions payable 1288.633 116379

crued real estate taxes payable 783275

ferred investment property acquisition obligations note 13 12904371

her liabilities 1979828 106845

quired below market lease intangibles net note 8.674351 509145

ie to related parties notes and 15 4138818 2460161

tal liabilities 224165400 3661414

mmitments and contingencies

ckholders equity

ferred stock $001 par value 40000000 shares authorized none outstanding

mmon stock $001 par value 2460.000000 shares authori7ed 26.120871 and 2958096
shares issued and outstanding as of December 2010 and 2009 respectively 26121 2958
ditional paid in capital net of offering costs of S30633908 and S621 8993 as of

December 31 2010 and 2009 respectively 231881728 23353847
cumulated distributions and net loss 10525.282 578921
cumulated other comprehensive income 164141

_____________

tal Company stockholders equity 221.546708 22777884

ncontrolling interests 4402327
____________

tal equity 225949035 22777.884

tal liabilities and equity $450114435 $26439298

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements



INLAND DIVERSIFiED REAL ESTATE TRUST INC

Consolidated Statements of Operations and Other Comprehensive Income

Period from

June 30 2008

Year ended Yea ended inception tlnougb

December 31 2010 Deeembei 31 2009 December 31 2008

Income

Rental income 14323524 64175

Tenant recovery income 3282089 32068

Other property income 592839
___________ _________

Total income 18198452 96243 ________

Expenses

Organizational costs 60042 22988

General and administrative expenses 1872417 223.090 46586

Acquisition related costs 953 181 50288

Piupet ty opel utitig expenses 3321058 21838

Real estate taxes 2261995 12335

Depreciation and amortization 5669357 28619

Business management fee related party

note 602802
__________ ________

Total expenses 15680810 396212 69.574

Operating income loss 2517642 299969 69574
Interest and dividend income 358243 3036
Realized loss on investment securities 2.532
Interest expense 4522070

Equity in income olunconsolidated entities 1361
_____________ ___________

Net loss 1647.356 296933 69574
Less net income attributable to noncontrolling interests 95633

_____________ ___________

Net loss attributable to common stockholders S1742989 S296933 S69574

Net loss attributable to common stockholders per common share basic

and diluted note 12 0.13 0.81 3.48

Weighted average number of common shares outstanding basic and

diluted 13671936 367888 20.000

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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INLAND DIVERSIFIED REAL ESTATE TRUST INC

Consolidated Statements of Operations and Other Comprehensive Income

continued

Period horn

moe 30 2008

Year ended Year ended inception tliiougli

Oeeetber 31 2010 Oeeernber 31 2009 Deeernbei 31 2008

omprehensive income loss

1et loss 81.647356 8296933 869574
ther comprehensive income

Jnrealized gain on in estment securities 161609

oss reclassified into earnings from other comprehensive income 2532
__________ _________

omprehensive loss 1483215 296933 69574
ess comprehensive income attributable to noncontrolling interests 95633

___________ ________

omprehensive loss attributable to common stockholders 81578848 8296933 869574

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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INLAND DIVERSIFIED REAL ESTATE TRUST INC

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Pci iod from

June 30 2008

Year ended eat ended inception through

Decemhcr 31 2010 Deeeinbei 2009 Deeembet 2008

isis floss liOn 0Ci at ions

loss .647.3n6 296.933 69774
1l its ments to econc de net loss to net cash 110 ided by used in operating

aeti shies

Depict anon and ainni iatinit s.669 37 28.619

mort mat isis @1 debt
prensi urn tnct naisci nn costs 79$ 58

Amni tication ot aequned ahos market leases 704.948 457

Antnrtiiatinn 01 acquired beloss nsai ket leases 749 77 2543
Sti aiht late ental income 573810 .396
Equity iii income of unconsolidated entities 1361
Discount on shaies issued to aftiliates 83240

Pa ment ut leasim lees 400

antics in assets and liabilities

Resti eted escross 29302

Accounts and ems ieceis at Ic net 1.5211893 11.815
thei sets 435032 123 16
Aecotints payable aitd seeuned expenses 766.185 68907 35145
Accrued cal tate ices pasahle 271.19
Dtltcr liahilnies 1.26773
Dtie to elated

paities 9811.622
____________

easls floss spins ided h1 In ed in opeiatinp
aunts ities 2657.924 341.922 134.429

sIt floss finns ins est isa act is it es

Pta liase nI ins est nseist
pi npei

ties 330530.362 9.611 .879

ttpitl cpcnsditnies untl tensnt
insprns

entents 1.617.073

Pnrcha ot nts estnsent seem ities 5.713.744

Sale us nts estmeist scent ities 67SIJ

Restricted cintss 8.852.740

Juts estittent nt nih nususliclated eistities 09.37 179.12
__________________

cash Onus used nt nts estinit aetis ities 34u57sss53 t6tt .lltt.t

__________________

It fists Ii nut utaitcntst aetis ties

Pi oceeds It nits ii let ito S$66 966 29.1 28.976 111000

Pi nc cetls Ii niss ilte di ideisct enss tisseitt pi not ani 4.sOl .002 6S.78

Sltares
epni

cltased 289526
Pa nseitt ol nttei ito eitsts 24.3148117 7.ISS077 796.880
Pt nueed mitt tntitt _aees pas aIsle 83.4 7.1111

Pi ineipal pa issents of
istnrtpasse

debt 21.172 426
Pi oceeds

Ii tsiss eretli at Ott 0000.000

15i usc pal pt isseists nit ci edit .ICI lit 300000
Pi nceeds rnits secttt ties stat sin debt 1.643.758

Princip
ii pa titeitts nit secin ties taut sits debt 136891

Pa itseist is bait lees and clelsissi Is 3125877 211
Disti ilsntsns sail 7131.118 96 137
Distrilsuutisins

pail tn tots nti sllntp itsteiet 03.306
Resti ieted esci utsss 79414
Itie to cIa ad itt es .429054 1131.107

ntsti hi it miss Ii ntss
sJtitttsiti $$9 777 96J3

casls finns
pins ided hs linnscuists aens ities 369262.054 25369.336 434227

uscrease inca It aisd cash equns alents 25164.395 17336.410 399798

Is aisd easbt equ is cit ts it Item nit iii
ti pci

iod 5.736208 39979$

It and cuslt ins alcists at ettcl ii l5i titd 40900.603 7736208 399 798

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements

-59-



INLAND DIVERSIFIED REAL ESTATE TRUST INC

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

continued

Pci iod hum

June 30 008

Ycai ended Year ended Ii ncipi in throuh

Deeembei 31 2010 December 31 009 Decemhei 31 2008

Supplemental diaclosui ol cash floss liii ormation

In conjunction tb the purchase of investment pi open es the ompany acquu ccl assets and

assumed liabilities as follows

Land 84162482 500000

nuilding and impi ovements 222027861 7674068

Construction in piogress 371632

Acquired in place
lease

intangibles 58s85l 56 2000000

Acquired above maiket lease intannihlca 16157478 54140

Acquu ed below mai ket lease intangibles 8414333 511688

Assumption of mortuage debt at acquisition 21 950745

Non cash nioi teage pi eiuiuni 1280323

Tenant impros ement payable 5720
Deterred investment property acquisition obligations 12848954

Other liabilities 2940678 95266
Restricted escrosss 758170

Accounts eceivable 245691

Deterred costs 2500

Othei assets 134611 II 6S

Accrued real estate tases 1054466
Noncontrol line intei est non cash

pi operty
contribution 4.400010

Purchase of investment
propei

ties 330530362 9611879

Cash paid ui interest 3854203

Suppleiuental sebedsile oh noncash investing and financing activities

Distributions payable l8863 116379

Accrued offering expenses 234679 67.036

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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INLAND DIVERSIFIED REAL ESTATE TRUST INC

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

December 31 2010 2009 and 2008

Organization

nland Diversified Real Estate Trust Inc Cs hich may be referred to as the Company we us or our was formed on June 30

008 inception to acquire and des elop diversified portfolio of commercial real estate investments located in the United States and

Thnada The Company has entered into Business Management Agreement the Agreement svitli Inland Diversified Business

elanager Advisor Inc the Business Manager to be the Business Manager to the Company The Business Manager is related

arty to our sponsor Inland Real Estate Ins estment Corporation the Sponsor In addition Inland Dis ersified Real Estate Services

LC Inland Diversified Asset Services LLC Inland Diversified Leasing Services LLC and Inland Diversified Development Services

LC ss hieh are indirectly controlled by the four principals of The Inland Group Inc collectively the Real Estate Managers serve

the Companys real estate managers The Company is authori7ed to sell up to 500000000 shares of common stock Shares at

10.00 each in an initial public offering the Offering hich commenced on August 24 2009 and up to 50000000 shares at $9.50

ach issuable pursuant to the Companys distribution reinvestment plan DRP
le Company provides the folloss ing programs to facilitate investment in the Companys shares and limited liqtndity for stockholders

he Company allows stockholders svho purchase shares in the Offering to purchase additional shares from the Company by

utomatically reins esting distributions through the DRP subject to certain share ownership restrictions Such purchases under the

RP are not subject to selling commissions or the marketing contribution and due diligence expense allossanee and are made at

rice of $9.50 per share

he Company is authot iied to repurchase shares under the share repurchase progi am as amended SRP if requested subject to

mong other conditions limds being available In any given calendar month proceeds used for the SRP cannot exceed the proceeds

roni the DRP for that month In addition the Company ss ill limit the number of shares repurchased during any calendar year to 500

the number of shares of common stock outstandiiig on December 31 of the
pres

ions year In the ease of repurehases made upon the

eath of stockholder howes er the Company is authoriied to use aiiy funds to complete the repurchase and neither the limit

garding funds as ailable from the DRP nor the 5o limit will apply The SRP will he terniinated iftlie Companys shares become

sted for trading on national securities exchange In addition the Companys hoard of directors in its sole direction may amend

Lispeiid or terminate the SRP

December 31 2t 10 the Company owned 25 retail properties two office properties and one multi family property totaling

432428 square feet and 300 units with weighted average physical occupancy of93o and an economic occupancy of 97

conomic occupancy excludes square footage associated ss ith an earnout component At the time of acquisition certain properties

ave an earnout component to the purchase price meaning the Company did not pay portioii of the purchase price at closing

lthough they oss ii the entire property The Company is not obligated to pay this contingent purchase price unless space ss hich was

acant at the time of acquisition is later rented within the time limits and parameters set forth in the acquisition agreenient note 13

Summary of Signilicnnt Accounting Policies

eneral

lie accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance ss ith U.S generally accepted accounting

rinciples U.S GAAP and require management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported aniounts of assets and

abilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements and the reported

ilounts of res enues and expenses dut ing the reporting periods Actual results could differ from those estimates
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INLAND DIVERSIFIEI REAL ESTATE TRUST INC

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 2010 2009 and 2008

Certain amounts in the prior period consolidated financial statements ha been reclassified to conform to the current year

presentation

Consolidation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company as well as all wholly-owned snbsidiaries

and entities in which the Company has controlling financial interest Interests of third parties in these consolidated entities are

reflected as noncontrolling interests in the accompanying consolidated financial statements Whollyowned subsidiaries generally

consist of limited liability companies LLCs All intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation

Each property is owned by separate legal entity which maintains its own books and financial records

Offering and Organi7atinnal Costs

Costs associated with the Offering were deferred and charged against the gross proceeds of the Offering upon the sale of shares

Formation and organizational costs were expensed as incurred

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all demand deposits and money market accounts and all short-term investments with maturity of three

months or less at the date of purchase to be cash equivalents The Company maintains its cash and cash equivalents at financial

institutions The combined account balances at one or more institutions periodically exceed the Federal Depository Insurance

Coiporation FDIC insurance coverage and as result there is concentration of credit risk related to amounts on deposit in

excess of FDIC insurance coverage The Company believes that the risk is not significant as the Company does not anticipate the

financial institutions non performance

Restricted Cash and Escrows

Restricted cash and the offsetting liability which is recorded in accounts payable and accrued expenses consist of funds received

from investors in the amounts of $279447 and $79404 as of December 2010 and 2009 respecti ely relating to shares of the

Company to be purchased by such investors Restricted escrows of $9317688 as of December 31 2010 primarily consist of cash hek

in escrow based on lender tequirements for collateral or funds to be used for the payment of insurance real estate taxes tenant

improvements leasing commissions and acquisition related earnouts note 13

Revenue Recognition

The Company commences revenue recognition on its leases based on number of factors In most cases revenue recognition under

lease begins when the lessee takes possession of or controls the physical use of the leased asset Generally this occurs on the lease

commencement date The deteimination of ho is the owner for accounting pirposes of the tenant improvements determines the

nature of the leased asset and when revenue recognition under lease begins If the Company is the owner for accounting purposes

of the tenant improvements then the leased asset is the finished
space

and revenue recognition begins when the lessee takes

possession of the finished space typically when the impro ements are substantially complete
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INLAND DIVERSIFIED REAL ESTATE TRUST INC

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

December 2010 2009 and 2008

if the Company concludes it is not the oss ner for accounting purposes of the tenant improvements the lessee is the owner then the

eased asset is the unimproved space and any tenant improvement allowances funded under the lease are treated as lease incentives

.vliieli reduces revenue recognized over the term of the lease In these circumstances the Company begins revenue recognition when

he lessee takes possession of the unimproved space
for the lessee to construct their own improvements The Company considers

mmber of different factors to evaluate whether it or the lessee is the owner of the tenant improvements for accounting purposes The

letermination of \\ ho owns the tenant improvements for accounting purposes is subject to significant judgment

ental income is recognized on straight line basis over the term of each lease The difference between rental income earned on

line basis and the cash rent due under the provisions of the lease agreements is recorded as deferred rent receivable and is

neluded as component of accounts and rents receivable in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets Due to the impact of the

traight line basis rental income generally will be greater than the cash collected in the early years and decrease in the later years of

ease The Company periodically reviews the colleetability of outstanding receivables Allowances are taken for those balances that

he Company deems to be uneolleetible including any amounts relating to straightline rent receivables

.eimbursements from tenants for recoverable real estate tax and operating expenses are accrued as revenue in the period the

tpplieable expenses are incurred The Company makes certain assumptions and judgments in estimating the reimbursements at the end

each reporting period The Company does not expect the actual results to materially differ from the estimated reimbursement

The Company records lease termination income if there is signed termination agreement all of the conditions of the agreement have

een met the tenant is no longer occupying the property and amounts due are considered collectible Upon early lease termination the

ompany pros ides for gains or losses related to unreeovered intangibles and other assets

lessor the Company defers the recognition of contingent rental income such as percentage rent until the specified target that

riggered the contingent rental income is achieved

oneentration of credit risk with respect to accounts receivable currently exists due to the small number of tenants currently

omprising the Companys rental revenue As of December 312010 Kohls Department Stores Inc and Publix Supermarkets Inc

eeounted for approximately I3 and 900 respectively of annualized consolidated rental revenue Annualized rental revenue is the

ionthly contractual base rent as of December 2010 multiplied by twelve months The concentration of revenues for these tenants

icreases the Companys risk associated with nonpayment by these tenants In an effort to reduce risk the Company performs ongoing

redit evaluations of its larger tenants

apitalization and Depreciation

teal estate acquisitions are recorded at cost less accumulated depreciation Improvement and betterment costs are capitalized and

rdinary repairs and maintenance are expensed as incurred

osts in connection svith the acquisition of real estate properties and businesses are expensed as incurred

epreeiation expense is computed using the straight line method Building and improvements are depreciated based upon estimated

seful lives of 30 years for building and improvements and 5-15 years for furniture fixtures and equipment and site improvements

epreeiation expense was S33 12223 and $16714 for the years ended December 31 2010 and 2009 respectively
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INLAND DIVERSIFIED REAL ESTATE TRUST INC

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31 2010 2009 and 2008

Tenant improvements are amortized on straight line basis over the life of the related lease as component of depreciation and

amortization expensc

Leasing fees aie amortized on stiaight-line basis over the life of the related lease as component of depreciation and amortization

expense

Loan fees are amortized on straight line basis which approximates the effective interest method over the life of the related loans as

component of interest expense

Cost capitalization and the estimate of useful lives require judgment and include significant estimates that can and do change

Fair Value Measurements

The Company has estimated fair value using available market information and valuation methodologies the Company believes to be

appropriate for these purposes Considerable judgment and high degree of subjectivity are involved in developing these estimates

and accordingly they are not necessarily indicative of amounts that would be realized upon disposition

The Company defines fair value based on the price that ould be received upon sale of an asset or the exit price that would be paid to

transfer liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date The Company establishes fair

alue hierarchy that prioritizes observable and unobser able inputs used to measure fair value The fair value hierarchy consists of

three broad le cls which are described below

Level Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity has the ability to access

Le el Observable inputs other than quoted prices included in Level such as quoted prices for similar assets and

liabilities in active maikets quoted pi ices for identical or similar assets and liabilities in markets that are not active oi

other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by observable market data

Level Unobservable inputs that arc supported by little or no market activity and that are significant to the fair value of

the assets and liabilities This includes certain pricing models discounted cash fio methodologies and similar technique5

that use significant unobservable inputs

Acquisition of Investment Properties

Upon acquisition the Company determines the total purchase price of each pi apcrty note hich includes the estimated contingent

consideration to be paid or received in future periods note 13 The Company allocates the total purchase price of properties and

businesses based on the fair value of the tangible and intangible assets acqtnred and liabilities assumed based on Level inputs such

as comparable sales values discount rates capitalization rates revenue and expense growth rates and lease-up assumptions from

third party appraisal or other market sources

The portion of the purchase price allocated to acquired abo\ market lease value and acquired below market lease value are amortizec

on straight line basis over the terni of the related lease as an adjustment to rental income
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INLAND DIVERSIFIED REAL ESTATE TRUST INC

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31 2010 2009 and 2008

or beloss market lease values the amortization period includes ans renessal periods tb fixed rate renewals Amorti7ation pertaining

the aho\ market lease alue of S70448 and S4 S5 as eeorded as reduction to rental income for the years ended December

2010 and 2009 respecti\ el Amortization pertaining to the heloss market lease value of 8249.127 and S243 \sas recorded as an

nerease to rental income for the years ended December 31 2010 and 2009 respectisely

The poition of the purchase price allocated to acquired inplace lease alue is amortized on straight line basis os er the weighted

i\ erage remaining term The Company incurred amortization expense pertaining to acquired in place lease intangibles of 82301 677

md SI 1905 for the years ended December 201 and 2009 respecti\ ely The portion of the purchase price allocated to customer

elationship value is amortized on straight line basis O\ er the weighted erage remaining lease term As of December 31 2010 no

uount has been allocated to customer relationship value

follo\s ing table sunimarizts the Companys identified intangible assets and liabilities as of December 31 2010 and 2009

December

nin 2n09

Intangible assets

Acquired in place lease \alue 560.585.156 2000000

Acquired abose market lease value 16211618 54140
Accumulated amortization 301 8585 12360

Acquired lease intangibles net 573.778189 2041780

Intangible liabilities

Acquired helo\s market lease \alue 8.926.021 511688

Accumulated amortization 251670 2543

Acquired below market lease intangibles net 8674351 509145

ks of December 31 2010 the weighted aserage amortization periods for acquired in-place lease above market lease and below

iarket lease intangibles are 15 13 and 29 years respectively

stimated amortization expense of the respective intangible lease assets as of December 31 2010 for each of the five succeeding years

as follosvs

in place leases Ahose market leases Betow market leases

2011 6066550 1642.233 523.292

2012 4.515.641 1547097 501981

2013 4515641 1.417780 439099

2014 4.515641 1202453 428490

2015 4515641 1172.554 362280

Thereafter 34142.460 8524498 6419209

Total S58271574 15.506.615 58.674351
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INLAND DIVERSIFIED REAL ESTATE TRUST INC

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31 2010 2009 and 2008

Impairment of Investment Properties

The Company assesses the carrying values of its respective long lived assets whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate

that the carrying amounts of these assets may not be fully recoverable Recoverability of the assets is nieasured by comparison of the

carrying amount of the asset to the estimated future undiscounted cash flows In order to res iew its assets for recoverability the

Company considers current market conditions as well as its intent with respect to holding or disposing of the asset Fair value is

determined through various valuation techniques including discounted cash flow models quoted market values and third part

appraisals where considered necessary Level inputs If the Companys analysis indicates that the carrying value of the long lived

asset is not recoverable on an undiscounted cash flow basis the Company recognizes an impairment charge for the amount by which

the carrying value exceeds the current estimated fair value of the real estate property

The Company estimates the future undiscounted cash flows based on managements intent as follows for real estate properties that

the Company intends to hold long-term including land held for development properties currently under development and operating

buildings recoverability is assessed based on the estimated future net rental income from operating the property and termination

value and ii for real estate properties that the Company intends to sell including land parcels properties currently under

development and operating buildings recoverability is assessed based on estimated proceeds from disposition that are estimated based

on future net rental income of the property and expected market capitaliLation rates

The use of projected future cash flows is based on assumptions that are consistent with our estimates of future expectations and the

strategic plan the Company uses to manage its underlying business Hos ever assumptions and estimates about future cash flows

including comparable sales values discount rates capitalization rates revenue and expense growth rates and lease-up assumptions

which impact the discounted cash flow approach to determining value are complcx and suhjecti\ Changes in economic and

operating conditions and the Companys ultimate investment intcnt that occur subsequent to thc impairment analyses could impact

these assumptions and result in future impairment charges ol the real estate properties

During the years ended December 31 2010 and 2009 the ompany incurred no impairment charges

Impairment of Marketable Securities

The Company assesses the in estments in marketable securities for chances in the market alue of the investments decline in the

market value of any available-for-sale or held-to-maturity security below cost that is deemed to be other-than-temporary will result in

an impairment to reduce the carrying amount to fair value using Levcl and inputs note The impairment ss ill be charged to

earnings and new cost basis for the security will bc cstablished To determine whether impaii mcnt is othcrthantemporary the

Company considers whether they have the ability and intent to hold the investment until market price recovery and considers

whether evidence indicating the cost of the investment is reeo erable out eighs idence to the contrary Evidence considered in this

assessment includes the ieasons for the impairment the severity and duration of the impairment changes in alue subsequent to year

end Ioreeasted pertormanee ol the investee and the general market condition in the geographic area or industry the investee operates

in The Company considers the following factors in aluating our securities foi impairments that are other than temporary

declines in the REIT and overall stock market relative to our security positions

the estimated net asset value NAy of the companies it in ests in relati\ to their current market prices

future growth piospeets and outlook for companies using analyst reports and company guidance including dividend

coverage NAV estiniates and growth in funds from operations or FF0 and duration of the decline in the value of th

securities

During the years ended December 2010 and 2009 the Company incurred no other-than-temporary impairment charges
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artia11y-Owned Entit

We consolidate the operations of joint venture if we determine that we are either the primary beneficiary of variable interest entity

VIE or have substantial influence and control of the entity The primary beneficiary is the party that has the ability to direct the

ictivities that most significantly impact the entitys economic performance and the obligation to absorb losses and right to receive the

eturns from the VIE that would be significant to the VIE There are significant judgments and estimates involved in determining the

rimary beneficiary of variable interest entity or the determination of who has control and influence of the entity When we
onsolidate an entity the assets liabilities and results of operations will be included in our consolidated financial statements

instances where we are not the primary beneficiary of variable interest entity or we do not control the joint venture we use the

quity method of accounting Under the equity method the operations ofajoint venture are not consolidated with our operations but

nstead our share of operations would be reflected as equity in earnings loss on unconsolidated joint ventures on our consolidated

tatements of operations and other comprehensive income Additionally our net investment in the joint venture is reflected as

nvestment in and advances to joint venture as an asset on the consolidated balance sheets

tEIT Status

le Company has qualified and has elected to be taxed as REIT beginning with the tax year ended December 31 2009 In order to

ualify as REIT the Company is required to distribute at least 90 of its annual taxable income subject to certain adjustments to its

tockholders The Company must also meet certain asset and income tests as well as other requirements The Company will monitor

ie business and transactions that may potentially impact our REIT status If it fails to qualify as REIT in an taxable year without

benefit of certain relief provisions it will be subjcct to federal including any applicable alternative minimum tax and state

-icome tax on its taxable income at regular corporate rates

ecent Accounting Pronouncements

iuidance issued in June 2009 amends pre iously issued guidance relatcd to consolidation These changes eliminate certain
scope

xceptions previously permitted provide additional guidance for determining hether an entity is variable interest entity and require

ompanies to more frequently reassess whether they must consolidate variable interest entities The changes also replace the

reviously required quantitative approach to determining the primary beneficiary of variable interest entity with requirement for an

nterprise to perform qualitative analysis to determinc whether the enterprises variable interest or interests give it controlling

nancial intercst in ariable interest entity Changes are cffcctive as of the beginning of the first annual reporting period that began

fter November 15 2009 for interim periods within that first annual reporting period and for interim and annual reporting periods

iereafter The adoption of this ncs guidance did not have an impact on the Companys consolidated financial statements as there are

changes to which entities are consolidated at this time
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In January 2010 the Financial Accounting Standards Board FASB clarified pres iously issued guidance and issued new

requirements related to fäw alue measurements and disclosures The clarification includes disclosures about inputs and valuation

techniques used in determining fair alue and pros iding tiiir value measuiemeni information for each class of assets and liabilities

The new requirements relate to disclosures ol transfers betss een lesels the fairs alue hierarchy as well as the individual components

in the reconciliation of the lowest lesel Les el in the fair alue hierarchy This change in guidance was effectis beginning

January 2010 except for the provision concerning the reconciliation of activity of the evel fair value measurement which will

become effoctis on January 2011 The adoption of this guidance did not has material impact on the consolidated financial

statements or disclosures

Acquisitions

Daft Acquired _______________ ________________

1st Quarter

2/18 2010

2nd Quarter

5142010

5272010

102010

102010

Properf

Property Name ocation Segment

\pproimale

Square Purchase

rootage/tnits Price

70642 12375001

3rd Quarter

2010

2010

152010

30/20 10

25/20 10

831 2010

30/2010

4th Quarter

1001/2010

1102/2010

11 05 2010

11 05/2010

12/06 2010

12/21 2010

1231/2010

Pleasant Hill Commons Kissimmee FL Retail

Regal ourt Shre\ eport LA Retail

Diaper Crossing Draper UT Retail

Tradition Village Center Poit St Lucie FL Retail

The Landing at Tradition Poi-t St Lucie FL Retail

Temple Terrace Temple errace FL Retail

Kohls at Calvine Pointe Elk Giove CA Retail

Lake City Commons Lake City FL Retail

Publix Shopping Center St Cloud FL Retail

Kohls Bend River Promenade Bend OR Retail

Whispering Ridge Omaha NE Retail

Siemens Building Buffalo Grose IL Office

The Crossings at Hilleroft Houston TX Multi-Family

Bell Oaks Shopping Center Newburgh IN Retail

Colonial Square Town Center Fort Myers FL Retail

Shops at Village Walk Fort Myers FL Retail

Time Warner Cable Dis l-IQ East Syracuse NY Office

Lima Marketplace Fort Wayne IN Retail

Dollar General Portfolio Various AL GA Retail

363.174

166895

112.421

359.775

54226

89887

66.510

78820

69000

69676

105106

300 units

94.811

272184

78533

102.924

99.734

82818

2.337.136 sq ft

and 300 units

43 .453 .001

23.464.001

19827001

33.878.001

412001

21480001

10557.001

936300
700000

10150.00

20.50000

2067500t

309500t

2761 2.OOt

075300t

8050.OOt

524200t

8525001

8356.41100Total

The acquisition included an earnout component to the purchase price note 13
On July 2010 the Company through svholly ow ned subsidiary formed for this purpose entered into joint venture

agreement with an affiliate of The Vlass Group LC Vlass real estate developer speciali7ing in high density vertical

mixed-use developments in urban settings The purpose of the joint enture Temple Terrace is to acquire and redes elop

retail center The center is part of multi-phase i-cal estate des elopment project located in Temple Terrace Florida The property

currently consists of 67.226 square feet which is 000o occupied The remaining approxmiately 27.774 square
feet which is beint

redes eloped will be leased during the redevelopment process or after it is completed The Company and \Iass has 4900 and SF

ownership interests respectis ely in the venture The Company funded an initial contribution of 8412480 to purchase its 490

interest and Vlass contributed the pi opei ty to the venture The Company has contributed an additional SI 632.865 to the enture

as of December 201 and has commitment to contribute additional capital note

Portfolio totaled nine properties
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uring the year ended December 31 2010 the Company acquired through its wholly ow ned subsidiaries the properties listed above

or an aggregate purchase pi
ice of 356411 000 The Company financed these acquisitions with net proceeds from the Offering and

hrough die borrow ing of SI 8341 5.000 seemed by first mortgages on the properties and the assumption of mortgage loans troaling

ace amount of 521981341 and thir value of 822261664

uring the years ended Deeembei 31 2010 and 2009 the Company inenrred SI .953.181 and 550288 respeeti ely of acquisition

lead deal and transaction related costs that crc recorded acquisition costs in the consolidated statement of operations and other

omprehensive income and relate to both closed and potential transactions These costs include thirdparty dne diligence costs such as

ippraisals environmental studies and legal fees as well as time and travel expense reimbursements to affiliates The Company does

iot pay acquisition fees to its business manager or its affiliates

or properties acquired during the year
ended December 31 2010 the Compan recorded revenue of 16653.160 and property net

ncome of $2076345 not including related expensed acquisition costs

he follow ing table presents certain additional information regarding the Companys acquisitions during the year ended December 31

010 The amounts recognized for major assets acquired and liabilities assumed as of the acquisition date

Ieferi ed

\cq ii
ed In sestinent

lieloss Properis

\cquiu ed Market Acquisition

Buidtng and ease ease Obligalions

opei Name I.and Impros emenis Intangibles IniangilIes tunic 13

leasant Ilill Commons 5000000 5.199.520 2175.480

egal Court 6500.000 1.305.860 6769.396 1.284516

raper Crwing 8.tOOOOO 11.665.328 4.033.542 269.501 434000

radition Village Center 4400000 12702.079 3657084 89113

he Landing at Tradition 21090.000 25185.3 14 11790876 4.117126

emple Tenace 3.SOt000 825000 315925 240.925

.ohls at Calvine Pointe 3.437.000 9.262.628 8780372

ake Cits Commons 1583.545 7570.205 1.401041 15075

ublix Shopping Center 2.065000 6009000 1194.736 8.457

.ohls Bend River Promenade 440000 7.76456 3.795.474

Vhispering Ridge 2101439 6.444.561 1460.852

iemens Building 4.425740 9.880260 5811000

he Crossings at Hillcroft 1.240187 17.361715 2067.878

elI Oaks Shopping enter 1800.000 9058414 2.647.586 454036

olonial Squaie Town Center 4.900000 19.359.520 10975566 200974 7432450

hops at Village Walk 1644571 7839S34 3274701 113158 1.897916

ime Warner Cable Di IQ 682.000 5408000 1960000

ima Marketplace 4.765.000 12452396 1.928269 819434 3084.588

ollar General PortfoliO 1.088000 6734001 702856

otal $84162482 $222027861 $74742634 $8414333 $12848954

Draper Crossing also included mortgage payable of 14984078
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Temple Terrace also included $371632 iii construction in
progress

and 84400000 in noncontrolling interest

Publix Shopping Center also included mortgage payable of $7277586

The follo ing condensed 110
forma consolidated financial statements br the year

ended December 31 2010 include pro forma

adjustments related to propeities listed aho\ except the Dollar General Portfolio as the acquisition is not material to the consolidated

financial statements

The condensed pro foima consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31 2009 include pro forum adjustments

related to Merrimack Village Center acqu red in December 2009 and the properties listed above except the Dollar General Portfolio

the acquisition is not material to the consolidated financial statements

On pro forma basis the Company assumes all acquisitions had been consummated as of January 2010 and 2009 respectively and

the common shares outstanding as of the December 31 2010 crc outstanding as of January 2010 and 2009 respectively The

following condensed pro lorma financial information is not necessarily indicative of what the actual results of operations of the

Company would have been assuming the acquisitions had been consummated as of January 2010 for the pro forma year ended

December 2010 and January 2009 for the pro fornia year ended December 2009 nor does it purport to represent the results

of operations for future periods

Total income

Net loss attributable to common stockholders

Net loss attributable to common stockholders per common share basic and

diluted
___________

Weighted average number of common shares outstanding basic and diluted

Pto ot ma

\dj ustments

_________________
uttaudt ted

_________________

Total income 37.529897

Net loss income attributable to common stockholders
______________

66.744

Net loss attributable to common stockholders per common share basic and

diluted 0.0l

Weighted average number of common shares outstanding basic and diluted 26120871

Ut the eat eitded Deeemhet 010

Pt Ut lid

tttmeuts .5 \dj usted

II ttet cal ott tudtted unaudtted

18.198452 21640783 39839235

1742989 310467 2053456

0.13 0.08

13671936 26120.871

ot the Ut ended neeemhet 2019

lIt tot kal

96243

296933

0.81

367.888

As Adjusted

uttaudi ted

$37626140

230l89
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Operating Leases

Vlinimum lease pa ments to be receis cd under operating leases including ground leases and excluding the one niultifamily property

lease terms oft el\ cmonths or less as of December 31 2010 for the years indicated assuming no expiring leases are renewed are

is folloss

Ntiiumtim ease

Pa nicets

2011 30277643

2012 295$9$17

2013 27943545

2014 25S$2.$Ol

2015 24901357

Thereafter 747$4902

Total $3 30$0065

he remaining lease terms range from one year to 20 years Most of the revenue from the Companys properties consists of rents

eceis ed under long-term operating leases Some leases require the tenant to pay fixed base rent paid monthly in ads ance and to

eimburse the Company for the tenants pro rata share of certain operating expenses including real estate taxes special assessments

nsurance utilities common area maintenance management fees and certain building repairs paid by the Company and recovetable

uider the terms of the lease Under these leases the Company pays all expenses and is reimbursed by the tenant for the tenants pro

ata share ofrecoserable expenses paid Certain other tenants ate subject to net leases which pros
ide that the tenant is responsible for

ixcd base rent as sclI as all costs and expenses associated with occupancy Under net leases where all expenses are paid directly by

tc tenant athcr than the landlord such expenses arc not included in the consolidated statements of operations and other

omprchcnsis income Under leases where all expenses are paid by the Company subject to reimbursement by the tenant the

xpenscs ate included ss ithin property operating expenses and reimbursements are included in tenant recovery inconie on the

onsolidatcd statements of operations and other comprehensive income

Unconsolidated joint Venture

he Company is member of liniited liability conipany formed as an insurance association captive the Insurance Captive which

oss tied in equal proportions li the Company and three other REITs sponsored by the Companys Sponsor Inland Real Estate

orporation Inland Western Retail Real Estate Trust Inc and Inland American Real Estate Trust Inc and sen iced by an affiliate of

ie Business Manager Inland Risk and Insurance Management Services Inc The Insurance Captive ss as fornied to initially

isure reimburse the toembers deduLtible obligations liar the first 100000 of ptuperty insurance and 100000 of general liability

isurance The Company entered into the Insurance Captis to stahilie its insurance costs nianage its exposures and
recoup expenses

irough the functions of the captive progiam This entity is considered to he variable interest entity VIE as defined in U.S GAAP
tad the Company is not considered to he the primary beneficiary Therefore this investment is accounted for utilizing the equity

aethod of accounting

Ins estment at Investment at

Oecemtier Decemhei

mt entuic liesci iption
055 mini ship

tt 10 2009

ak Propct ty Casualty Insurance Captis 25 $$$6 $7500

SI$$$6l SI$7500
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The Company entered into contribution agreement to pay SI 87500 in twelve equal installments in exchange for twentyfive

percent membership interest in the Insurance Captive At December 31 2010 and 2009 $0 and $109375 of this obligation remained

unpaid respectively and is included in accounts payable and accrued expenses in the accompanying December 2009 consolidated

balance sheet

The Companys share of net income from its investment in the unconsolidated entity is based on the ratio of each members premium

contribution to the venture For the year ended December 31 2010 the Company was allocated income of $1 36 from the senture

On May 28 2009 the Company purchased 1000 shares of common stock in the Inland Real Estate Group of Companies for $1000

shich are accounted for under the cost method and included in investment in unconsolidated entities on the accompanying

consolidated balance sheets

Investment iii Marketable Securities

1nestment in marketable securities of$58l0374 and $0 at December 31 2010 and 2009 respectively consists ofprimarily preferrer

and common stock investments in other publicly traded REITs and commercial mortgage backed securities which are classified as

available-for-sale securities and recorded at fair value

Unrealized holding gains and losses on available for sale securities are excluded from earnings and reported as separate component

of comprehensive income until realized For the investment securities held as of December 31 2010 the Company had net unrealized

gains of $161609 which has been recorded as net other comprehensive income in the accompanying consolidated statements of

opei
ations and other comprehensive income

Realized gains and losses from the sale of available-for-sale securities are determined on specific identification basis For the year

ended December 2010 the Company had realized loss of $2532 which has been recorded as realized loss on investment

securities in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations and other coniprehensive income

The Companys policy for assessing recoverability of its available-for sale securities is to record charge against net earnings when

the Company determines that decline in the fair alue of security drops below the cost basis and believes that decline to be other

thantemporary ss hich includes determining ss hether foi marketable securities the Company intends to sell the marketable

security and it is more likely than not that the Company ssill be required to sell the marketable security before its anticipated

recovery

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The fair value of debt is the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in current transaction between willing parties The

Company estimates the fair value of its total debt by discounting the future cash flows of each instrument at rates currently offered for

similardebt instruments of comparable maturities by the Companys lenders using Level inputs note The carrying value of the

Companys mortgage debt was $184364628 and its estimated fair value was $181294417 as of December 31 2010 The Company

carrying amount of variable rate borrowings on the Credit Facility and margins payable approximates their fair values at December 31

2010

Investment in marketable securities are recorded at fair value based on conibination of Level and Level inputs note such as

quoted prices from national stock exchanges and quoted prices froni third party brokers for similar assets note
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The Companys other financial instruments include cash and cash equivalents restricted cash and escrows accounts and rents

receivable accrued offering expenses accounts payable and accrued expenses and due to related parties At December 31 2010 and

2009 the carrying values of cash equivalents restricted cash and escrows accounts and rents receivable accrued offering expenses

accounts payable and accrued expenses and due to related parties approximates their estimated fair values due to the short maturity of

these instruments

Transactions with Related Parties

On Ma 28 2009 the Company purchased 1000 shares of common stock in the Inland Real Estate Group of Companies for $1000

which arc accounted for under the cost method and included in investment in unconsolidated entities on the accompanying

2onsolidated balance sheets

The Company has an investment in an insurance captive entity with its related parties The entity is included in the Companys

Jisclosure of Unconsolidated Joint Venture note and is included in investment in unconsolidated entities on the accompanying

consolidated balance sheets

\s of December 31 2010 and 2009 the Company owed total of$4138818 and $2460161 respectively to our Sponsor and its

lfiliates related to advances used to pay
administrative and offering costs and certain accrued expenses which are included in due to

elated parties on the accompanying consolidated balance sheets These amounts represent non-interest bearing advances by the

ponsor and its affiliates which the Company intends to repay Also see note 15

fhe follo ing table summarizes the Companys related party transactions for the years ended December 2010 and 2009 and the

aeriod from June 30 2008 inception through December 31 2008

Period from

June 30 2008

For the year coded inception Unpaid amounts as of

December 31 through December II
December 31

2010 2009 2008 2010 2009

3eneral and administrative

leneral and administrative

reimbursement 1172475 33516 2366 $665772 10879

.oan servicing 16581

\fflliate share purchase discounts 83239

nestment advisor fee 37275
_______

37275
__________

general and administrative to

relatedparties 1309570 33516 2366 $703047 10879

costs ef $22008569 $3329675 $23465 $351288 208773

rganization costs ef 55772 5837 10000

\cquisition related costs 568301 23432 239131 1897

eal estate management fees 775612

3usiness management fee 602802 602802

oan placement fees 260598

ost reimbursements 112500 8750

non-interest bearing advances 2223800 2228612

contributions to pay distributions 2889.277 96035
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The Bosiness Manager and its related parties are entitled to reimbursement fot geneial and administratis expenses of the

Business Manager and its related parties relating to the Companys administration Such costs are included in general and

administiative expenses iii the accompanying consolidated statements of operations aod other compiehensive income total of

$665772 and SI 0879 remained unpaid as of December 31 2010 and 2009 tespeeti ely and ate included io doe to related

parties on the accompany ing consolidated balance sheets

related party of the Business Manager provides loan sen icing to the Company lbr an annual Icc equal to .03 of the first SI

billion of serviced loans and .01 for serviced loans over SI billion These loan scrs icing fees ate paid monthly and are

included in general and administrati\ expenses iii the accompanying consolidated statements ofopei ations and other

comprehensive income

The Company established discount stock purchase policy for related pat
ties and ielated parties of the Business Manager that

enables the related parties to purchase shares of common stock at $9.00 per share The Company sold 83.239 shares to related

parties and recogni7ed an expense related to these discounts of $83239 for the year ended December 2010

The Company ays related party of the Business Manager to purchase and monitor its investment in maiketable securities

Fees of $37275 remain unpaid as of December 201 andl are included in clue to related pat ties in the accompanying

consolidated balance sheets

related party of the Business Manager receives selling commissions equal to 7.5c of the sale price for each share sold and

marketing contribution equal to 2.5 of the gross offering proceeds froni shares sold the majority ofss hich ate Ieallo\s ccl to

third party soliciting dealers The Company also reimburses related party of the Business Manager and the soliciting dealers

for bona fide outofpocket itemied and detailed due diligence expenses in amoun1s 01 to 0.500 of the
gi os.s offering pioceeds

which may in the Companys sole discietion be paid or reimbursed from the marketing contribution or Ii daii issuer costs In

addition our Sponsor its affiliates and third parties are reimbursed for any issuer costs that they pay on our behalll including

any bona fide out of pocket itemi7ed and detailed due diligence expenses not reimbursed from amounts paid or reallosved as

marketing contribution in an amount not to exceed 500 of the gross offering proceeds lie Company ill not pay selling

commissions or the marketing contribution or reimburse issuer eoto in eunneetion with shares of eomniun 0toek ksued through

the distribution reinvestment plan Such costs are offset against the stockholdei equity accounts total of 5351 .88 and

5208.773 of offerine costs were unpaid as of December 2010 and 2009 respectively and are included in clue to related

parties in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets

As of December 31 2011 the Company had iiicuiTed $30633908 ofofferine costs ofs\ hich S25.361.709 sas paid or accrued

to related parties Pursuant to the terms of the Offering the Business Manager has agreed to ieimbui se the Company all public

offering and orgamzational expenses excluding selling coniniissions and the marketing eonti ibution in excess of5 of the

gross proceeds of the Offering or all organi7ation and offering expenses including selling commissions and the marketing

contribution ss hich together exceed 50 of gross offei ing pi oceeds As ol December 2110 offet ing costs did not exceed

the 50 and 1500 limitations The Company anticipates that these costs will not exceed these limitations upon completion of the

Offering Any excess amounts at the completion of the Offering will be reimbursed by the Business Manager

lie Business Manager and its related parties ate reimbuised fbr acquisition dead deal and transaction related costs of the

Business Manager and its related parties relating to the Companys acquisition of real estate assets These costs relate to both

closed and potential transactions and include customary due diligence costs including time and tra el expense reimbursements

The Company does not pay acquisition fees to its Business Manager or its affiliates Such costs are included in acquisition

related costs in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations and other comprehensive income total of $239131

and $1897 remained unpaid as of December 2010 and 2009 respectively and are included in due to related parties on the

accompanying consolidated balance sheets
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The real estate managers entities owned principally by individuals who are related parties of the Business Manager receive

monthly real estate management fees up to 4.5 of gross operating income as defined for management and leasing services

Such cosrs are included in property operating expenses in the aecumpanying consolidated statements of operations and other

comprehensive income No amounts remained unpaid as of December 2010

Subject to satisfying the criteria described below the Company pays the Business Manager quarterly business management fee

equal to percentage of the Companys average inested assets as defined in the Offering prospectus calculated as follows

if the Company has declared distributions during the prior calendar
quar

ter just ended in an amount equal to or greater

than an erage 70 annualized distribution rate assuming share was purchased for $10.00 it will pay fee equal to

0.25 of its as
erage

in ested assets for that prior calendar quarter

if the Company has declared distributions during the prior calendar quar ter just ended in an amount equal to or greater

than an average
annualized distribution rate but less than annualized distribution rate assuming share was

purchased for $10.00 it will pay fee equal to 0.18750 of its average invested assets for that prior calendar quarter

if the Company has declared distrihutions during the prior calendar quarter just ended in an amount equal to or greater

than an erage annualized distribution rate hut less than annualized distribution rate assuming share was

purchased for S10.00 it will
pay

fee equal to 0.l25 of its average invested assets for that prior calendar quarter or

ifthe Company does not satisfy the criteria in or above in particular calendar quarter just ended it will not

except as set forth belo pay business management fee for that prior calendar quarter

Assuming that or above is satisfied the Business Manager may decide in its sole discretion to he paid an

amount less than the total amount that may be paid If the Business Manager decides to accept less in any particular

quarter the excess amount that is not paid may in the Business Managers sole discretion be waived permanently or

accrued without interest to be paid at later point in time This obligation to pay the accrued fee terminates if the

Company acquires the Business Manager For the year ended December 2010 the Business Manager as entitled to

business management fee in the aniount equal to $1243147 ofwhieh 5640345 as permanently waived and $602802

remained unpaid arid recorded in business manager management fee in the consolidated statements of operations and other

eomprehensi\ income

Separate and distinct from any business management fee the Company ill also reimburse the Business Manager the Real

Estate Managers and their affiliates for certain expenses that they or any related party including the Sponsor pay or incur on its

behalf including the salaries and benefits of persons employed except that the Company ill not reimburse either our Business

Manager or Real Fstate Managers for any compensation paid to individuals who also sere as the Companys executive officers

or the executive officers of the Business Manager the Real Estate Managers or their affiliates provided that for these purposes

the secretaries will riot be considered exeeuti\e officers These costs ere recorded in general and administrative expenses in

the consolidated stateriients of operations and other comprehensie income

The Company pays related party of the Business Manager 0.2c of the principal amount of each loan it places for the

Company sr.rch costs are capitalized as loan fees arid amorti7ed over the respective loan term

The Company reimburses related party of the Business Manager for costs incurred for construction oversight provided to the

Company relating to its joint venture redevelopment project These reimbursements are paid monthly during the development

period These costs are capitalized and are included in construction iii progress on the accompanying consolidated balance sheet
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As of December 31 2010 and 2009 the Company owed $2223800 and $2228.6 12 respectively to our Sponsor related to

advances used to pay
administrative and offering costs prior to the commencement of our Offering These amounts are included

in due to related parties on the accompanying consolidated balance sheets

For thc year ended December 2010 the Sponsor contributed 82889.277 to the Company to pay distributions to its

stockholders Our Sponsor has not received and will not receive any additional shares of our common stock for making any of

these contributions In addition the Company has not used any of the Sponsors initial 5200000 contribution to fund

distributions There is no assurance that our Sponsor will continue to contribute monies to fund future distributions The

Company intends to continue paying distributions for future periods in the amounts and at times as determined by our board

The amount and timing of distributions may vary The Conipany may pay distributions from the proceeds generated by

borros ings

The Company may pay additional types of compensation to affiliates of the Sponsor in the future including the Business Manager anc

our Real Estate Managers and their respective affiliates however we did not pay any other types of compensation for the year ended

December 31 2010

As of December 31 2010 the Company had deposited cash of 83.639836 in Inland Bank and Trust subsidiary of Inland Bancorp

Inc. an affiliate of The Inland Real Estate Group Inc

Mortgages Credit Facility and Securities Margins Payable

As of December 31 2010 the Company had the following mortgages payable outstanding

4atnril

Dale

6/01 2015

601 2015

1/0 1/20 18

12/01/2011

10/01/2017

9/01/2020

10/01/2020

6/01 2015

11/052015

11/01 2020

102014

1/0 1/20 18

6/01/2017

3/01 2015

901/2020

9/01 2020

Stated Interest

Rate Per

An nti rn

4.2

5.30c

5.SoOo

7330

3.88o

5.70c

5.06c

4.25c

3.02o

5.l8o

5.90o

5500

6.00o

6.50e

5.70c

5.70c

Principal Balance

at Iecemher 31

2010 ta

31000000

23900.000

18.140000

14559658

11370.000

10500.000

10.250.000

9.500000

9350.000

9100000

7218662

6.860000

6800000

5445000

5.200.000

5000.000

$184193320

Propert nie Notes

The Landing at Tradition

Regal Court

Colonial Square To Center

Draper Crossing

The Crossings at 1-lilleroft

Kohls at Calvine Pointe

Siemens Building

Tradition Village Center

Kohls Bend Riser Promenade

Time Warner Cable Div HQ
Publix Shopping Center

Shops at Village Walk

Pleasant Hill Commons

Merrimack Village Center

Lake City Commons

Whispering Ridge
_____________

Principal balance does not include mortgage premium net of 51 308
Each loan bears interest at fixed rate equal to 4.2 until May 31 2013 4.50c front June 2013 until May 31 2014 and

5.00c from Jme 2014 until June 2015 the maturity date Interest expeilse
if recognized using the effeetise interest nietho

based on an effective inteiest iate of approximately 4.44c
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The Company has provided partial guarantee on these loans making it recourse for 500o of the unpaid principal and 10000 of

unpaid interest

On September 1.2010 principal payment ssa made pursuant to the loan terms to teduce the interest rate from 5.800o to

5.30c

Mortgage payable is secured by cross-collateralized first mortgages on these tss properties

Mortgage payable was assumed from the seller at the time of closing The Company has the right to extend the loan until

December 203 at an interest rate of 9.33 or the applicable treasury rate plus whichever is greater

Mortgage payable is secured by cross-collateralized first moitgages on these three properties

The loan bears interest at rate equal to thirty day l.IBOR plus 2.75c

Vlortgage loans outstanding as of December 2010 ss crc SI 84.193.320 and had weighted aserage stated interest rate of 5.16

were no mortgage loans outstanding as of December 2009 All of the Companys mortgage loans are secured by the real

estate assets

mortgage loans reqture compliance with certain cos enants such as debt sen ice ratios ins estment restrictions and distribution

imitations As of December 31 2010 all of the mortgages weie current in payments and the Company was in compliance with such

ovenants

in Nosember 2010 we entered into credit agreement Credit Facility under sshich may borross on an unsecured basis up

525000.000 and subsequently increased to 550.000 OOt on March 15 2011 note 15 We has the right provided that no default

ias occurred and is continuing to increase the facility amount up to SI 0000.000 ss ith approval from the lender The entire unpaid

rincipal balance of all borrosvings under the credit facility and all accrued and unpaid interest thereon will be due and payable in full

October 2012 which date may be extended to October 31 201 subject to satisfaction of certain conditions including the

ayment of an extension fee We have the right to terminate the facility at any time upon one days notice and the repaynient of all of

ts obligations there under We may borrosv at rates equal to the sum ofa LIBOR ssith floor of l.00o per annum divided by an

oziount equal to one minus the then-current reserve requirement plus 3.5000 per annum referred to herein as LIBOR advance
the Base Rate as defined herein plus margin equal to 2.50 per annum referred to herein as Base Rate advance As

ised herein Base Rate means for any day the highest of the prime rate for that day ii 2.00c
per annum iiithe sum of the

ederal Funds Effective Rate for that day plus 0.5000 per annum and iv the sum of LIBOR plus 1.0000 per annum We generally

sill be required to make interest-only payments except that we may be required to make partial principal payments if sve are unable

comply svith certain debt covenants set forth in the Credit Facility We also may from time to time prepay all or part of any Base

tate advance svithout penalty or premium and may prepay any LIBOR advance subject to indemnifying each lender for any loss or

ost incurred by it resulting therefrom The Credit Facility requires compliance ss ith certain cos enants Our performance of the

ibligations under the Credit Facility including the payment of any outstanding indebtedness thereunder is secured by guaranty by

ertain of our material subsidiaries ossning unencumbered properties As of December 31 2010 the outstanding balance on the Credit

acility svas S7000.000 and was subsequently reduced to zero on January 2011

he Company has purchased portion of its marketable securities through margin accounts As of December 2010 the Company
as recorded payable ofSl506.867 for securities purchased on margin The debt bears variable interest rate As of December 31
010 the interest rate svas 0.6
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The following table shows the scheduled maturities of niortgages payable Credit Facility and securities margin payable as of

December 31 2010 and for the next five years and thereafter

Securities

Moituages Credit Margin

Payable acuity Payable Total

2011 14707112 S1506867 16213979

2012 202853 7000000 7202853

2013 224866 224866

2014 6811937 6.811937

2015 79.090653 79.090653

Thereafter 83155899
__________ __________

831 55899

Tow 184193320 7000000 50o8o7 192700.187

Excludes mortgage premiums associated with debt assumed at acquisition of which premium ofS 171308 net of accumulated

amortization is outstanding as of December 2010

On January 52011 the outstanding principal balance of S7.000.000 was repaid to thc lendcr

10 Income Taxes

The Company is qualified and has elected to be taxed as real estate investment trust REIT under the Internal Revenue Code of

1986 as amended for federal income tax purposes commencing with the tax year ending December 2009 Since the Company

qualifies for taxation as REIT the Company generally will not be subject to federal income tax on taxable income that is distributed

to stockholders REIT is subject to number of organizational and operational requirements including requirement that it

currently distributes at least 90o of its taxable income subject to certain adjustments to its stockholders If the Company fails to

qualify as REIT in any taxable year without the benefit of certain relief provisions the Company will be subject to federal

including any applicable alternative minimum tax and state income tax on its taxable income at regular corporate tax rates Even if

the Company qualifies for taxation as REIT the Company may be subject to certain state and local taxes on its income property or

net worth and federal income and excise taxes on its undistributed income

The Company had no uncertain tax positions as of December 2010 The Company expects no significant increases or decreases in

uncertain tax positions due to changes in tax positions within one year of December 31 2010 The Company has no interest or

penalties relating to income taxes recognized in the consolidated statements of operations and other comprehensive income for the

years ended December 31 2010 and 2009 As of December 31 2010 returns for the calendar years 2008 and 2009 remain subject to

examination by U.S and various state and local tax jurisdictions

iiDistributions

The Company currently pays distributions based on daily record dates payable monthly in arrears The distributions that the Compan

currently pays are equal to daily amount equal to 50.00 164384 which if paid each day for 365-day period would equal 6.0%

annualized rate based on purchase price of $10.00 per share During the years ending December 31 2010 and 2009 the Company
declared cash distributions totaling $8203372 and 52 12414 respectively
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12 Earnings loss per Share

Basic
earnings loss per

share EPS are computed by dividine net income loss by the weighted average
number of common

shares outstanding for the period tile common shaies Diluted EPS is computed by dividing net income loss by the common

shares plus potential common shares issuable upon exercising options or other contracts As of December 31 2010 and 2009 the

Company did not have any dilutive common share equivalents outstanding

13 Commitments and Contingencies

As of December 31 2010 the Company had outstanding commitments to fund approximately $8955000 into the Temple Terrace

oint enture The Company intends on funding these commitments ith proceeds from the offering

acquisition of four of the Companys properties included earnout components to the purchase price nieaning the Company did

ot pay portion of the purchase price of the property at closing although the Company owns the entire property The Company is not

bhgated to pay the contingent portion of the purchase prices unless space which was vacant at the time of acquisition is later rented

Aithin the time limits and patameters set forth in the acquisition agreements The earnout paynients are based on predetermined

brmula applied to rental income received Tile carnout agreements ha hmited obligation period ranging from two to three years

mm the date of acquisition If at tile end of tile time period certain space has not been leased occupied and rent producing the

Thmpany will ha no further obligation to pay
additional purchase price consideration and will retain ownership of that entire

lropcrty Based on its best estimate the Company has determined that the estimated fair value at December 31 2010 of the earnout

onsideration payments is approximately 512.904371 The fair value was estimated based on variety of assumptions including

ease-up period market rents probability of occupancy and discount rate

amounts ha.e been recorded as additional purchase price of those properties and as liability included in deferred investment

roperty acquisition obligations on the accompanying consolidated balance sheet as of December 31 2010 The liability increases as

he anticipated payment date draws near based on present value Based on the estimates the Company uses the Company increased

he liability by $55417 related to amortization expense which was recorded on the accompanying consolidated statements of

perations and other comprehensive income for the year ended December 2010 The Company has not made any earnout

ayments or changes to the underlining liability assumptions as of December 2010

Ehe Company has provided partial guarantee on t..o loans of our subsidiaries making them recourse for 5000 of the unpaid principal

mmtime to time and 10000 of unpaid interest As of December 2010 the outstanding principal balance on these two lQans totaled

40500000 Note

he Company may be subject from time to time to various legal proceedings and claims that arise in the ordinary course of

usiness While the resolution of these matters cannot be predicted with certainty management believes based on currently available

nforrnation that the final outcome of such matters will not have material adverse effect on the consolidated financial statements of

he Company

14 Segment Reporting

he Company has one reportable segment as defined by U.S GAAP for the years ended December 31 2010 and 2009 As the

ompany acquires additional properties in the future we anticipate adding business segments and related disclosures when they

ecome significant
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15 Subsequent Eveuts

The Company has evaluated events and transactinns that have occurred subsequent tn December 2fl10 for potential recognition

and disclosure in these consolidated financial statements

Our board of directors declared distributions payable to stockholders of record each day beginning on the close uf business on

January 12011 through the close ofbusiness on March 31 2011 Distributions were declared in daily amount equal to 80.00164384

per share which if paid each day for 365-year period would equate to 6.0c annualized rate based on purchase price ofSlO.00

per share Distributions were and will continue to be paid monthly in arrears as follows

In January 2011 total distributions declared for the month of December 2010 were paid in the amount equal to

$1288633 of which $478335 was paid in cash and 8810.298 was reinvested through the Companys DRP resulting in

the issuance of an additional 85295 shares ot common stock

In February 2011 total distributions declared for the month ofianuary 2011 were paid in the amount equal to 51.399.913

ofwhich 8517.788 was paid in cash and $882125 ssas reinvested through the Companys DRP iesultine in the issuance

ofan additional 92855 shares of common stock

In March 2011 total distributions declared for the month of February 2011 were paid in the aniount equal to 51 385503
of which $5 15.521 was paid in cash and 8869.982 was reinested through the Companys DRP resulting in the issuance

ofan additional 91.577 shares of common stock

On February 25 2011 the Company through wholly osned subsidiary acquired fee simple interest in 97.011 squaie
foot center

known as Waxahachie Crossing located in Waxahachie Texas The Company purchased this property from an unaffiliated third party

for $15.5 million Concurrent \vith closing the Company entered into $7.75 million loan secured by first mortgage un the property

This loan bears interest at fixed rate equal to 5.5500 per annum and matures on March 2021

On March 10 2011 IREIC forgave 81.500.000 in liabilities related to non interest bearing advances that vere preiously funded to

the Company For U.S GAAP purposes this forgiveness of debt ill be treated as capital contribution from our Sponsor although our

Sponsor has not received and will not receie any additional shares of our common stock for making this contribution

On March 42011 the Company through wholly owned subsidiary entered into $8.38 million loan secured by first mortgage on

the Lima Marketplace property located in Fort Wayne Indiana which was acquired in December 2010 This loan bears interest at

fixed rate equal to 5.80 per annum and matures on April 2021

On March 92011 the Company through wholly owned subsidiary acquiied fee simple interest in 180.758 square foot retail

property known as Village at Bay Park located in Ashwaubenon Wisconsin for purchase price equal to approximately 16.7

millinn

On March 112011 the Company through two wholly owned subsidiaries acquired fee simple interests in t\so retail centers

168814 squaie foot center known as Pratt\ ille Town Center located in Prattville Alabama and 133674 square foot center knos as

Northerest Shopping Center located in Charlotte North Carolina together referred to as the Collett Portfolio The Company

purchased these properties for approximately $54.0 million Howeer spaces totaling 20.294 square feet at Prattsille To\vn Center an

spaces totaling 31625 square feet at Northerest Shopping Center are subject to earnout closings aggiegating $2.7 million and S8.9

million respectively The Company will not be required to pay the earnouts on these spaces unless the spaces are leased or the tenant

are paying full rent as the ease niay he pursuant to the parameters set forth in the purchase agreement within thirty si\ months of

closing

-80-
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On March 11 2011 the Company through whollyoss ned sUbsidiary entered into $9.35 million interest rate sap associated with

the variable tate debt on the Kohls Bend River Promenade pioperty The Company will be making the fixed-rate payment over the

life uftlie agieemcnt and the euuiitcrpuity will bc paytig
the Company the vai iable rate paynient This

sssap beam intetest at fixcd

rate equal to 5.010o per annum and matut es on November 201

On March 15 2011 the Conipany enteted into an amendment to the Ciedit Facility to increase the borrowing capacity from $25.0

million to $50.0 million The Company will continue to ha the right provided no default has occurred and is continuing to increase

the aggiegate capacity to $1 SOt million All other mateual terms under the Credit Facility remain unchanged

On March 25 2011 the Company through wholly ned subsidiary acquired fee simple interest in 409747 square foot retail

2enter known as andstown Commons Shopping Center located in Virginia Beach Virginia The Company purchased this property

From an unaffiliated third party for $91.2 million Concurrent sith closing the Company entered into $68.4 million loan secured by

first mortgage on the property This loan bears interest at variable rate currently equal to 3.26c
per annum and has one-year

erm and one-year extension option

ks of March 25 2010 the Company has raised total equity net of commissions marketing contribution and due diligence expense

timbursements of approximately $305.0 million and has issaed approximately 33.8 million shares of common stock

Die follos ing condensed consolidated pro foi ma financial information is presented as if the acquisition of Prattville Town Center and

Jortherest Shopping Center had been consummated as of January 201 and 2009 and the common shares outstanding as of the

Iarch 25 2011 were outstanding as of January 12010 and 2009 respectively The pro forma financial information below includes

he pro forma information of acquisitions completed as of December 2010 as presented in Note to the consolidated financial

tatements The
pro

forma financial information below does not include the pro forma information for the acquisitions of Waxahachie

rossing and Village at Bay Park or the Lima Marketplace financing as they are not considered material transactions Due to the

iming of the acquisition the
pro

forma financial information below does not include the pro
forma information for the Landstown

Thmmons Shopping Center as the inforniation was not available at the time of this filing The following condensed pro forma

onsohidated financial information is not necessarily indicative of what actual results of operations of the Company would have been

issuming the acquisitions had been consummated at the beginning of January 12010 and 2009 nor does it purport to represent the

esults of operations for future periods Depreciation and amorti7ation pro forma adjustments are based on preliminary purchase price

illocations and are subject to change

For the
year

ended December 2010

Pro Forma

As Adjusted Adjustment As Adjusted

oni Note linaudited Unaudited

otal income $39839235 $4571730 $44410965
Jet loss income attributable to common stockholders 2053456 542762 1510694

Jet loss attributable to common stockholders per common shaie basic and diluted 0.08 0.04

Weighted average
number of common shares outstanding basic and diluted 26120871 33842669
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for the
year

ended December 31 2009

As Adjusted

from Note

$37626140

7301X9

0.01

26120871

Pro Forma

Adjustments

Unaudited

$4500843

442646

As Adjusted

Unaudited

$42126983

212457

0.01

33842669

Total income

Net loss attributable to common stockholders

Net loss attributable to common stockholders per common share

basic and diluted

Weighted average number of common shares outstanding basic

and diluted

Total income

Net loss income attrihtttahle to common stockholders

Net loss income attributable to common stockholders per common share basic

and diluted

Weighted average number of common shares outstanding basic and diluted

16 Quarterly Supplemental Financial Information unaudited

The following represents the results of operations for each quarterly period during 2010 and 2009

Dec.31

9158158

605936

2011

Sept 30

6247923

13359

June30

2194500

730842

March31

597871

392852

0.03 0.00 0.07 0.08

23020342 16634721 1012823 4987095

2009

Dec 31 Sept 30 June 30 March 31

Total income 96243

Net loss attributable to common stockholders 193646 44347 53373 5567
Net loss attributable to common stockholders per common share

basic and diluted 0.14 1.55 2.67 0.28

Weighted average number of common shares outstanding basic

and diluted 1391602 28604 20.000 20000

Quarterly income
per common share amounts may not total the annual amounts due to rounding and the changes in the number

of weighted common shares outstanding
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INLAND DIVERSIFIED REAL ESTATE TRUST INC

Schedule III continued
Real Estate and Accumulated Depreciation

December 31 2010

The initial cost to the Company represents the original purchase price of the property including amounts incurred subsequent to

acquisition which were contemplated at the time the property was acquired

The aggregate cost of real estate owned at December 31 2010 for federal income tax purposes was approximately $370316000

unaudited

Cost capitalized subsequent to acquisition does not include construction in progress

Reconciliation of real estate owned

Year ended December

2010 2009

16714

3312223 16714

$3328937 16714

otes

Year ended December 31

2010 2009

8154068

306190343 8154068

$314344411 $8154068

Balance at beginning of period

Acquisitions

Balance at close of period

Reconciliation of accumulated depreciation

Balance at beginning of period

Depreciation expense

Balance at close of period

Depreciation is computed based upon the following estimated lives

Buildings and impro\ cments 15 -30 years

Tenant improvements Life of the lease

Amounts in this table may not tie to the total due to rounding
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Item Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None

Item 9A Controls and Procedures

As required by Rule 3a- 15b and Rule Sd- 15b under the Exchange Act our management including our principal executive

officer and our principal financial officer evaluated as of December 31 2010 the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and

procedures as defined in Exchange Act Rule 3a- 5e and Rule Sd-I 5e Based on that aluation our principal execntive officer

and our principal financial officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures as of December 31 2010 were effective for

the purpose of ensuring that information required to be disclosed by us in this report is recorded processed summarized and reported

within the time periods specified by the rules and forms of the Exchange Act and is accumulated and communicated to management

including the principal executive officer and our principal financial officer as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding requirec

disclosures

Managements Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting as such term is

defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-I5f and lSd-lSf Our management including our principal executive officer and principal

financial officer evaluated as of December 31 2010 the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting based on the

framework in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organi7ations of the Tread\vay

Commission COSO Based on its evaluation our management has concluded that maintained effective internal control over

financial reporting as of December 2010

This annual report does not include an attestation report of the Companys independent registered public accounting firm regarding

internal control over financial reporting Managements report was not subject to attestation by the Companys independent registerec

public accounting firm pursuant to permanent rules adopted by the Securities and Lxchange Commission permitting the Conipany to

provide only managements report in this annual report

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There has been no change in our internal control over financial reporting during the fourth quarter of 2010 that has materially affectec

or is reasonably likely to materially affect our internal control over financial reporting

Item 9B Other Information

one
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art III

tern 10 Directors Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

lie information required by this Item will be presented iii our definitive proxy statement for our 2011 annual meeting of stockholders

hich anticipate filing with the SEC no later than April 30 2011 and is incorporated by reference into this Item 10

fe have adopted code of ethics which is available on our website free of charge at http//www.inlanddiversified.com We will

ro ide the code of ethics free of charge upon request to our customer relations group

tern 11 Executive Cornpensation

he information required by this Item will be presented in our definitive proxy statement for our 2011 annual meeting of stockholders

hieh anticipate filing with the SFC no later than April 30 2011 and is incorporated by reference into this Item 11

tern 12 Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters

lie information required by this Item will be presented in our definitive proxy statement for our 2011 annual meeting of stockholders

hieh we anticipate filing with the SEC no later than April 30 2011 and is incorporated by reference into this Item 12

tern 13 Certain Relationships and Related Transactions and Director Independence

he information required by this Item will be presented in our definitive proxy statement for our 2011 annual meeting of stockholders

hich anticipate filing with the SEC no later than April 30 2011 and is incorporated by reference into this Item 13

Lern 14 Principal Accounting Fees and Services

lie information required by this Item will be presented in onr definitive
proxy statement for our 2011 annual meeting of stockholders

hich anticipate filing with the SEC no later than April 30 2011 and is incorporated by reference into this Item 14
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Part IV

Item 15 Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

List of documents filed

Financial Statements

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The consolidated financial statements of the Company are set forth in the report in Item

Financial Statement Schedules

Financial statement schedule for the year ended December 31 2010 is submitted herewith

Real Estate and Accumulated Depreciation Schedule III

Exhibits

The list of exhibits filed as part of this Annual Report is set forth on the Exhibit Index attached hereto

Exhibits

The exhibits filed in response to Item oUl of Regulation S-K are listed on the Exhibit Index attached hereto

Financial Statement Schedules

All schedules other than those indicated in the index have been omitted as the required information is inapplicable or the information

is presented in the consolidated financial statements or related notes
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SIGNATURES

ursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15d of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934 the registrant has duly caused this

port to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized

LAND DIVERSIFIED REAL ESTATE TRUST INC

Is Barry Lazarus

By Barry Lazarus

President and principal executive officer

ate March 30 2011

arsuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 this report has been signed below by the following persons on

ThaIf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated

Signature Title Date

By Robert Parks March 30 2011

lame
Robert Parks Director and chairman of the board

By Barry Lazarus
Director and president

March 30 2011

lame
Barry Lazatus principal executive officer

By /s Steven Hippel
Treasurer and chief accounting officer

March 30 2011

ame Steven Hippel principal financial officer

By s/ Brenda Gujral March 30 2011

lame Brenda Gujral Director

By Lee Daniels March 30 2011

lame Lee Daniels Director

By Heidi Lawton March 30 2011

lame
Heidi Lawton Director

By Is Gerald Grupe March 30 2011

ame
Gerald Grupe Director

By is Charles Wurtzbach March 30 2011

ame
Charles Wurtzebach Director
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Exhibit Index

EsJiibit

No Description

3.1 First Articles of Amendment and Restatement of Inland Diversified Real Estate Trust Inc incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 3.1 to Amendment No to the Registrants Form 5-1 Registration Statement as filed by the Registrant with thc

Securities and Exchange Commission on August 19 2009 file number 333-153356

3.2 Amended and Restated Bylaws of Inland Diversified Real Estate Trust Inc effective August 12 2009 incorporated by

reference to Exhibit 3.2 to Amendment No to the Registrants Form S-il Registration Statement as filed by the

Registrant ith the Securities and Exchange Commission on August 19 2009 file number 333-153356

4.1 Distribution Reinvestment Plan incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to Amendment No to the Registrants Foni

11 Registration Statement as filed by the Registrant with the Securities and Exchange Commission on August 19 2009

file number 333-153356

4.2 Amended and Restated Share Repurchase Program incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to Post-Effective

Amendment No to the Registrants Form S-I Registration Statement as filed by the Registrant with the Securities an

Exchange Commission on April 16 2010 file number 333-153356

4.3 Statement regarding restrictions on transferability of shares of common stock to appear on stock certificate or to be sent

upon request and without charge to stockholders issued shares without certificates incorporated by reference to Exhibit

4.3 to the Registrants Form S-Il Registration Statement as filed by the Registrant ith the Securities and Exchange

Commission on September 2008 file number 333-153356

10.1 Business Management Agreement dated as of August 24 2009 by and between Inland Diversified Real Estate Trust Inc

and Inland Diversified Business Manager Advisor Inc incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrants

Current Report on Form 8-K as filed by the Registrant with the Securities and Exchange Commission on

August 27 2009

10.2 Master Real Estate Managenient Agreenient dated as of August 24 2009 by and between Inland Diversified Real Estatc

Trust Inc and Inland Diversified Real Estate Services LLC incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant

Current Report on FonTi 8-IC as filed by the Registrant with the Securities and Exchange Commission on

August 27 2009

10.3 Master Real Estate Management Agreement dated as of August 24 2009 by and between Inland Diversified Real Estaix

Trust Inc and Inland Diversified Asset Services LLC incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Registrants

Current Report on Form 8-K as filed by the Registrant with the Securities and Exchange Commission on

August 27 2009

10.4 Master Real Estate Management Agreement dated as of August 24 2009 by and between Inland Diversified Real Estat

Trust Inc and Inland Diversified Leasing Services LLC incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Registrants

Current Report on Form 8-K as filed by the Registrant with the Securities and Exchange Commission on

August 27 2009

10.5 Master Real Estate Management Agreement dated as of August 24 2009 by and between Inland Diversified Real Estatt

Trust Inc and Inland Diversified Development Services LLC incorporated by reference to Exhibit 105 to the

Registrants Current Report on Form 8-K as filed by the Registrant with the Securities and Exchange Commission on

August 27 2009
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Property Acquisition Agreement dated as of August 24 2009 by and among Inland Diversified Real Estate Trust Inc
Inland Diversified Business Manager Advisor Inc and Inland Real Estate Acquisitions Inc incorporated by reference

to Exhibit 10.6 to the Registrants Current Report on Form 8-K as filed by the Registrant with the Securities and

Exchange Commission on August 27 2009

Investment Advisory Agreement for Discretionary Accounts dated as of August 24 2009 by and between Inland

Diversified Real Estate Trust Inc and Inland Investment Advisors Inc incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to the

Registrants Current Report on Form 8-K as filed by the Registrant with the Securities and Exchange Commission on

August 27 2009

0.8 Escrow Agreement dated as of August 24 2009 by and among Inland Diversified Real Estate Trust Inc Inland

Securities Corporation and UMB Bank N.A incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8 to the Registrants Current Report

on Form 8-K as filed by the Registrant with the Securities and Exchange Commission on August 27 2009

Form of Indemnification Agreement incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to Amendment No to the Registrants

Form S-I Registration Statement as filed by the Registrant with the Securities and Exchange Commission on

April 10 2009 file number 333-153356

Term Loan Promissory Note made as of February 11 2010 by Inland Diversified Merrimack Village L.L.C for the

benefit of Delta Community Credit Union incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrants Current Report on

Form 8-K as filed by the Registrant with the Securities and Exchange Commission on February 17 2010

Mortgage dated as of February 112010 by and between Inland Diversified Merrimack Village L.L.C and Delta

Community Credit Union incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrants Current Report on Form 8-K as

filed by the Registrant with the Securities and Exchange Commission on February 17 2010

Environmental Indemnity Agreement made as of February 112010 by Inland Diversified Merrimack Village L.L.C in

favor of Delta Community Credit Union incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Registrants Current Report on

Form 8-K as filed by the Registrant with the Securities and Exchange Commission on February 17 2010

1.13 Compliance Agreement dated as of Februaiy 11 2010 by and between Inland Diversified Merrimack Village L.L.C in

favor of Delta Community Credit Union incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Registrants Current Report on

Form 8-K as filed by the Registrant with the Securities and Exchange Commission on February 17 2010

1.14 Limited Guaranty Agreement made as of February 112010 by Inland Diversified Real Estate Trust Inc for the benefit

of Delta Community Credit Union incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the Registrants Current Report on Form

8-K as filed by the Registrant with the Securities and Exchange Commission on February 17 2010

Purchase and Sale Agreement re Pleasant Hill Commons by and between Inland Real Estate Acquisitions Inc and

MCP Retail LLC dated December 21 2009 as amended incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrants

Current Report on Form 8-K as filed by the Registrant with the Securities and Exchange Commission on

February 24 2010

Assignment dated Febmary 18 2010 by Inland Real Estate Acquisitions Inc to and for the benefit of Inland Diversified

Kissimmee Pleasant Hill L.L.C incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrants Current Report on Form 8-

as filed by the Registrant with the Securities and Exchange Commission on February 24 2010
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10.17 Assignment and Assumption of Lease dated February 18 2010 by and between MCP Retail LLC and inland Diversifie

Kissimmee Pleasant Hill L.L.C incorporated by refeience to Exhibit 10.3 to the Registrant Current Report on Form

as filed by the Registrant with the Securities and Exchange Commission on February 24 2010

10.18 Purchase and Sale Agreement dated as of April 92010 by and between SDI Shreveport Ltd and Inland Real Estate

Acquisitions Inc as amended by the First Amendment to Purchase and Sale Agreement dated May 2010 and the

Second Amendnient to Purchase and Sale Agreement dated May 14 2010 incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to

the Registrants Current Report on Form as filed by the Registrant with the Securities and Exchange Commission or

May 17 2010

10.19 Assignment of Purchase and Sale Agreement dated as of May 14 2010 by and between Inland Real Estate Acquisitions

Inc and Inland Diversified Shreveport Regal Court L.L.C incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrants

Current Report on Form 8-K as filed by the Registrant with the Securities and Lxchange Commission on May 2010

10.20 Assignment and Assumption of Leases dated as of May 14 2010 by SDI Shreveport Ltd. in favor of Inland Diversifie

Shreveport Regal Court L.L.C incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Registrants Current Repoit on Foim

as filed by the Registrant with the Securities and Exchange Commission on May 2010

10.21 Master Lease Escrow Agreement dated as ofMay 14 2010 by and among SDI Shrevepoit Ltd Inland Diversified

Shreveport Regal Court L.L.C and Chicago Title lnsuiance Company incorporated by ieference to Exhibit 10.4 to the

Registrants Current Report on Forni 8K as tiled by the Registrant with the Securities and Exchange onimission on

May 17 2010

10.22 Mortgage Note made as of May II 2010 by inland Diversified Kissimmee Pleasant Hill .L.C for the benefit of lohn

Hancock Life Insurance Company U.S.A incoiporated by iefeienceto Exhibit 10.5 to the Registrants Curient Report

on Form 8-K as filed by the Registrant with the Securities and Exchange Commission on May 17 2010

10.23 Mortgage Assignment of Leases and Rents and Security Agreenient and Fixture Filing dated as of May 11.2010 by

Inland Diversified Kissimmee Pleasant Hill L.L.C to and for the benefit of John Hancock Life Insurance Company

U.S.A incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to the Registrants Cui rent Report on Form 8-K as filed by the

Registrant with the Securities and Exchange Commission on May 17 2010

10.24 Indemnification Agreement dated as ofMay 112010 by Inland Diversified Kissimmee Pleasant Hill L.L.C and Inland

Diversified Real Estate Trust Inc to and for the benefit of John Hancock Life Insurance ompany U.S.A incorporate

by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to the Registrants Current Report on Form 8-K as filed by the Registrant \sith the Securitie

and Exchange Commission on May 17 2010

10.25 Guaranty Agreement dated as of May 112010 by Inland Diversified Real Estate Ti List Inc in fasor of John Hancock

Life Insurance Company U.S.A and the subsequent msners and holders of the Note incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10.8 to the Registrants Current Report on Form 8-K as filed by the Registrant ssith the Securities and Exchange

Cummission on May 17 2010

10.26 Assignment of Leases and Rents dated as of May 112010 by Inland Diveisified Kissimmee Pleasant Hill L.L.C to Jol

Hancock Life Insurance Company U.S.A incorporated by ieferenceto Exhibit 10.9 to the Registrants Current Repoil

on Form as filed by the Registrant with the Securities and Exchange Commission on May 201

10.27 Assignment ofAgreements Permits and Contracts dated as of May 11.2010 by Inland Diersified Kissinimee Pleasant

Elill L.L.C to John Hancock Life Insurance Company U.S.A incorporated by icfeience to Exhibit 10.10 to the

Registrants Current Report on Form 8-K as filed by the Registrant with the Securities and Exchange Commission on

May 17 2010

-92-



0.28 Lockbox Agreement dated as of May 2010 by and between inland Diversified Kissimmee Pleasant Hill L.L.C and

John Hancock Life Insurance Company U.S.A incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.11 to the Registrants Current

Report on Form 8-K as filed by thc Registrant with the Securities and Exchange Commission on May 17 2010

0.29 Loan Agreement dated as of May 11 2010 by and between inland Diversified Shreveport Regal Court L.L.C and

JPMorgan Chase Rank incorporated hy reference to Fxhihit 10.1 to the Registrants Current
Report on Form as

filed by the Registrant ith thc SecLirities and Fxchange Commission on May 24 2010

Promissory Note made as of May 19 2010 by Inland Diversified Shreveport Regal Court L.L.C to JPMorgan Chase

Bank N.A incorporated by ieference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrants Current Report on Form 8-K as filed by the

Registrant ith the Securities and Exchange Commission on May 24 2010

Mortgage Assignment oft eases and Rents and Security Agreement dated as of May 19 2010 by Inland Diversified

Shreveport Regal Court L.L.C to JPMorgan Chase Bank N.A incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the

Registrants Current Report on Form 8-K as filed by the Registrant with the Securities and Exchange Commission on

May 24 2010

0.32 Guaranty Agreement dated as of May 10 2010 by Inland Diversified Real Estate Trust Inc for the benefit of JPMorgan

Chase Bank N.A incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Registrants Current Report on Form 8-K as filed by

the Registrant with the Securities and Exchange Commission on May 24 2010

0.33 Environmental Indemnity Agreement dated as of May 19 2010 by Inland Diversified Shreveport Regal Court L.L.C in

thvor of JPMorgan Chase Bank N.A incorporated by refeience to Exhibit 10.5 to the Registrants Current Report on

Form 8-K as filed by the Registrant with the Securities and Exchange Commission on May 24 2010

0.34 Letter Agreement dated as of December 2009 between Inland Real Estate Acquisitions Inc and Draper Crossing

L.C as amended incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrants Current Report on Form 8-K as filed by

the Registrant with the Securities and Exchange Commission on June 32010

3.35 Assignment of Contract dated as of May 27 2010 by and between Inland Real Estate Acquisitions Inc and Inland

Diversified Draper Crossing L.L.C incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrants Current Report on Form

8-K as filed by the Registrant sith the Securities and Exchange Commission on June 32010

3.36 Assignment of Leases dated as of May 26 2010 between Draper Crossing L.C and Inland Diversified Draper

Crossing L.L.C incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Registrants Current Report on Form 8-K as filed by

the Registrant with the Securities and Exchange Commission on June 32010

3.37 Promissory Note dated as ofNovember 21 2001 by Draper Crossing L.C for the benefit ofCIBC Inc incorporated

by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Registrants Current Report on Form 8-K as filed by the Registrant with the Securities

and Exchange Commission on June 2010

Deed ufTiust uiid Seeuiity Agreement dated as ufNovember 21 2001 by Drapei Ciussing L.C to Surety Title

Agency as trustee for the benefit of CIBC Inc incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the Registrants Current

Report on Form 8-K as filed by the Registrant with the Securities and Exchange Commission on June 2010
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10.39 Indemnity and Guaranty Agreement made as of May 27 2010 by Inland Diversified Real Estate Trust Inc in favor of

Bank of America N.A successor in interest to Wells Fargo Bank N.A as successor by merger to Wells Fargo Bank

Minnesota NA as Trustee for the Registered Holders ofJ.P Moigan Chase Commercial Mortgage Securities Corp.

Commercial Mortgage Pass-Through Certificates Series 2001-CIBC3 incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to the

Regist ants Current Report on Form 8K as filed by the Registrant \k ith the Securities and Exchange Commission on

June 010

10.40 Ilaza is Substances Indemnity Agreement made as of May 27 2010 by Inland Di\ersificd Real Fstate Tiust Inc and

Inlanc i\elsified Draper Crossing L.L.C in favor of Bank of America NA successor in interest to Wells Fargo Bank

NA as successor by merger to Wells Fargo Bank Minnesota NA as Trustee for the Registered Holdeis ofJ.P

Morgan Chase Commercial Mortgage Securities Corp Commercial Moitgage Pass-Through Certificates Series 200 1-

CIBC3 incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to the Registrants Current Report on Forni 8-IC as filed by the

Registrant with the Securities and Exchange Commission on June 2010

10.41 Letter Agreement dated as of March 29 2010 by and between Tradition Village Center LLC The Landing at Tradition

Development Company LLC and Landing Phase 11 LLC and Inland Real Estate Acquisitions Inc as amended by the

Amendment dated May 72010 the Second Amendment dated May 21 2010 the Third Amendment dated May 26 20I

the Fourth Amendment dated June 2010 the Fifth Amendment dated June 2010 the Sixth Amendment dated June

2010 the Sixth Amendment dated June 2010 the Seventh Amendment dated June 2010 and the Eighth Amendment

dated June 10 2010 incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrants Current Report on Form 8-K as filed

the Registrant with the Securities and Exchange Commission on June 16 2010

10.42 Assignment dated June 10 2010 by Inland Real Estate Acquisitions Inc to and for the benefit of Inland Diversified Pm

St Lucie Square L.L.C incorporated by reference to Fxhihit 10.2 to the Registrants Current Repoit on Form as

filed by the Registrant with the Securities and Exchange Commission on June 16 2010

10.43 Assignment dated June 10 2010 by Inland Real Estate Acquisitions Inc to and for the benefit of Inland Diversified Po

St Lucie Landing L.L.C incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Registrants Current Report on Form as

filed by the Registrant with the Securities and Exchange Commission on June 16 2010

10.44 Assignment and Assumption of Leases Warranties and Contracts made as of June 10 2010 by Tradition Village Centei

LLC to Inland Diversified Port St Lucie Square L.L.C incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Registrants

Current Report on Form as filed by the Registrant with the Securities and Exchange Commission on June 16 2010

10.45 Assignment and Assumption of Leases Warranties and Contracts made as of June 10 2010 by The Landing at Traditio

Deelopment Company LLC to Inland Diversified Port St Lucie Landing L.L.C incorporated by reference to Exhibit

10.5 to the Registrants Current Report on Form 8-IC as filed by the Registrant with the Securities and Exchange

Commission on June 16 2010

10.46 Promissory Note made as of June 10 2010 by Inland Diversified Port St Lueie Square L.L.C for the benefit of

KeyBank National Association incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to the Registrants CuiTent Report on Form 8-1

as filed by the Registrant with the Securities and Exchange Commission on June 16 2010

10.47 Promissory Note made as of June 10 2010 by Inland Diversified Port St Lucie Landing L.L.C lor the benefit of

KeyBank National Association incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to the Registrants Current Report on Form 8-

as filed by the Registrant with the Securities and Exchange Commission on June 16 2010

-94-



Loan Agreement dated as of June 10 2010 by and among Inland Diversi lied Port St Lueie Square L.L.C Inland

Diversified Real Estate Trust Inc and KeyBank National Association incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8 to the

Registrants Current Report on Form as filed by the Registrant \vitll the Securities and Exchanee Commission on

June 16 2010

149 Loan Agreenieni dated as of June 10 2010 by and among Inland Diversified Port St Lucie Landing L.L. Inland

Dis ersified Real state Trust Inc and KeyBank National Association incoiporated by iefeience to Exhibit 10.9 to the

Registrants Current Report on Form 8K as filed by the Registi ant \\ ith the Securities and Fxchange Commission on

June 16 2010

0.50 Environmental Indemnity Agieement dated as of June 10 2010 by Inland Diveisified Port St Lucie Square L.L.C and
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reference to Exhibit 10 10 to the Reizistrants Current Report on Form 8K as tiled bs the Registrant \\ ith the Securities

and L\change Commission on June 2010

Environmental Indemnity Agicement dated as of June 10 2010 by Inland Diversified Port St Lucie Landing L.L.C and

Inland Dis ersified Real Estate Trust Inc to and for the benefit of KeyBank National \ssociation incorporated by

reference to Fxhibit 10.11 to the Registrants Cun ent Report on Form 8K as filed by the Registiant with the Secui ities

and Exchange Commission on June 16 2010

NonRecouise Exception Guaranty dated as ofJune 10 2010 by Inland Dis ersified Real Trust Inc in favor of

KeyBanlc National Association incorpoiated by reference to Exhibit 10.12 to the Registrants Current Repoit on Form

as filed by the Registrant \vith the Securities and Exchange Commission on June 16 2t It

Non Recourse Exception Guaranty dated as of June 10 2010 by Inland Diversified Real state Lust Inc in flis or of

KeyBank National Association incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.13 to the Registi ants Cm ent Repoit on Form
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.54 Payment Guaranty dated as of June It 2010 by Inland Diveisified Real Estate Trust Inc to and for the benefit of

KeyBank National Association incorporated reference to Fxlnbit 10.14 to the Registiants Cuiient Report on Form
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as filed the Registrant \vith the Securities and Fxchange Commission on June 16 2010
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2010 by and bet\seen Inland Diversified Temple Teirace Member L.L.C and Vlass Temple Terrace EEC as amended by

the First Amendment dated as of April 29 2010 the Second Amendment dated as of May 21 2010 the hird Amendment

dated as of June IS 201 and the Fourth Amendment dated as of June 30 2010 incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1

to the Registrants Current Repoi on Form as tiled by the Registrant ss ith the Secui ities and Exchange Commission

on July 8.2010

Agreement for Purchase and Sale of Real Property and Joint Escrow Instructions dated as of May 62010 by and

between Cals me South LC and Inland Real Estate Acquisitions Inc. as amended by the Eu st Amendment to

Agreement dated as ot June 16 2t the Second Amendment to Agreement dated as of JLine 22 201 the Third

Amendment to Agreement dated as of June 25 2010 and the Fourth Amendment to Agreement dated as ofJuly 2010

incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrants Current Report on Forni 8-K as filed by the Registrant \vitll

the Securities and Exchange Commission on July 2010
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10.58 Assignment dated as of July 2010 by Inland Real Acquisitions Inc to and fm the benefit of Inland Diersified

1k Grove Calvine El .C incorporated by reterence to Exhibit 10.3 to the Registrants Current Report on Foim 8K as

filed by the Registrant ith the Securities aod Exchange Commission on July 2010

10.59 Assignment of Lease dated as of July 2010 by and bet ceo Calvine South LLC aod Inland Di ersi fled Elk Gro

ulme L.L.C incorporated by referenLe to Exhibit 10.4 to the Registiants Current Report on Form 8K as filed by th

Registrant ss ith the Securities and Exchange Commission on July 2010

10.60 Restrietis Cm enant and Indemnification Agreement dated as of July 2010 by and among Calvine South LEC and

Paul Petro ich and Inland Diversified Elk Gros Cals inc .C incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the

Registrant Current Report on Form 8K as filed by the Registrant ss ith the Securities and Exchange Commission on

July 2010

10.61 Agreement for Sale and Purchase dated as of April 29 2010 by and betss een Lake City Commons Retail EEC and

Inland Real Estate Acquisitions Inc as amended by the I- irst Amendment dated as of May 14 2010 the Second

Amendment dated as May 2010 the Third Amendment dated as of May 20 2010 and the Fourth Amendment date

as of May 20 201 the Fifth Amendment dated June 18 2010 the Sixth Amendment dated June 25 2010 the Ses enth

Amendment dated June 29 201 and the Eighth Amendment dated July 2010 incorporated by reference to Exhibit

10.1 to the Registrants urrent Report on Form 8IC as filed by the Registi ant with the Securities and Exchange

Commission on July 16 2010

10.62 Assignment and Assumption of Purchase and Sale Contract dated as of September It 201 by Inland Real

Acquisitions Inc to and for the benefit of Inland Diversified Lake City Commons L.L.C incorporated by reference to

xhihit t.2 to the Registiants Current Report on Form 8K as filed by the Registrant ss ith the Securities and xehange

Commission on July 16 2010

10.63 Assignment and Assumption of Leases and Security Deposits dated as of September 10 201 by and between ake

Comnions Retail LC and Inland Diseisified Lake City Commons L.L.C incorporated by reference to Exhibit It.3 to

the Registrants Current Repoit on Form as filed by the Registrant ss ith the Seuurities and Exchange Commission

July 16 2t It

10.64 Kabors Lease scross Agreement dated as of September 10 2010 by and among Lake City Commons Retail LLC

Inland Dis ersified Lake City Commons L.L.C and Chicago Title and Trust Company incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10.4 to the Registrants Current Report on Form 8-K as filed by the Registrant with the Secui ities and Exchangd

Commission on July 16 2110

10.65 Loan Agreenient dated as of September 12010 by and among Inland Disersified Omaha Whispering Ridge L.L.C.
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Bank NA incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrants Current Report on Form 8K as filed by the

Registrant ss ith the Securities and Exchange Commission on September 2010

10.66 Promissory Note made as of September 2010 by Inland Diversified Omaha Whispering Ridge E.E.C Inland

Disersified Lake City Commons E.E.C and Inland Diveisified Elk Grove Cal inc E.E.C for the benefit ofJPMorgan

Chase Bank NA incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrants Curi cot Report on Form 8-K as filed by

the Registrant ss ith the Securities and Fxchange Commission on September 2010

10.67 Guaranty Agreement dated as of September 2t 10 by Inland Diversified Real Estate Trust Inc for the benefit of

JPMorgan Chase Bank N.A incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Registrants Cunent Report on Form 8-K

as filed by the Registrant ss ith the Seeui ities and Exchange Commission on September 2010
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L.L.C Inland Di ersified Lake City Commons L.L.C and Inland Di\ ersified Elk iro Calvine L.L.C in fhvor of
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incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrants Cut tent Report on Form 8K as filed by the Registrant ss ith
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Subsidiar Guaranty dated as of November 201 by the parties identified on the signature pages thereto to and for the
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Current Report on Forni 8K as filed by the Registrant ith the Securities and Exchange Commission on No ember
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Estate Acquisitions Inc. as amended by the First Amendment dated as of July 28 2010 the Second Amendment dated

as of Atigust 2010 the Third Amendment dated as of September 25 201 the Fourth Amendment dated as of October

13 2010 the Fifth Amendment dated as ofOctoher 18 2010 and the Sixth Amendment dated as ofOctoher 0l0

incorporated by reference to xhibit 10.1 to the Registrants Current Report on Form as filed by the Registrant ss ith
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Inc Key Bank National Association as administrative agent and the several banks financial institutions and other entitie
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31.1 Certification by Principal Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes Oxley Act of 2002

31.2 Cci tification by Principal Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxlcy Act of 2002

32.1 Certification by Principal Executive Officer
pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarhanes-Oxley Act of 2002

32.2 Certification by Principal Financial Officer puisuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes Oxley Act of 2002
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Name of Subsidiary

Inland Diversified Anton DO Portfolio L.L.C

inland Diversified Ashwaubenon Bay Park L.L.C

Inland Diversified Bend River L.L.C

Inland Diversified Buffalo Grove Deerfield L.L.C

Inland Diversified Burlington Milwaukee L.L.C

Inland Diversified Charlotte Northcrest L.LC
Inland Diversified Collins DO Portfolio L.L.C

Inland Diversified Conyers Heritage L.L.C

Inland Diversified Decatur DO Portfolio L.L.C

Inland Diversified Draper Crossing L.L.C

Inland Diversified Draper Peaks L.L.C

Inland Diversified Dublin DO Portfolio L.L.C

Inland Diversified Duncanville DG Portfolio L.L.C

Inland Diversified East Syracuse Fair Lakes L.L.C

inland Diversified Elizabeth City DO Portfolio L.L.C

Inland Diversified Elk Grove Calvine L.L.C

Inland Diversified Excel DG Portfolio L.L.C

Inland Diversified Fort Myers Colonial Square L.L.C

Inland Diversified Fort Myers Village Walk L.L.C

Inland Diversified Fort Wayne Lime L.L.C

Inland Diversified Houston Hillcroft GP L.L.C

Inland Diversified Houston Hillcroft Limited Partnership

Inland Diversified Houston Hilicroft LP L.L.C

Inland Diversified Jacksonville Richlands L.L.C

Inland Diyersifled Kissimmee Pleasant Hill L.L.C

Inland Diversified Lagrange DO Portfolio L.L.C

Inland Diversified Lake City Commons L.L.C

Inland Diversified Lake Mary L.L.C

Inland Diversified Lenexa Falcon Valley L.L.C

Inland Diversified Merrimack Village L.L.C

Inland Diversified Milledgeville DO Portfolio LL.C
Inland Diversified Neenab Commercial L.L.C

Jnland Diversified Newburgh Bell Oaks L.L.C

Inland Diversified Norman University L.L.C

Inland Diversified Omaha Whispering Ridge L.L.C

Inland Diversified Pleasant Prairie Ridge L.L.C

Inland Diversified Port St Lucie Landing L.L.C

Inland Diversified Port St Lucie Landing 11 L.L.C

Inland Diversified Port St Lucie Square L.L.C

Inland Diversified Prattville Legends L.L.C

Inland Diversified Roper DG Portfolio L.L.C

Inland Diversified Salem Lakeside L.L.C

Inland Diversified Shreveport Regal Court L.L.C

Inland Diversified St Cloud 13th L.L.C

Inland Diversified Temple Terrace Member L.L.C

Inland Diversified Uriah DO Portfolio L.L.C

Subsidiaries of the Registrant

State ofOrwauizatiou

Delaware

Delaware

Delaware

Delaware

Delaware

Delaware

Delaware

Delaware

Delaware

Delaware

Delaware

Delaware

Delaware

Delaware

Delaware

Delaware

Delaware

Delaware

Delaware

Delaware

Delaware

Illinois

Delaware

Delaware

Delaware

Delaware

Delaware

Delaware

Delaware

Delaware

Delaware

Delaware

Delaware

Delaware

Delaware

Delaware

Delaware

Delaware

Delaware

Delaware

Delaware

Delaware

Delaware

Delaware

Delaware

Delaware



Inland Diversified Virginia Beach Landstown L.L.C Delaware

Inland Diversified/Viass Temple Terrace JV LLC Delaware

inland Diversified Waxahachie Crossing GP L.L.C Delaware

Inland Diversified Waxahachie Crossing Limited Partnership Illinois
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Exhibit 31.1

Certification of Principal Executive Officer

Barry Lazarus certify that

have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Inland Diversified Real Estate Trust Inc

Based on my knowledge this report does not contain any untrue statement of material fact or omit to state

material fact necessary to make the statements made in light of the circumstances under which such

statements were made not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report

Based on my knowledge the financial statements and other financial information included in this report

fairly present in all material respects the financial condition results of operations and cash floss of the

registrant as of and for the periods presented in this report

The registrants other certifying officer and are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure

controls and procedures as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15e and 15d-15e and internal control

over financial reporting as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15i and lSd-15IE for the registrant and

has

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures or caused such disclosure controls and

procedures to be designed under our supervision to ensure that material information relating to the

registrant including its consolidated subsidiaries is made known to us by others within those

entities particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared

Designed such internal control over financial reporting or caused such internal control over

financial reporting to be designed under our supervision to provide reasonable assurance

regarding the reliahility nf financial repnrting and the preparatinn nf financial statements fnr

external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrants disclosure controls and procedures and presented in

this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures as of

the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation and

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrants internal control over financial reporting that

occurred during the registrants most recent fiscal quarter tile registrants fourth fiscal quarter in

the case of an annual report that has materially affected or is reasonably likely to materially

afiect the registrants internal control over financial reporting and

The registrants other certifying officer and have disclosed based on our most recent evaluation of

internal control over financial reporting to the registrants auditors and the audit committee of the

registrants board of directors or persons performing the equivalent functions

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control

over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrants ability to

record process summarize and report financial information and

Any fraud whether or not material that involves management or other employees who have

significant role in the registrants internal control oxer financial reporting

By Is Barry Lazarus

Name Barry Lazarus

Title President principal executive officer

Date March 30 2011



Ehihit 31.2

Certification of Principal Financial Officer

Steven Hippel certify that

have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Inland Diversified Real Estate Trust Inc

Based on my knowledge this report does not contain any untrue statement of material fact or omit to state

material fact necessaiy to make the statements made in light of the circumstances under hich such

statements were made not misleading with respect to the period covered hy this report

Based on my knowledge the financial statements and other financial information included in this eport

fairly present in all material respects the financial condition results of operations and cash flows of the

registrant as of and for the periods presented in this report

The registrants other certifying officer and are responsible for establishing and niaintaining disclosure

controls and procedures as defined in Fxchange Act Rules 13a-l5e and 15d 15e and internal control

over financial reporting as defined in Fxchange Act Rules 3a-l5f and Sd-i 5f for the registrant and

have

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures or caused such disclosure controls and

procedures to be designed under our supervision to ensure that mateiial information relating to the

registrant including its consolidated subsidiaries is made known to us by others ithin those

entities particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared

Designed such internal control over financial reporting or caused such iiteinal control over

financial reporting to be designed under our supervision to provide reasonable assurance

regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for

external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrants disclosure controls and procedures and presented in

this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures as of

the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation and

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrants internal control over financial reporting that

occurred during the registrants most recent fiscal quarter the registrants fourth fiscal quarter in

the case of an annual report that has materially affected or is reasonably likely to materially

affect the regictrants internal cnntrol ever financial reporting and

The registrants other certifying officer and have disclosed based on our niost recent evaluation of

internal control over financial reporting to the registrants auditors and the audit committee of the

registrants board of directors or persons performing the equivalent functions

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control

over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrants ability to

record process summarize and report financial information and

Any fraud whether or not material that involves management or other employees \vho have

significant role in the registranfs internal control over financial reporting

By Is Steven Hippel

Name Steven Hippel

Title Treasurer and chief accounting officer principal financial officer

Date March 30 2011



Exhibit 32.1

Certification Pursuant to

18 U.S.C Section 1350 as Adopted Pursuant to

Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10-K of Inland Diversified Real Estate Trust Inc the

Company for the fiscal year ended December 31 2010 as filed sith the Securities and Exchange

Commission on the date hereof the Report Barry Lazarus president of the Company certifies

pursuant to 18 U.S.C Section 1350 as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

that to the best of his knowledge

The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13a or 15d of the

Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as amended and

The information contained in the Report fairly presents in all material respects the

financial condition and results of operations of the Company

Date March 30 2011 By Barry Lazarus

Name Barry Lazarus

Title President principal executive officer

This certification accompanies the Report pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes Oxley Act of 2002 and

shall not except to the extent required by the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 be deemed filed by the

Company for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as amended signed

original of this ss ritten statement required by Section 906 has been provided to the Company and will be

retained by the Company and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon

request



Exhibit 32.2

Certification Pursuant to

18 U.S.C Section 1350 as Adopted Pursuant to

Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10-K of Inland Diversified Real Estate Trust Inc the

Conipany for the fiscal
year

ended December 31 2010 as filed with the Securities and Exchange

Commission on the date hereof the Report Steven Hippel treasurer and chief accounting officer of

the Company certifies pursuant to 18 U.S.C Section 1350 as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the

Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 that to the best of his knowledge

The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13a or 5d of the

Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as amended and

The information contained in the Report fairly presents in all niaterial
respects

the

financial condition and results of operations of the Company

Date March 30 2011 By Is Steven Hippel

Name Steven Hippel

Title Treasurer and chief accounting officer principal

financial officer

This certification accompanies the Report pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes Oxley Act of 2002 and

shall not except to the extent required by the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 be deemed filed by the

Company for
purposes

of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as amended signed

original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to the Company and will be

retained by the Company and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon

request
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